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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

TR®MS

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”),
| am pleased to present the annual report of Everbright Grand China
Assets Limited (the “Company”, or together with its subsidiaries,
the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2020 for your review.

Looking back at 2020, affected by the Coronavirus Disease
2019 (“COVID-19”), many countries and regions in the world
have declared a state of public health emergency and adopted
measures such as large-scale travel restrictions, social distancing
and suspension of work and school. Therefore, various economic
activities have been substantially reduced, macroeconomy is facing
tremendous downward pressure. However, with the efforts to
contain the epidemic and resume work and production, China’s
economy has recovered steadily. Calculated at comparable prices,
the gross domestic product in 2020 reached RMB101.6 trillion,
representing a year-on-year increase of 2.3%. Although the property
management industry is inevitably challenged by the macroeconomic
environment, it still shows strong resilience and huge potential to
maintain the overall stability and sustainable health development
of the society. The Group worked hard on the front line of anti-
epidemic, flexibly adjusted its commercial leasing strategy, reduced
the risk of immediate rent termination, and safeguarded the long-
term interests of tenants through difficult times, which maintained
a good brand image, achieved new customers to settle in and
expanded continuous sources of income.

In 2020, facing the extremely challenging external environment, the
Group rose to the challenge and ensured the healthy and stable
performance of the enterprise with the joint efforts of all staff.

In order to give back to the shareholders for their support to the
Company, the Board recommended the payment of a final dividend
of RMB1.92 cents (equivalent to HK2.29 cents) per share for the
financial year ended 31 December 2020. The Board believes that
the Company’s stable financial position and cash flow will strongly
support the investment needed for its sustainable development. The
Company will strive to provide ideal dividend returns to give back to
shareholders for their support to the Company.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (Continued)
ITRERBSE(E)

The Group has sufficient strength in terms of capital and capabilities
to meet opportunities and challenges, and is confident to enhance
its competitive edge through refined operation and management,
implement new development concepts and deepen its foothold in the
existing markets. The Group will prudently select suitable investment
portfolios to meet the needs and expectations of its investors.

Looking forward to 2021, there are still many uncertainties in
the global economic, and COVID-19 is expected to cause long-
term adverse effects on global activities. However, the domestic
economy is recovering steadily. With the development and use of
vaccines beginning to become clear, the threat of the epidemic
to the global economy is expected to ease. The Group always
believes that the long-term positive development trend of China’s
economy remains unchanged. Meanwhile, thanks to favorable
policies, 2021 will remain as a meaningful year for the development
of property management industry, and the market size of property
management industry is projected to expand to RMB2,408 billion
in 3 to 5 years. The benefits brought by technology services
and value-added services are expected to be prominent, and
the revenue of property companies is expected to increase
significantly. The Group will flexibly adjust its existing commercial
leasing strategy and improve overall risk management. At the
same time, the Group will strive to maintain stable relationship with
existing customer base, improve service quality, and expand new
businesses to increase potential growth in the future.

On behalf of the Board of the Group, | would like to take this
opportunity to express my sincere gratitude to all employees
and management for their long-term hard work and outstanding
contributions. It is the unremitting efforts of each member that have
enabled the Group to achieve good results. Meanwhile, | would like
to express my gratitude to all shareholders, customers and business
partners for their long-term support. The Group will continue to
devote itself to the sustainable development of business and create
more value for shareholders.

Chairman of the Board
LIU Jia

24 March 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SPEERE VSTl

FINANCIAL RESULT

For the financial year ended 31 December 2020, the Group’s revenue
and profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
amounted to approximately RMB51.7 million (2019: approximately
RMB71.3 million) and approximately RMB34.0 million (2019:
approximately RMB37.3 million), respectively.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the businesses of property
leasing, the provision of property management services and the sale
of properties held for sale.

The Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 December 2020
amounted to approximately RMB51.7 million (2019: approximately
RMB71.3 million), which represented a decrease of approximately
RMB19.6 million as compared to last year, mainly due to the absence
of revenue generated from sales of the residential properties. Profit
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2020 was approximately RMB34.0 million
(2019: approximately RMB37.3 million), which represented a decline
of approximately 8.8% as compared to last year. The decrease in
profit was mainly caused by the net effect of (i) the fall in valuation
gains on investment properties; (i) the increase in administrative
expenses due to recognition of costs in relation to preparatory works
for the acquisition of properties in the United Kingdom (“U.K.”) and
(iiiy the grow in other income, net. The basic earnings per share for
the year ended 31 December 2020 was approximately RMBO0.08
(2019: RMBO0.08). The review of the individual business segment of
the Group is set out below.

PROPERTY LEASING

The rental income from the Group’s property leasing business was
approximately RMB36.7 million for the year ended 31 December
2020 (2019: RMB39.6 million). The Group’s leasing properties
are located in Chengdu, Sichuan province and Kunming, Yunnan
province in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC” or “China”).
As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s property portfolio comprises
three commercial buildings, namely Everbright Financial Center,
part of Everbright International Mansion and Ming Chang Building,
with a total gross floor area (“GFA”) of approximately 89,507 (2019:
88,529) square meters (“sq.m.”). Due to the outbreak of COVID-19
in 2020, the reduction in rental unit rates resulted in the decrease of
total rental income. The Group’s residential properties, namely Dufu
Garden, with GFA of approximately 1,319 sg.m., were disposed of
during the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
EEESNHERDIT (&)

PROPERTY LEASING PORTFOLIO

Commercial Properties
Everbright Financial Center?
No. 9 Wenwu Road,

Qingyang District, Chengdu

Everbright International Mansion®
No. 2 Gaoshi Street,
Qingyang District, Chengdu

Ming Chang Building®
No. 28 Renmin Road Central,
Wuhua District, Kunming

Residential Properties

Dufu Garden® @

10 Zu, 11 Zu, Long Zhua Cun,
Wu Hou District, Chengdu

Notes:

(1)  Excluding warehouses and parking spaces which cannot be used as (1)
offices, commercial spaces or residence.

(2) Al the properties are located in the PRC and held under medium-term  (2)

lease.

(3)  The residential properties are disposed of as investment properties  (3)
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during the year ended 31 December 2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

EEESHRDN (&)

PROPERTY MANAGEMENT SERVICE

In order to maximize the value of the Group’s properties, the Group
has a professional property management team to provide property
management services for its properties, namely, Everbright Financial
Center and Everbright International Mansion. Revenue from the
Group’s property management services was approximately RMB15.0
million for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: RMB15.5
million). During the year, the decrease in revenue from property
management services was due to the rise in vacancy rate resulting
from the expiration of tenancy agreements of individual tenants. As at
31 December 2020, total GFA under the Group’s management was
approximately 70,498 sq.m., a slight increase of 1.9% as compared
to last year (2019: 69,216 sg.m.).

SALES OF PROPERTIES

During the year, there was no sale of properties that are designated
as held for sale (2019: RMB16.2 million).

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group’s investment properties mainly consist of land and/or
buildings which are owned or held under leasehold interest to earn
rental income and/or for capital appreciation. As at 31 December
2020, the fair value of the investment properties was RMB933.3
million (2019: RMB922.4 million). The valuation gain on investment
properties for the year ended 31 December 2020 amounted to
approximately RMB17.2 million (2019: approximately RMB26.4
million), representing a decrease of approximately RMB9.2 million
as compared to last year. The decline indicated a slowdown of
property market in the PRC.

MEEERK

BRARNEEVENTAEE  AEEHE
E—SYEEMETEER - AEMEAY
AE@PLRARXEBRANE)REVEEE
RFE - B E2020F12 A31 B IEFE » K&
EMEEERBHUALNABARKI5.088
TT(20194 : ARM1I55EET) - £ -
REMEEERBHBAR D - TIHRE
FIEFMEERZREmMEREEERLHA -
R2020F12A381H » AEEEEMNREE
EME %) A70,498F 5K » B & F BE {38 o0
1.9%(20194F : 69,216F 1K) °

FAN - AEBTEHERETATENYE
(2019%F : AR¥16.2BE&TL) ©

REWME

AEENKENETEREREGRIEAE
BEFEURDASWAN B KIEE
Mt N SEF - 20205128318 -
HEMENRABEAAREINBIAEET
(20194 : ARMEQ22 AR ETT) « HIE2020
F12A31HIEFE - BEMENHENE
HEAREA7T2EHBIL(2019F : HARE
264 BTT) BEFRIHAREKI2ES
TC v R BERP R ETISIE o

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 F#k

Q



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
EEEBSRRDN(E)

PROSPECTS

Looking ahead to 2021, the world economic outlook still depends
highly on the situation and changes of the COVID-19 pandemic. The
pandemic has caused permanent damage to the global economy,
leading to further aggravation of long-term problems, and the
withdrawal of expansionary policies will also bring uncertainty to the
economic recovery. At present, developed economies have begun
to vaccinate in a large scale, but in view of the difficulty of obtaining
vaccines in emerging economies other than China, it is expected
that the recovery process of emerging economies other than China
will be slower than that of the developed economies. Although the
alleviation of pandemic is conducive to economic recovery, the global
economy continues to face severe challenges in many areas such
as public health, debt management, budget policies, central bank
operation and structural reform.

With the recovery of economic activities in China, the demand for real
estate purchases and property management services has gradually
picked up. The unexpected epidemic has not slowed down the
development of the property management industry. In early 2021,
ten departments including the Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural
Development issued the Notice on Strengthening and Improving
Residential Property Management, which encourages property
management companies to use technologies such as the Internet of
Things and cloud computing to build smart property management
service platform, and encourages property management companies
to extend to areas such as elderly care, childcare and courier pick-up
and delivery. Some research indicates that improving the profitability
of individual project is the heart of the policy. Thanks to favorable
policies, 2021 will remain as a meaningful year for the development
of property management industry, and the market size of property
management industry is projected to expand to RMB2,408 billion
in 3 to 5 years. At the same time, hopefully the benefits brought by
technology services and value-added services will be prominent,
and the revenue of property management companies is expected
to grow significantly.

The epidemic has not only made the public aware of the importance
of property management service, but also led the capital market to
rediscover the value of property management service. The property
management industry is entering a new stage of development with
a new look. In 2020, the Group worked hard on the front line
of anti-epidemic, flexibly adjusted its commercial leasing strategy,
minimized the risk of immediate rent termination, and safeguarded
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

EEESHRDN (&)

the long-term interests of tenants to tide over difficult times, as
well as reduced rents and exempted and/or waived rent for some
customers with difficulties. The Group maintained a positive brand
image and welcomed new customers to settle in, which expanded
the source of continuous income. Meanwhile, the property capital
market was unprecedentedly hot during the year, listed property
service companies were given higher valuations, and capital values
continued to be reshaped.

Looking forward, as China’s economy continues to recover and
the stimulus measures introduced during the year continues to
be effective, the momentum of economic growth is expected to
carry on. The Group will keep up with its large-scale expansion
efforts, focus on effective scale growth, actively explore new revenue
growth points for diversified operations, deepen the use of high-tech
means to optimize management and services, and compete on
the golden track of property management. Meanwhile, the Group
has entered into new framework agreements with China Everbright
Group Limited (“China Everbright Group”) and the long-term
cooperation between both parties will promote the continuous
growth of the leasing business. Benefiting from the recognition of
the “Everbright” brand, the Group will strengthen its bargaining
power and win the trust of the counterparty, which will improve the
inherent ability to expand business and achieve sustainable growth.
The Group has sufficient resources in terms of capital and capability
to capture opportunities and overcome challenges, and is committed
to protecting the long-term interests of the shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”) as a whole.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The total equity of the Group as at 31 December 2020 was
approximately RMB934.6 million (2019: approximately RMB919.9
million). As at 31 December 2020, the Group maintained cash
and cash equivalents of approximately RMB217.8 million (2019:
approximately RMB201.3 million). The Group’s net current assets
was approximately RMB187.8 million as at 31 December 2020
(2019: approximately RMB184.3 million). The Group had current
assets of approximately RMB225.8 million as at 31 December 2020
(2019: approximately RMB214.7 million). The increase in current
assets was mainly due to the sale proceeds received from the
disposal of properties during the year. The Group had current
liabilities of RMB38.1 million (2019: approximately RMB30.4 million).
The increase in current liabilities was mainly due to the increase in
trade and other payables.

METRHENDEPR  ®AOAKHEPA
B BAFEMERARR - R - FARY
RXEARMBERNE - EHYERBERRK
fRTERME  EXAEETHESE -

RERE  BEETFELEREER UK
FEERNHEHNRBEREEZIRER - KK
IERPAT BB - AEBEBEBINARE
BRAE  TEREBMER @ BEHRER
SR LMW ANIERE - RMCERRHE
EFBREBCEEMRY @ EMXEREHRR
SEELHFAZE - RAF  AEESHESD
B RSB AT ([HEXKEE )R

FEZRE - BTORMEESRERER
BHRFELR - Ranl XX ImEaRA

B BEEEREENRALBERSE
WEE - ABRTHERER M ER A RHES
RHARERES - AEEEES RENLEER
BRBNERDEEENLE - BORRE
ARRBR(TRRDOERREN -

RBESTRMBER

R2020F 12 A31H » REBEEZAELY
BARBI34.6BEITL(2019F - HARE
919.9BE L) - M2020%F12A318 » A&
ERFAREAREEEMHARE21788
EL(2019F : HARBE201.35&T) ©
R2020F12 8318 » KREBM RS EETF
BHHOABARBA87.8EEIL(2019F : LA
R#184.3887T) ° M2020%12H318 -
AEBENRBEENARARK258FET
(20194 : HYAREE2147TEETL) - REE
EENFEARFALENERDAEES
FISRIEMY - AEENRBDEEAAR
#3381 HEL(2019%F : HARK304HE
T0) e MBAFEEMEZSANE S K EAM
FEfIFRIBIE D -

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 F#k



12

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
EEEBSRRDN(E)

The working capital and long-term funding required by the Group
are primarily derived from income generated from core business
operations and bank loan. The Group had an outstanding bank loan
of approximately RMB14.0 million (2019: approximately RMB20.5
million) as at 31 December 2020. The bank loan was secured by
the Group’s investment properties. As at 31 December 2020, the
Group’s gearing ratio, being measured by the Group’s total liabilities
over its total assets, was 20% (2019: 20%). The Group’s liquidity
position was well-managed in this year.

To manage the liquidity risk, an adequate level of cash and cash
equivalents that the Group considers sufficient to finance its
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flow has
been maintained. The net current assets position and utilization of
borrowings are also regularly monitored by the Group to ensure
efficient use of the available banking facilities and compliance with
the loan covenants.

CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

The outstanding bank loan of RMB14.0 million was secured by
Everbright International Mansion with an aggregate GFA of
approximately 38,082 sg.m. As at 31 December 2020, the fair value
of the pledged assets amounted to approximately RMB361.4 million
(2019: approximately RMB354.8 million).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE

The Group’s transactions, monetary assets and liabilities are
principally denominated in RMB. The management of the Group
is of the opinion that the Group has not experienced any material
difficulties or effects on its operations or liquidity as a result of the
fluctuations in currency exchange rates during the year ended 31
December 2020. Therefore, the Group did not engage in any hedging
activities.

CONTINGENT LIABILITY

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had no contingent liability
(2019: Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

EEESHRDN (&)

INFORMATION IN RESPECT OF MAJOR CUSTOMERS &
SUPPLIERS

The percentages of the Group’s revenue (excluding interest and
dividend incomes) for the year ended 31 December 2020 attributable
to the major customers of the Group were as follows:

Percentage of total revenue of the Group
13.6%
54.4%

The largest customer
Five largest customers in aggregate

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any shareholders
(which to the knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of
the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in the major
customers noted above. Due to the nature of the business of the
Group, the Group does not have any major suppliers.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

There was no material change in the capital structure of the Company
during the year, and the Company’s capital included ordinary shares
and other reserves.

PLANS FOR MATERIAL CAPITAL INVESTMENTS

The Group plans to invest in capacity expansion and pursue suitable
investment projects to capitalize the potential growth of the Group’s
business in the coming years in the manner set out in the section
headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the prospectus of the
Company dated 29 December 2017 (“Prospectus”). Such source of
funding would be primarily from the external resources.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD, MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS

AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES

There was no significant investment held, nor was there any material
acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries during the reporting period.

IMPORTANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this report, there was no important
event affecting the Group which occurred after the reporting period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
EEEBSRRDN(E)

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING

The net proceeds raised from the global offering on 16 January
2018 (the “Listing Date”), after deducting relevant listing expenses,
was approximately RMB116.1 million (“Net Proceeds”). Up to 31
December 2020, the Group had used approximately RMB12.6
million (2019: RMB6.9 million) of the Net Proceeds for the purposes
as set out in the section head “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds”

in the Prospectus.

Amount  Utilised during
utilised up to  the year ended
31 December 31 December

LTHRBEREFEAR

72018F1 16 B ([ LT BH]) kB 2 EkE
EMMEFIEFE(CIBRER EMASL
BARBI161EET(FABREZRHE] -
HZE2020F 128310 - KREBDHAAE
RIEFEANARKE126ETET(2019F : A
R¥6 9B 8L BIEBMRERI AKRFE R

B RERR |— SRR AR -

Amount  Unutilised Net
utilised up to  Proceeds as at
31 December 31 December

Net Proceeds 2019 2020 2020 2020
R2020%
EZ2019% HE2020% BEZ2020% 1283188
124318 12R31A Lt 1283101 BRI
FreRERE CHALE FEDA CEBALE REFR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ANEEFT AEEFIL NEEFIL ANEEFIL ANEEFTL
Acquisition of properties in 92,904 628 2,534 3,162 89,742
the major cities of U.K.
REBREEHM
KEm=
Upgrade in building facilties 11,613 2,125 3,124 5,249 6,364
and/or renovating the
properties of the Group
FHREERIER,/ 5
BHASENNE
Working capital and general 11,613 4,140 - 4,140 7,473
corporate purposes
BEEER—REE
R
Total &5t 116,130 6,393 5,658 12,551 108,579
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

EEESHRDN (&)

Note: The expected timeline for utilising the remaining Net Proceeds is
prepared based on the assumption of a continuing recovery from the
effects of COVID-19 starting from the second quarter of 2020 taking
into account, among others, the prevailing and future market conditions
and business developments and need. The Group shall update and
re-visit its plan continuously based on market conditions and business
developments and therefore the expected timeline is subject to change.

As at 31 December 2020, the unutilised Net Proceeds was
approximately RMB103.6 million (2019: RMB109.2 million).

During the reporting period, the Group did not acquire properties in
the U.K. since it was unable to conduct site visits on properties in
London because of the national lockdown in the U.K. After the U.K.
government lifts the lockdown and when the outbreak of COVID-19
is under control in the U.K., the Group will continue its site visits,
market research and liaise with property agents to acquire properties
that fit the Group’s selection criteria or development strategies. The
Group will closely monitor the lifting of national lockdown and the
developments of COVID-19 in the U.K.

The Group has been implementing its renovation plan on Everbright
International Mansion and Everbright Financial Center since late 2017
and will continue to make necessary upgrades and improvements
to the Group’s buildings to maintain competitiveness in the market,
maintain and further improve their occupancy rates and increase
their average rent. The Group expects to fully utilize the remaining
amount allocated for upgrading building facilities and/or renovating
the properties of the Group by the end of 2022.

Going forward in 2021, the Directors will closely monitor the
development of COVID-19 and its impact on the global economy
to evaluate its business objective and to apply the unutilised Net
Proceeds according to the changing market condition to create
greater value for the Shareholders.

The unutilised Net Proceeds will be applied according to the purposes
set out in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds”
of the Prospectus. The Directors considered that it would be in the
best interest of the Group to deposit such funds temporarily in the
bank accounts to earn interest income and are not aware of any
material change to the proposed use of the proceeds as at the date
of this annual report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
EEEBSRRDN(E)

EMPLOYEES AND EMOLUMENT POLICY

As at 31 December 2020, the Group employed a total of 143 full-
time employees (2019: 138 employees) and appointed 8 directors.
Total staff costs, including Directors’ emoluments, of the Group
were approximately RMB14.9 million (2019: RMB17.6 million). The
Group reviews the remuneration policies and packages on a regular
basis and makes necessary adjustment commensurate with the
remuneration level in the industry. In addition to a basic monthly
salary, discretionary bonuses are offered to staff with outstanding
performance. The Group also provides other benefits such as medical
insurance and mandatory provident fund scheme to employees in
Hong Kong.

The same remuneration policy is applicable to the fixing of Directors’
remuneration. Apart from market benchmarks, the Group considers
individual performance and contributions and the affordability of the
Group in determining the remuneration for each Director.

The Group has not experienced any significant problems with its
employees or disruption to its operations due to labour disputes nor
has it experienced any difficulty in the recruitment and retention of
experienced staff. The Group maintains a good relationship with its
employees.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERSREEBER

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. LIU Jia

Aged 56, is an Executive Director, Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer, the Chairman of the Investment Committee
and a member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company.
Mr. Liu joined the Group in November 1991 and is acting as the
Director and Chairman of two Company’s subsidiaries, namely
Growing China Limited (“Growing China”) and Metallic Field Limited
(“Metallic Field”). He is also the Director of certain subsidiaries
of the Company, including Square Field Limited (“Square Field”),
First Step Corporation Limited (“First Step”) and Everbright Grand
China Assets Management Limited (‘EGCAM?”). Mr. Liu is currently a
Director of China Everbright Holdings Company Limited (“CE Hong
Kong”).

Mr. Liu joined Capital Century Company Limited (“Capital Century”)
in 1988. He served as the Director and Deputy General Manager
of Capital Century in 1991, mainly responsible for the day-to-day
operations and property investment and management of investment
projects. Since Capital Century is a subsidiary of CE Hong Kong,
Mr. Liu acted as its Deputy General Manager in the real estate
department during the period from August 1997 to March 2000,
mainly responsible for the investment and business operations of real
estate. At the end of 1998, Mr. Liu served as the Director and General
Manager of China Everbright Financial Assets Management (HK)
Limited (“China EB Financial Assets”), responsible for receiving
and disposing of overseas investment assets entrusted by domestic
financial management departments. China EB Financial Assets is
the initial company of Huida Asset Management Ltd. Co.*(EiZE& &
FEEAREEAT). In 2000, Mr. Liu was appointed as the assistant
president in the head office of China Everbright Bank Company
Limited (“CE Bank”) and was responsible for related work matters.
He was promoted as the General Manager of Capital Century in
2004, upon which he became responsible for the overall operational
management and strategic development. Since August 2014, Mr.
Liu has been appointed and served as an Executive Director and
Deputy General Manager of CE Hong Kong, as well as the Chairman
of Capital Century (the parent company of the Company). After the
successful listing of the Company in 2018, Mr. Liu serves as its
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer.

*

for identification purpose only
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESRSREEBER

Mr. Liu graduated from the Civil Engineering Department of Nanjing
Jinling Vocational University (5 B B % KX 22), majoring in the industrial
and civil architecture, with a diploma in July 1986, and a postgraduate
certificate of architecture, economics and management in Southeast
University (R A£2) in August 1992. Since July 2016, he has become
a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors and was hired as
an off-campus master’s Supervisor in the School of International
Business of Southwestern University of Finance and Economics in
September 2020 for a period of one year.

Mr. LIN Zimin (formerly Lin Siping)

Aged 62, is an Executive Director and general manager and also a
member of the nomination committee and investment committee
of the Company. Mr. Lin currently serves as a director in certain
subsidiaries (namely Growing China, Brighter Win Limited, Metallic
Field, First Step and EGCAM). He has also been acting as the
chairman of Chengdu Everbright Property Management Co., Ltd. and
the chairman and general manager of Chengdu Everbright Financial
Center, Chengdu Everbright International Mansion Co. Ltd. and
Chengdu Sing Kong City Real Estate Co. Ltd.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Lin worked in the Fujian Province
International Culture Exchange Center from 1985 to 2010. He served
as the principal section member and deputy division chief since
January 1985 and September 1989, respectively, during the periods
he was responsible for international economic and cultural exchange
and investment solicitation. From June 1995 to July 2010, he served
as the division chief and was responsible for the coordination of
international economic, cultural and scientific exchange. Mr. Lin
joined Capital Century as an assistant general manager in August
2010 and was responsible for the development of properties and
management of the investment properties of the Group. He was
promoted to be the deputy general manager and general manager
of Capital Century in February 2012 and August 2014, respectively.

Mr. Lin obtained a bachelor degree in physics at Fujian Normal
University (12220 &5 K2 in January 1982.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

ESrREREERBERE(E)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Ms. TSE Hang Mui

Aged 62, is a Non-Executive Director. Ms. Tse joined CE Hong
Kong as a secretary in the general affairs division in September
1987 and was promoted to secretary to vice president in December
1988. In October 1989, Ms. Tse was seconded to China Everbright
Medicine Company Limited, a subsidiary of CE Hong Kong, as
secretary and assistant manager. She was promoted to deputy
administrative manager and the administration manager in the
general management office of CE Hong Kong in December 1993 and
December 1994, respectively. From April 1997 to February 2014, she
served as an assistant general manager in the finance management
department of CE Hong Kong, in which she was promoted to deputy
general manager in February 2014. Her major duties in the finance
management department included treasury management, financial
analysis, capital budgeting and portfolio valuation. From April 2020,
Ms Tse has transferred to Human Resources Department as Deputy
General Manager. Prior to joining CE Hong Kong, Ms. Tse had been
a secretary in Drs Anderson & Partners from May 1982 to July 1987,
during which she mainly assisted in running the accounts office and
undertaking the general secretarial work. She is also a director of
certain subsidiaries of CE Hong Kong.

Ms. Tse obtained a diploma in management studies jointly awarded
by The Hong Kong Polytechnic University and the Hong Kong
Management Association in September 1993, a bachelor degree
of commerce in management and marketing in Curtin University of
Technology, Australia in April 1996, a master degree of arts in human
resources management in Macquarie University, Australia in October
1997, and a postgraduate diploma in professional accounting in
the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in November 2000. Ms. Tse
became a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) (formerly known as the Hong Kong Society
of Accountants) in April 2002 and was admitted as a fellow of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in June 2007 .

FHITES
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

EFTREREEBBER(E)

Mr. LI Yinzhong

Aged 56, is a Non-Executive Director and a member of the Audit
Committee of the Company. Mr. Li joined the Group in June 2017.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Li served as the Financial Manager of
the Shenzhen office of China Everbright International Trust Co., Ltd.
(P B¢ KEBRZ5E AR A B]) between August 1993 and May 1998.
He had then served in the audit department of China Everbright
Group from May 1998 to April 2000. Mr. Li joined CE Hong Kong
as the Assistant General Manager in the financial management
department in April 2000. Between March 2003 and January 2016,
he had served as the Deputy General Manager in the investment
management department of CE Hong Kong. He has also been
serving as the General Manager of the audit department of CE
Hong Kong since January 2008. Since January 2016, he has served
as the General Manager of the audit department and the person-
incharge of the investment management department of CE Hong
Kong. Since April 2017, Mr. Li has been appointed as a Director of
CE Hong Kong. He is also the Director of certain subsidiaries of CE
Hong Kong.

Mr. Li obtained a bachelor’'s degree in economics in Zhongnan
University of Economics and Law (PR ETE&EBUEKRE) (formerly
known as Zhongnan University of Economics (#8148 A &) in
July 1987. Mr. Li has been a non-practicing member of the Chinese
Institute of Certified Public Accountants since November 2004.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

ESResRhEEEBERE(E)
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS BIFHTESE
Mr. TSOI David BREERE
Aged 73, is an Independent Non-Executive Director and also the 735% * BV IEHTE S © W H ALK R RE

chairman of the audit committee of the Company.

Mr. Tsoi has been a Director of Alliott, Tsoi CPA Limited since January
2006. He has been a certified public accountant since September
1981 with over 30 years of experience in accounting, auditing and
financial management. He is also qualified as and has been:

(@)

a certified public accountant registered at the HKICPA;

a certified tax advisor registered at the Taxation Institute of
Hong Kong;

a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
since September 1981;

a fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales since May 2015;

a member of the Society of Chinese Accountants and Auditors
since April 1987 and a fellow since December 2015;

a fellow of the CPA Australia since November 2009; and

a member of the Chartered Professional Accountants of British
Columbia, Canada since June 2015.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

EFTREREEBBER(E)

He has also been a Non-Executive Director of the following listed
companies, all of which are listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”):

(@)

()

Loto Interactive Limited (formerly known as “MelcoLot
Limited”) (stock code: 8198) from October 2001 to July 2017;

Enviro Energy International Holdings Ltd (stock code: 1102)
from July 2008 to June 2017;

Universal Technologies Holdings Limited (stock code: 1026)
since June 2013;

Guru Online (Holdings) Limited (stock code: 8121) since May
2014;

VPower Group International Holdings Limited (stock code:
1608) since October 2016;

Anxin-China Holdings Limited (stock code: 1149) from February
2017 to May 2017;

Green International Holdings Limited (stock code: 2700) since
June 2017; and

Tianli Holdings Group Limited (stock code: 0117) since August
2017.

Mr. Tsoi obtained a master degree of business administration in the
University of East Asia, Macau in October 1986.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

ESrREREERBERE(E)

Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham (formerly Razack Ebrahim
Abdul and Abraham Razack)

Aged 75, is an Independent Non-Executive Director and also the
Chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of the Audit
Committee of the Company. Mr. Shek joined the Group in December
2017. Mr. Shek obtained a bachelor’s degree of arts and a diploma in
education in the University of Sydney in May 1969 and March 1970,
respectively. He became the honorary fellow of Lingnan University, the
Hong Kong University of Science and Technology and the University
of Hong Kong in November 2008, June 2014 and September 2016,
respectively. In addition to his achievements in the academic field,
Mr. Shek has also earned certain honorary titles in various ambits. He
was appointed as Justice of the Peace in July 1995 and awarded the
Silver Bauhinia Star and Gold Bauhinia Star in the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region 2007 and 2013 Honours Lists, respectively.
He has also been a member of the Advisory Committee Board of
the Independent Commission Against Corruption since January 2017
and appointed as a Honorary Member of the Court of The Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology since August 2020. Mr. Shek
is currently @ member of the Legislative Council for the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region, the Honorary Member of the Court
and the Council of The University of Hong Kong, and the Honorary
Fellow of The Education University of Hong Kong.
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EFTREREEBBER(E)

Mr. Shek currently serves as an Independent Non-Executive Director
of the following listed companies and collective investment schemes,
all of which are listed on the Stock Exchange: (a) Paliburg Holdings
Limited (stock code: 0617) since July 2002; (b) Lifestyle International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1212) since March 2004; (c) Chuang’s
Consortium International Limited (stock code: 0367) since May 2004;
(d) NWS Holdings Limited (stock code: 0659) since September 2004;
(e) Country Garden Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 2007)
since March 2007; (f) SUM Holdings Limited (stock code: 0880) since
January 2008; (g) Chuang’s China Investments Limited (stock code:
0298) since April 2008; (h) ITC Properties Group Limited (stock code:
0199) since September 2010; (i) China Resources Cement Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1313) since January 2011; () Lai Fung Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1125) since December 2012; (k) Cosmopolitan
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 0120) since December
2013; () Regal Portfolio Management Limited, the manager of Regal
Real Estate Investment Trust (stock code: 1881) since November
2006; (m) Eagle Asset Management (CP) Limited, the manager of
Champion Real Estate Investment Trust (stock code: 2778) since
May 2006; (n) CSI Properties Limited (stock code: 0497) since July
2018; (o) Far East Consortium International Limited (stock code:
0035) since June 2019; and (p) Landing International Development
Limited (stock code: 0582) since August 2020.

Besides, Mr. Shek currently serves as an Executive Director of Goldin
Financial Holdings Limited (stock code: 0530) since March 2021
and a Non-Executive Director of Hao Tian International Construction
Investment Group Limited (stock code: 1341) since October 2020.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

ESrREREERBERE(E)

He previously served as an Independent Non-Executive Director of
the following listed companies, all of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange: (a) PT International Development Corporation Limited
(formerly known as “ITC Corporation Limited”) (stock code: 0372)
from June 2006 to March 2017; (b) Dorsett Hospitality International
Limited (previous stock code: 2266) (withdrawn from listing on the
Stock Exchange on October 2015) from September 2010 to March
2016; (c) TUS International Limited (stock code: 0872) from June
2015 to January 2017; (d) Midas International Holdings Limited
(stock code: 1172) from August 2001 to January 2018; (e) MTR
Corporation Limited (stock code: 0066) from December 2007 to
May 2019; (f) Hop Hing Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 0047)
from April 2008 to June 2020; and (g) Goldin Financial Holdings
Limited (stock code: 0530) from January 2017 to March 2021. Mr.
Shek had been a Non-Executive Director and a member of the Audit
Committee of The Hong Kong Mortgage Corporation Limited, a
public company incorporated in Hong Kong, from December 2004
to April 2016.

Mr. LEE Jor Hung

Aged 66, is the Independent Non-Executive Director and also the
chairman of the remuneration committee and a member of the
nomination committee of the Company.

Mr. Lee is currently the chairman of DL Brokerage Limited, in which
he has been licensed as the dealing director and responsible officer
by the Securities and Futures Commission (“SFC”) since August 1993
and October 2003, respectively, under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO”) to carry on type 1 (i.e. dealing in securities) and
type 4 (i.e. advising on securities) regulated activities. He has also
served as the director and the permanent honorary president of
Hong Kong Securities Association Limited since August 1991 and
September 1999, respectively.
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EFTREREEBBER(E)

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Lee had served as a Non-Executive
Director of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited (stock code:
0388), CIG Yangtze Ports PLC (stock code: 8233) and Sinofortune
Financial Holdings Limited (formerly known as “Stockmartnet
Holdings Limited”) (stock code: 8123), all of which being listed on
the Stock Exchange, from April 2000 to April 2006, September
2005 to November 2011, and May 2000 to May 2005, respectively.
He had also served as a director of Hong Kong Securities and
Investment Institute from December 2003 to December 2008, and
become a fellow member and senior fellow since November 2012
and September 2014, respectively.

Mr. Lee had served as a member of the advisory committee and a
member of the process review panel to the SFC, from June 1999 to
May 2001 and from November 2006 to October 2012, respectively.
In addition, he had also served as a member of Disciplinary Panel
A and Investigation Panel A of the HKICPA, from February 2005 to
January 2011 and from February 2011 to January 2015, respectively.
He had also been a member of the Barrister Disciplinary Tribunal
Panel from September 2005 to August 2015.

Mr. Lee obtained a bachelor degree of commerce in the University
of Alberta, Canada in May 1977 and a master degree of business
administration in the University of East Asia, Macau in October 1986.
He was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star in the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region 2000 Honors List.

Ms. YU Pauline Wah Ling

Aged 73, is an Independent Non-Executive Director and also a
member of the remuneration committee of the Company.
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ESrREREERBERE(E)

Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Yu had served as the lettings assistant
and later as assistant manager of The Hongkong Land Company
Limited (formerly The Hongkong Land Investment & Agency Co.,
Ltd.) from August 1971 to July 1981. She has also worked in Hysan
Development Company Limited (stock code: 0014), a company listed
on the Stock Exchange, since 1981. In November 1991, she was
appointed as a director of Hysan Development Company and was
responsible for the strategic development of the company’s property
business. Ms. Yu retired as an executive director in May 2008.

Ms. Yu obtained a bachelor degree of arts in the University of Hong
Kong in October 1971.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. LIU Jia

Mr. Liu is the chairman of the Board, one of the Executive Directors,
also the Chief Executive Officer, the Chairman of the Investment
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee of the
Board. For details of his qualifications, see “Biographies of Directors
and Senior Management”.

Mr. LIN Zimin

Mr. Linis one of the Executive Directors, also the general manager and
a member of the Nomination Committee and Investment Committee
of the Board. For details of his qualifications, see “Biographies of
Directors and Senior Management”.

Mr. LEE Wai Kwong

Mr. Lee is an assistant general manager of the Company. Mr. Lee
joined Capital Century in December 2007 and has been responsible
for the financial management in the group of Capital Century since
then. He currently serves as the director in certain subsidiaries of the
Company. He had also served as the director of the Company from
November 2010 to June 2017. Mr. Lee obtained a bachelor degree
in business (major in accounting) in Edith Cowan University in Perth,
Australia in 2000. Mr. Lee has been a certified public accountant of
CPA Australia since October 2013. He is responsible for the financial
management and project investment of the Company.
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Ms. TANG Yuk Ha

Ms. Tang is the company secretary of the Company, she joined
the Group in May 2018. She is an associate member of both The
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The Chartered
Governance Institute (formerly The Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrators) in United Kingdom. She has over 15 years of
experience in the fields of company secretarial and compliance. Ms.
Tang obtained a Bachelor of Arts in Accountancy in The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University.

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), the changes
in information of the Directors during the year ended 31 December
2020 and up to the date of this annual report are set out below:

(1)  The Company has entered into renewed service agreements
with Mr. Liu Jia and Mr. Lin Zimin, being designated as executive
Directors, respectively, for a term of three years commencing
from 16 January 2021.

(2) The Company has entered into renewed service agreements
with Ms. Tse Hang Mui and Mr. Li Yinzhong, being designated
as non-executive Directors, respectively, for a term of three
years commencing from 16 January 2021.

(8) The Company has entered into renewed letter of appointments
with Mr. Tsoi David, Mr. Shek Lai Him, Abraham, Mr. Lee Jor
Hung and Ms. Yu Pauline Wah Ling, being designated as
independent non-executive Directors, respectively, for a term
of three years commencing from 16 January 2021.

(4)  Mr. Shek Lai Him, Abraham was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of Hao Tian International Construction
Investment Group Limited (stock code: 1341) with effect from
15 October 2020. He was also re-designated from independent
non-executive director to executive director and appointed as
the vice chairman of Goldin Financial Holdings Limited (stock
code: 0530) with effect from 1 March 2021 and ceased to be as
non-executive director of Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Authority with effect from 16 March 2021.

Save as disclosed above, there are no other changes to the Directors’

information as required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1)
of the Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEXELBHRS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board of the Company is committed to maintaining good
corporate governance standards. The Board believes that good
corporate governance standards are essential in providing a
framework for the Group to safeguard the interests of shareholders,
enhance corporate value, formulate its business strategies and
policies, and enhance its transparency and accountability. The
Group’s governance principles and practices are reviewed and
revised regularly as appropriate to reflect the ever changing regulatory
requirements and corporate governance development.

The Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code (the
“CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules as its own
code of corporate governance since the Listing Date. The Company
has complied with all applicable code provisions of the CG Code
set out therein, except for CG Code provision A.2.1, throughout the
period from the Listing Date up to the date of this annual report.

Pursuant to the CG Code provision A.2.1, the roles of the chairman
and the chief executive of the Company should be separated and
should not be performed by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the chairman and the chief executive of the
Company should be clearly established and set out in writing.

The roles of the chairman and the chief executive officer (“CEQ”)
of the Company are not separated and are performed by the same
individual. Mr. Liu Jia (“Mr. Liu”) acts as both the chairman and the
CEO since the Listing Date. Since Mr. Liu has a wealth of experience
in real estate investment, operations and investment projects and has
been working for various subsidiaries of China Everbright Group since
1991, the Directors consider that vesting the roles of the chairman
of the Board and the CEO of the Company in Mr. Liu is beneficial to
the management and business development of the Group and will
provide strong and consistent leadership to the Group.

As the Board currently comprises two executive Directors (including
Mr. Liu), two non-executive Directors and four independent non-
executive Directors and therefore the Directors are of the view that
there is a fairly strong independence element in its composition. The
Board shall nevertheless review the arrangement from time to time.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code
of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having
made specific enquiry with each of the Directors, the Company has
received confirmations from all Directors that they have complied
with the required standards as set out in the Model Code for the
year ended 31 December 2020.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions
and performance and should take decisions objectively in the best
interests of the Company.

The Board should regularly review the contribution required from
a Director to perform his/her responsibilities to the Company, and
whether the Director is spending sufficient time performing them.

Board Composition

The Board of the Company comprises the following Directors who
held office during the year ended 31 December 2020 and up to date
of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Jia (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Lin Zimin

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Tse Hang Mui
Mr. Li Yinzhong

Independent Non-executive Directors”
Mr. Tsoi David
Mr. Shek Lai Him Abraham

Mr. Lee Jor Hung
Ms. Yu Pauline Wah Ling
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Note:
(1)  Appointment became effective on 16 January 2018.

The biographical information of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management”
on pages 17 to 28 of the Annual Report for the year ended 31
December 2020.

There are no relationship (including financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationship(s)) among members of the Board.

Board Meetings and Directors’ Attendance Records

The Board meets regularly and, involving active participation, either in
person or through electronic means of communication, of a majority
of Directors. Under code provision A.1.1 of the CG Code, the Board
shall meet regularly and at least four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals. During the financial year ended 31 December
2020 the (“reporting period”), 5 Board meetings and 2 general
meetings were held.
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The Directors’ attendance of the Board meetings and general
meetings during the reporting period is set out as follows:

Name of Directors

=i

Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Liu Jia 5=
Mr. Lin Zimin MWEHEE
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Ms. Tse Hang Mui WAL L
Mr. Li Yinzhong FHRPSTE
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHITES
Mr. Tsoi David BOR M A
Mr. Shek Lai Him Abraham ABHEE
Mr. Lee Jor Hung RS
Ms. Yu Pauline Wah Ling TER L+

The Company is obliged to comply with the CG Code and will
take appropriate arrangements for holding at least 4 regular
Board meetings as well as a meeting between the Chairman and
Independent Non-executive Directors annually (without the presence
of Executive Directors and Non-executive Directors).
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

CG Code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by
the same individual. The Company does not segregate the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer and Mr. Liu Jia currently holds
both positions, as explained in the paragraph headed “Corporate
Governance Practices” in this report.

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the period from the Listing Date to 31 December 2020,
the Board at all times met the requirements of the Listing Rules
relating to the appointment of at least three Independent Non-
executive Directors representing at least one-third of the Board with
one of whom possessing appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
of the Independent Non-executive Directors in respect of his/her
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that
all Independent Non-executive Directors are independent.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The Non-executive Directors (including Independent Non-executive
Directors) of the Company are appointed for a specific term of
three years, subject to renewal after the expiry of the current term.
The Company’s articles of association (“Articles of Association”)
provides that all Directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall be
subject to election by shareholders at the first general meeting after
appointment.

Under the Articles of Association, at each annual general meeting,
one-third of the Directors for the time being, or if their number is
not three or a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less
than one-third shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years. The retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)
EXELHRSE (&)

Responsibilities of the Board and Management

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control
of the Company; and is collectively responsible for directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and
provides direction to management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s operational
and financial performance, and ensures that sound internal control
and risk management systems are in place.

All Directors, including Non-executive Directors and Independent
Non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board
for its efficient and effective functioning.

The independent non-executive Directors are responsible for ensuring
a high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company and providing
a balance in the Board for bringing effective independent judgement
on corporate actions and operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the
Company and may, upon request, seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses
for discharging their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices
held by them.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to
policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of
directors and other significant operational matters of the Company.
Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the Board,
directing and coordinating the daily operation and management of
the Company are delegated to the management.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions taken
against Directors arising out of corporate activities. The insurance
coverage would be reviewed on an annual basis.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

EXELCRS (&)

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes
in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received induction on the first
occasion on his/her appointment to ensure appropriate understanding
of the business and operations of the Company and full awareness
of Director’s responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules
and relevant statutory requirements.

Directors are encouraged to participate in appropriate continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. All Directors confirmed that they had complied with code
provision A.6.5 of the CG Code during the reporting period, that they
had participated in continuous professional development to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills.

The Company has distributed materials and updated information on
the latest developments in the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements during the reporting period.

In addition, relevant reading materials (including legal and regulatory
updates) have been provided to the Directors for their reference and
studying.
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EXELHRSE (&)

The training records of the Directors for the year ended 31 December
2020 are summarized as follows:

Name of Directors

BEENS
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. LIU Jia BEkE
Mr. LIN Zimin MEHEE
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Ms. TSE Hang Mui gt
Mr. LI Yinzhong FRP LA
Independent Non-executive Directors BAIFHITES
Mr. TSOI David BARETE
Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham AERTE
Mr. LEE Jor Hung TSR A
Ms. YU Pauline Wah Ling TERLZ L
Notes:

A Attend seminars/symposia/meetings/forums on directors’ professional
and/or duties.

B: Attend training courses on directors’ professional and/or duties
arranged by the Company.

C: Read books, articles, journals and other materials in relation to

the economy, corporate governance, regulatory developments,
environmental businesses, directors’ duties or other related topics.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

EXELCRS (&)

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee
and Investment Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of
the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the Company are
established with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly
with their authority and duties. The terms of reference of the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee
are posted on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s
website and are available to shareholders upon request.

The majority of the members of each Board committee are
Independent Non-Executive Directors.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee of the Company comprises three members,
namely Mr. Tsoi David, an Independent Non-Executive Director, Mr.
Shek Lai Him Abraham, an Independent Non-Executive Director,
and Mr. Li Yinzhong, a Non-Executive Director. Mr. Tsoi David is the
chairman of the Audit Committee.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include, among others,
the review of the Group’s financial reporting procedures, risk
management, internal controls and results. The consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 have
been reviewed by the Audit Committee.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)
EXELHRSE (&)

The Audit Committee has held 4 meetings during the reporting
period. The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management
and the Company’s external auditors (including but not limited
to) the Company’s accounting principles and practices, important
accounting estimates and matters, and the external auditor’s audit
plan; has reviewed and discussed the financial report matters,
including review of the audited financial results for the year ended
31 December 2019 and unaudited interim financial results for the
six months ended 30 June 2020. To ensure the effectiveness of
the Company’s risk management and internal control functions,
the Audit Committee has reviewed, discussed and monitored the
works of risk management and internal control in year 2020. It has
reviewed the compliance of continuing connected transactions,
internal audit report, the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programs and budget of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function, the investigation results
of the whistleblowing cases reported through the whistleblowing
channels and the engagement of external auditor of the Company.

The committee members’ attendance of the Audit Committee during
the reporting period is set out as follows:

Mr. Tsoi David (Chairman)
Mr. Li Yinzhong
Mr. Shek Lai Him Abraham

FERMEE (T/E)
FIRPEE
AL

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less exacting
terms than those set out in the CG Code. The main duties of the
Audit Committee are to assist the Board in reviewing the financial
information and reporting process, risk management and internal
control systems, effectiveness of the internal audit function, scope
of audit and appointment of external auditors, and arrangements to
enable employees of the Company to raise concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other matters
of the Company.
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EXELCRS (&)

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of three members, namely
Mr. Liu Jia, an Executive Director, Mr. Lee Jor Hung, an Independent
Non-Executive Director, and Ms. Yu Pauline Wah Ling, an Independent
Non-Executive Director. Mr. Lee Jor Hung is the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee has held 2 meetings during the
reporting period. The Remuneration Committee has reviewed the
remuneration packages of individual executives, and members
of senior management. It has also reviewed the service contract
of Executive Director and Non-Executive Director, and letter of
appointment of Independence Non-Executive Director. The aforesaid
approved matters and review were reported and recommended to
the Board.

The committee members’ attendance of the Remuneration Committee
during the reporting period is set out as follows:

Mr. Lee Jor Hung (Chairman) TS (FF)
Mr. Liu Jia e
Ms. Yu Pauline Wah Ling TER L+

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are of
no less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The
primary functions of the Remuneration Committee include reviewing
and making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual Directors and senior management, the
remuneration policy and structure for all Directors and senior
management; and establishing transparent procedures for developing
such remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no Director
or any of his/her associates will participate in deciding his/her own
remuneration.
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Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, details of the
remuneration of the senior management by bands for the year ended
31 December 2020 is as follows:

RIEDEE AT ZSFANEXEB.1.51F
HZE2020F12A31HIEFEE » 3fREEA
BREFMEEFBOT ¢

Number of

individuals

AE

Exceeding RMB1,000,000 238 A R #1,000,0007T )
Not exceeding RMB1,000,000 8@ A K #1,000,0007T 2

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of three members, namely
Mr. Lin Zimin, an Executive Director, Mr. Shek Lai Him Abraham,
an Independent Non-executive Director, and Mr. Lee Jor Hung, an
Independent Non-executive Director. Mr. Shek Lai Him Abraham is
a chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee has held 1 meeting during the reporting
period. The Nomination Committee had reviewed the structure,
size and composition (including the sexual, skills, knowledge
and experience) of the Board and assessed the independence
of independent non-executive Directors, discussed and made
recommendation to the board of Directors to adopt the nomination
policy and the re-election of all retiring directors at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company. It has also reviewed the
service contract of Executive Director and Non-executive Director,
and letter of appointment of Independent Non-executive Director.
The aforesaid approved matters and review were reported and
recommended to the Board.

The committee members’ attendance of the Nomination Committee
during the reporting period is set out as follows:

Mr. Shek Lai Him Abraham (Chairman) BEREE(F/E)
Mr. Lin Zimin MEG L
Mr. Lee Jor Hung RS E

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ¥ A KEBRAR

REZEE

REZEEM=_BKEHEK - BIITESMHK
BESTE BUIFRITERARRAENAR
BIUFATESFTEREL - ARRELER
REZBEIFE -

RBEHHE REAZBEERT-RE
& RAZESCRAEZTERE AR
KAR(BIEER - &8 - MBLER)L
AHAE IFITESAIBE I - & AR TR
MREBR MR AR R EERFBEFAE L
BEENMARTESYMESSREES
HTEMATESTMFRTEFTNRE A
#) o ARBIMIEMITESTNRIEK - 250
bPiEEBE M e ERAEESRENE

o

RAZ B a8 WS HIRE A L E R0

T

\

Attendance/Number of meetings
during the reporting period
HERE NBEHHETERRE

11
11
11



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

EXELCRS (&)

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The principal
duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the Board
composition, developing and formulating relevant procedures for the
nomination and appointment of Directors, making recommendations
to the Board on the appointment and succession planning of
Directors, and assessing the independence of Independent Non-
executive Directors.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects as well as factors concerning
Board diversity as set out in the Company’s Board diversity policy,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and
industry and regional experience etc. The Nomination Committee
would discuss and agree on measurable objectives for achieving
diversity on the Board, where necessary, and recommend them to
the Board for adoption.

Investment Committee

The Investment Committee consists of five members, two Executive
Directors namely Mr. Liu Jia and Mr. Lin Zimin and three Independent
Non-executive Directors namely Mr. Lee Jor Hung, Mr. Tsoi David
and Ms. Yu Pauline Wah Ling. Mr. Liu Jia is the chairman of the
Investment Committee.

The Investment Committee has held 1 meeting during the reporting
period. The Investment Committee reviewed and evaluated the
Company’s investment portfolio and its performance.

The committee members’ attendance of the Investment Committee
during the reporting period is set out as follows:

Mr. Liu Jia (Chairman) B (EE)
Mr. Lin Zimin WEGE
Mr. Lee Jor Hung TSR A
Mr. Tsoi David BEARMSRE
Ms. Yu Pauline Wah Ling TERT L

The principal duties of the Investment Committee include reviewing
and evaluating any investment projects proposed by the Company,
making recommendations to the Board on such investment project,
and also reviewing the annual investment plan of the Company.
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EXEBRE(E)

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the
code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

TheBoardhadreviewedthe Company’s corporate governance policies
and practices, training and continuous professional development of
directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the
compliance of the Model Code and Written Employee Guidelines,
and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure
in this Corporate Governance Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for monitoring the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems,
as well as conducting a review on an annual basis. Such systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable (and
not absolute) assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management
and overseeing their design, implementation and monitoring of the
risk management and internal control systems and reviews the
internal audit report presented by the senior management.

The Company has developed and adopted various risk management
procedures and guidelines with defined authority for implementation
by key business processes and office functions, including project
management, sales and leasing, financial reporting, human resources
and information technology.

The Company’s risk management and internal control systems

have been developed with the following principles, features and
processes:
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All divisions/departments conduct internal control assessment
regularly to identify risks that potentially impact the business of the
Group and various aspects including key operational and financial
processes, regulatory compliance and information security. Self-
evaluation has been conducted annually to confirm that control
policies are properly complied with by each division/department.

The management, in coordination with division/department heads,
assesses the likelihood of risk occurrence, provides treatment plans,
monitors the risk management progress, as well as reports to
the Audit Committee and the Board on all the findings and the
effectiveness of the systems.

The management has confirmed to the Board and the Audit
Committee on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems for the period from the Listing Date and up to the
date of this report.

The Board, as supported by the Audit Committee as well as the
management, reviewed the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group, including the financial, operational and
compliance controls, for the year ended 31 December 2020, and
considered that such systems are effective and adequate. The annual
review also covered the financial reporting and staff qualifications,
experiences and relevant resources.

Whistleblowing procedures are in place to facilitate employees of
the Company to raise, in confidential, concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other matters
of the Company.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides
a general guide to the Company’s Directors, officers, senior
management and relevant employees in handling confidential
information, monitoring information disclosure and responding to
enquiries.

Control procedures have been implemented to ensure that
unauthorized access and use of inside information are strictly
prohibited.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2020.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditors of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out
in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 101 to 107.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to the Company’s external auditors of the
Company in respect of audit services and review and other services
for the year ended 31 December 2020 amounted to RMB1.2 million
and RMBO0.4 million respectively.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is accountable to the Board for ensuring that
Board policy and procedures are followed and Board activities are
efficiently and effectively conducted. The Company Secretary is a full-
time employee of the Company. Although the Company Secretary
reports to the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer,
all the Directors may call upon the Company Secretary for assistance
and advice at any time in respect to their duties so as to ensure
effective operation of the Board and the committees thereunder. The
Company Secretary advises the Board on governance matters and
facilitates the induction and professional development of Directors. As
at 31 December 2020, the Company Secretary of the Company has
undertaken 15 hours of relevant professional training in compliance
with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

EXEBRSE(K)

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted the following board diversity policy (the
“Board Diversity Policy”).

The Board recognizes the benefit of having a diverse Board to
enhance the quality of its performance. A diverse Board includes
and makes good use of differences in the skills, industry knowledge
and experience, education, background and other qualities of the
Directors and does not discriminate on the ground of race, age,
gender, culture or religious belief.

The Nomination Committee has responsibility for reviewing and
reporting to the Board in relation to the Board diversity.

All the Board appointments will be considered by the Nomination
Committee and recommended to the Board for formal approval
based on the diversity perspectives.

Selection of candidates for Board appointment will be based on a
range of diversity perspectives including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural/educational and professional background, skills and
experience.

The ultimate decision will be based on merit against objective criteria
and contribution that the candidate will bring to the Board.

The Board will review and monitor from time to time the implementation
of Board Diversity Policy to ensure its effectiveness and will at
appropriate time set measurable objectives for achieving diversity
on the Board.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)
EXELHRSE (&)

BOARD NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has adopted the following board nomination policy (the
“Board Nomination Policy”).

The factor listed below shall be considered by the Nomination
Committee in selecting the candidates for directors (“Selection
Criteria”):

° character and integrity;

° achievements and professional experience that is beneficial to
the development of the Company;

o professional experience in real estate operations and other
related fields;

° potential time commitment;

o board diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age (18 years old or above), cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service;

° independence of the candidates (if applicable); and

° the term of service that the candidates have served for the
reappointment of the Independent Non-executive Directors.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

EXELCRS (&)

Nomination Procedures

A.

B.

Nomination by the Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee shall review the structure, size
and composition (including the skills, professional qualification,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and
make recommendation on any proposed change to the Board
to complement the Company’s corporate strategy.

The Nomination Committee can be assisted by external
agencies and/or consultants in identifying potential candidates.

The Nomination Committee may seek advice from the Board
members in recommending candidates or nominate other
candidates who are not nominated by the Board members in
appointing additional Directors or filing Board vacancies.

The Nomination Committee shall refer to the Selection Criteria
to determine whether the proposed candidates are eligible
and suitable to become Directors of the Company and provide
advice to the Board in this regard for the Board to consider
approving the appointment of the proposed candidates as
the Company’s Directors or recommending the proposed
candidates to be elected as the Company’s Directors in the
general meeting.

Nomination by the Shareholders

Shareholders may nominate candidates for election of the Company’s
Directors in accordance to the applicable rules of the Listing Rules and
the Articles of Association of the Company. The specific procedures
are set out in the “Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person
for Election as a Director” as prepared and adopted by the Company
from time to time.

The Nomination Committee is authorized by the Board to review
this policy from time to time to ensure its effectiveness and to give
advice to the Board on the proposed amendments for the Board’s
approval as necessary.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)
EXELHRSE (&)

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted the following dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”).

The Board will consider the following factors when considering the
proposed dividend payment and determining its amount:

1

(7

the current and future funding needs of the Company for
operations and business development;

the market conditions from time to time;

the Company’s liquidity and financial position;

the requirement of the Company’s Articles of Association
and the relevant laws, regulations and rules applicable to the

Company;

any banking or other funding covenants by which the Company
is bound;

the solvency requirements of the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong); and

any other circumstances that the Board considers relevant.

The Board will review, discuss and revise the Dividend Policy in
accordance with the Company’s profit, financial needs and other
factors from time to time.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

EXELCRS (&)

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard the shareholders’ interests and rights, separate
resolution should be proposed for each substantially separate issue
at general meetings, including the election of individual Director. All
resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted on by poll
pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each
general meeting.

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting

Shareholders of the Company should follow the requirements and
procedures as set out in the laws of the Cayman Islands and where
applicable, the Company’s Articles of Association, for convening a
general meeting.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Shareholders of the Company should follow the requirements and
procedures as set out in the laws of the Cayman Islands and where
applicable, the Company’s Articles of Association, for circulating a
resolution for annual general meeting.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board
For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company,

shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company. The
Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)
EXELHRSE (&)

Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned
above to the following:

Address: Room 1302, 13th Floor, Bank of East Asia Harbour
View Centre, 56 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong

Fax: (852) 2545 5256

Email: inquiry@ebgca.com.hk

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and send
the original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or
enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide their
full name, contact details and identification in order to give effect
thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by
law.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor
understanding of the Group’s business performance and strategies.
The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings and
other general meetings. At the annual general meeting, directors or
their delegates (as appropriate) are available to meet shareholders
and answer their enquiries.

Pursuant to special resolutions of all shareholders of the Company
passed on 15 December 2017, the amended and restated
memorandum and articles of association of the Company were
adopted with effect from the Listing Date, copy of which is available
on both the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT

RiR I8 RELCRS

The Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report 2020 (the
“Report”) of Everbright Grand China Assets Limited (the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, collectively referred to as the “Group”)
has been prepared in accordance to the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide set out in Appendix 27 to the Listing
Rules.

This is the fourth annual ESG report published by the Group,
covering the operations of our headquarters in Hong Kong and
property management services in Chengdu from 1 January to 31
December 2020 (the “reporting period”), which discloses information
on the Group’s management approach and performance of relevant
significant environmental and social issues. '>° The Board has overall
responsibility for the sustainability progress of the Group, and guides
and supervises our environmental, social and governance policies
and strategies as well as reviewing and evaluating the performance
and progress of relevant indicators regularly. The Board has reviewed
and approved the Report.

In 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic has brought tremendous challenges
to the global economy and livelihood. To protect public health
and safety, the Group responded rapidly to support the epidemic
prevention work of the Chengdu Municipal Government, and strictly
imposed precautionary measures in the property management area to
prevent the virus from spreading. As a responsible corporate citizen,
the Group has been actively integrating sustainability concepts into
the Group’s operating policies in the past year, and promoted the
Sustainable Development Goals (“SDGs”) of the United Nations with
the aim of creating greater value for all stakeholders.

We welcome valuable comments and suggestions from all sectors
on this Report as well as our ESG performance. If you have any
comments, please contact us by email at inquiry@ebgca.com.hk.

! Data of contractors and tenants are not reflected in this Report;

2 Apart from integral numbers, all data in this Report are rounded to two
decimal places; and
3 All intensity data in this Report cover our property management services

in Chengdu only. All intensities are calculated per sgq.m. of managed
gross floor area (“GFA”).
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

RE M2RECHRS(E)

ENVIRONMENT
Prioritised SDGs:

B 13 S

The Group drives sustainable development and environmental
protection in our business activities. We have formulated the Green
Office Guidelines and Water Resources Management Guidelines
based on the nature of our business to manage the environmental
performance of our building management, facility operations and
maintenance operations, which includes greenhouse gas emissions,
energy use, water use and waste disposal, etc. We also conduct
environmental audits to achieve the goal of minimising pollution
through weekly safety and sanitation inspections.

In addition, we are committed to promoting environmental awareness
within the company and in the community. We regularly launch
trainings and workshops to encourage employees to implement
sustainable measures, and promote environmental protection
activities and display relevant messages amongst our tenants
and stakeholders in our properties. Apart from that, we welcome
employees to recommend environmental protection measures to
us through various channels and work together to integrate green
lifestyle in the work environment.

During the reporting period, the Group did not violate any relevant
environmental regulations, nor was it subject to any fines or charge.

Greenhouse Gas and Air Emissions Management

We are aware of the increasingly serious threats posed by climate
change, such as global temperature, sea level rise and extreme
weather, which have affected and challenged our business. Therefore,
we constantly monitor and review greenhouse gases (“GHG”) and
air emissions data and continue to explore and formulate measures
to improve energy efficiency and strive to mitigate the impact of our
business on climate change.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

RE M2RESRS (&)

To accurately record the GHG emissions during operation, the Group
adopts the calculation method listed in Guidelines to Account for and
Report on Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Removals for Buildings
(Commercial, Residential or Institutional Purposes) in Hong Kong
(2010 Edition) compiled by the Electrical and Mechanical Services
Department and Environmental Protection Department of Hong
Kong, providing stakeholders with comprehensive and reliable data
concerning the type, amount and scope of our greenhouse gas

REECEELTRRERBINE - 1%
BAEEREREOBIER - BHRENH
BRREATESRETREERNRFREZR
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Hm E R HE SRR MR B MRS 165D
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emissions.
GHG Emissions in 2020 2020 FAERBEHHE
GHG Emissions Intensity
Emissions (tCO,e) | (tCO,e/sq.m. of managed GFA)
HHE | BRERBARZE (M-SthEE
(M-|(RER) | PAKEERERR)
Direct GHG Emissions (Scope 1)
ERREREBENE (FKE—) 399.02
Indirect GHG Emissions (Scope 2)
BREEAEREHNE (BK2) 1,224.03 0.02
Other Indirect GHG Emissions (Scope 3) )
HitEZAEREBHNE (BE=) 84.17
Total GHG Emissions
BERBHNREE 1,707.21
Notes: BiisE -

(1) Emission factor for electricity purchased in Scope 2 is referenced to
the latest available emission data released by The Hongkong Electric
Company Limited and the 2015 Average Grid Emission Factor in China
issued by the National Development and Reform Commission (NDRC)

of the PRC;

(2)  The Scope 3 GHG emissions include paper waste disposal, water
consumption and air travel (the relevant GHG emissions were calculated
by the International Civil Aviation Organisation Carbon Emissions

Calculator).
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

BE mM2RECRS(E)

Air Emissions in 2020

2020 ERITRMPENE

Emissions (g)
g (=)
Particulate Matter (PM)
AR 85.92
Sulphur Oxides (SO
eSO, 15.87
Nitrogen Oxides (NO,)
/’ﬁﬁﬂi%(NOX) 1,166.89
Notes: B
(1) Emissions include gasoline consumption of business vehicles; 1) PRI A B ) TURIEFRE -

(2)  The calculation method and emission factor are referenced to the
Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs of the Stock Exchange.

Energy Use

We actively implement energy-saving measures according to our
Green Office Guidelines, including the installation of energy metering
systems to closely monitoring energy consumption and improve
energy efficiency. Computer monitors will be automatically turned
into sleep mode after being idling for a period. We also maximise
the use of natural light in the office and turn off unnecessary lighting.
In addition, we encourage our employees to start with their own
habits, such as switching computers to energy saving mode and
turning off unnecessary electrical equipment to reduce excessive
power consumption.

Direct Energy Consumption in 2020

() FEITERIMAEETIZRE
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2020F EHEREFUHMEE

Consumption Intensity

HAER B

Electricity (kWh) 21.34 (kWh/sg. m. of managed GFA)
(FRE) 2,000,857.00 (FREFHREREERE)
Gasoline (L) 0.01 (L/sg. m. of managed GFA)
ol (FH) 1,079.70 (Ft/ R K ERREETE)
Diesel (tonne) 0.13 (tonne/sq m. of managed GFA)
gem (WR) 1.30 (BE,/ A KB ESEEE)
Natural Gas (tonne) 1.83 (tonne/sq m. of managed GFA)
RKR (WE) 171,845.00 (W, KRB R AEE)
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

BE MBRECHRS(E)

Water Resources Management

We value water resources and strive to reduce freshwater
consumption. The Group’s Water Management Guidelines advocate
sustainable water usage principles, including the use of separate
drainage and sewerage systems, and ensures that the discharged
wastewater comply with local emissions standards. Following the
guidelines, we have implemented a series of water conservation
measures to reduce water consumption, increase efficiency and
to enhance employees’ awareness of saving water resources. To
ensure that reliable and high-quality drinking water are provided to
our users as well as preventing the wastage of water resources, we
conduct regular cleaning and water quality tests of the water supply
system under our properties in accordance with the Repair and
Maintenance Guidelines, as well as regular maintenance of drainage
system and timely repair when leakage is found.

In addition, Chengdu Municipal Waterworks Co., Ltd. issues specific
water consumption targets to our projects in Chengdu every year.
During the reporting period, each operating unit has balanced the
planned water usage, implemented stringent water conservation
practices and successfully achieved all of the water consumption
targets. We will constantly review our water usage and consumption
patterns for continuous optimisation of water usage solutions.

During the reporting period, all wastewater was discharged to

KERERE
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M -
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BERA - TAISKEREERFNELE

designated sewers in accordance with local regulations and no  TE/5/KER - SRBEAEERITE °
violations occurred.
Water Consumption in 2020 2020F FEKE
Water Consumption
Intensity (L/sq.m. of
Water managed GFA)
Consumption (L) FRBE(HFHK
FKEF) EEEREE)
Water
7K 53,666 0.57
Note: MIE -

(1) Water usage in the Hong Kong headquarters is managed by the building
where the office is located. As the managerial department cannot
provide data or metered record on water use for individual tenants, data
of water consumption in our Hong Kong headquarters is not included
in this Report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

BE mM2RECRS(E)

Resources and Waste Management

We uphold the concepts of “reduce, reuse and recycle” outlined in the
Green Office Guidelines. Therefore, we persist in keeping systematic
records on material usage to reduce unnecessary consumption and
purchase as well as maximising the usage of sustainable and reusable
materials. The Group has posted tips and placed collection bags and
boxes to collect recyclables such as paper and plastic. General waste
is collected by the building management and handled by dedicated
waste collectors and recyclers to prevent illegal dumping of waste.
We will continue to improve the resource recovery system so that
the employees can participate in recycling programs more actively.

Paper conservation is our key resource conservation goal due to
the business nature of the Group. We have implemented paper-
saving measures in our offices, such as encouraging to replace
printed documents with electronic copies, reuse paper and double-
sided printing, etc. Moreover, we selected Forest Stewardship
Council (FSC) certified paper to print the Group’s annual report and
publications to avoid harvesting virgin forests. During the reporting
period, a total of 0.14 tonnes of papers were recycled.

Waste Generation in 2020

ERRBENER
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2020 FBEEYELE

Waste Generation

Waste Generation Intensity (tonne/
sg-m. of managed GFA)

(tonne) BEBEYELRE (M, FHXK
BEEYEEE () EEEEREE)

Non-hazardous Waste
EEREEY 256.98 0.003
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

RE M2RESRS (&)

SOCIAL
Prioritised SDGs:

Our Employees

(28
AR A ik

Employees are the core of our business and the key to the sustainable
development of the Group. As of 31 December 2020, the Group had
a total of 143 employees, all of them were full-time employees.

Employee number as of 31 December 2020

G
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Welfare and Safeguards

The Group upholds the people-oriented philosophy to create a
fair, inclusive and positive working environment for employees.
We have formulated a series of management policies such as
the Employee Management Regulation, the Chengdu Everbright
Property Handbook and the Chengdu Everbright Property Owner
Management Handbook to ensure our practice complies with the
laws and regulations including the Labour Contract Law of the PRC
and the Labour Law of the PRC. The relevant management policies
provided guidance and safeguard on the working environment,
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, other benefits and welfare, training and
development, occupational health and safety and child labour and
forced labour for our employees. Moreover, we have formulated the
Policy on Preventing Discriminations, Harassments and Upholding
Equal Opportunities to provide equal and diverse career opportunities.
Such policy safeguards employees from discrimination, harassment
and vilification due to gender, disability, family status, marital status,
race, etc. Employees can express their concerns related to any
unwanted behavior through a dedicated anonymous reporting email
account and hotline.

The Group offers competitive remuneration packages to our
employees to attract and retain talents. We periodically review
policies on remuneration and welfare, adjustments are made every
year based on year-end assessment result of employees, business
performance of the Group and the salary level of industry. Other
employee welfare includes medical insurance, paid annual leave,
maternity/paternity leave, examination leave, overtime allowance,
and red pocket for birthday, etc. The Group also hosts various
social activities to reinforce social interaction and friendship amongst
employees, thus reinforcing team cohesion.

During the reporting period, there were no violations of laws or
regulations on labour standards, child labour or forced labour.
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Training and Development

We believe human resources development is crucial to corporate
strategic management and long-term development of our employees
and the company. Therefore, we always do our utmost to respond to
the needs of our employees in training, promotion, internal transfer,
and remuneration to unleash their full potential. The Group’s Employee
Management Regulation, Chengdu Everbright Property Handbook
and Chengdu Everbright Property Owner Management Handbook
states our policies in training, assessment and promotion, as well
as the vocational training requirements for employees at all levels.
Each department are also required to submit the Employee Training
Plan Form regularly to ensure employees have continuous access
to training opportunities. In 2020, all employees have participated in
training programmes.

We provide vocational trainings with diverse topics to employees
such as business management, information technology, occupational
safety, anti-corruption, and first aid to reinforce their professional
knowledge and skills, as well as periodically collect their feedback
and suggestions for improvement. We also regularly host trainings
for new employees to help them understand and adapt to our
corporate culture, policies, and code of conduct as well as enhancing
their sense of belonging. Moreover, we encourage and sponsor our
employees to take part in external training and continuing education
to enrich their knowledge and skills. For employees who completed
any self-learning module or attained any qualification related to the
businesses of the Group, we will incorporate their copy of proof as
reference in year-end assessment, internal transfer and promaotion
arrangements.

During the reporting period, directors and selected personnel of
the Group participated in the environmental, social and governance
reporting training hosted by an external party to understand the latest
regulatory requirements and the responsibilities of the board on ESG
strategy, reporting and monitoring.
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Average Training Hours in 2020

20204 P15 5 3| BF 2

Mal
nae 17.5
By Gender >3
= RIE D Female
171
z
Senior Management 18.1
SREEE )
By Employee Category Middle Management 18.0
RETIERE S FREEE )
General Staff
= 17.0
—RET

Health and Safety

The Group upholds the “Safety First” principle and puts the health
and safety of our employees and the public as our top priority. We
strictly comply with the requirements of relevant occupational health
and safety legislations and follow the requirements of the Group’s
Occupational Health Management Policy by regularly identifying,
monitoring and reviewing the potential safety risks of our workplaces.
We provide monthly vocational safety training for our employees,
with topics covering maintenance and repair of property equipment,
power shortage contingency measures, lift entrapment contingency
measures, flood control measures in summer, contingency measures
in car park during flooding, etc. Moreover, we promote the safety
culture through various activities and internal communication
channels.

It is our responsibility as a property management company to
establish a safe environment for our tenants and the public. The
Chengdu Everbright Property Handbook and Chengdu Everbright
Property Owner Management Handbook cover detailed safety and
health related operating procedures in property management, as well
as emergency plans in response to manufacturing accidents and to
ensure operational safety. The Group has also set up the Signage
Management Guideline that aims to enhance management of various
signage, such as control on fire safety, safety and guidance in public
areas of the buildings (e.g. corridors and exterior walls, etc.). The
guideline provides detailed stipulations on the use of signage in
various high-risk operations or workplaces. For instance, to prevent
and reduce the risk of industrial accidents, corresponding safety
signs should be placed during regular maintenance of elevators, aloft
work or other construction and maintenance works.
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During the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group actively responded to
the epidemic requirements of the local government by establishing
a robust epidemic defense line through implementing epidemic
prevention and control measures. We have implemented crowd
control in our properties, closed some entrances and exits, and
ensured that all personnel conduct temperature checks and register
their identity before entering the building. At the same time, we
carried out thorough cleaning and disinfection at all areas of the
building, especially in public spaces such as elevators and elevators.
We also implemented flexible work arrangements for employees and
adopted split teamwork to reduce the risk of infection.

In addition, we have formulated the “Responsibility Pledge on
Property Security and Fire Safety Mechanism ” to protect the fire
safety of our properties. The pledge requires the relevant property
users to strictly abide with the national laws and regulations on
fire safety management, and to establish corresponding rules and
regulations based on the tenant characteristics. We also strive to
provide a healthy environment for employees, visitors and the public
by promoting the Smoke-free Workspace Policy at our offices and
actively encourage tenants to implement such policy.

During the reporting period, we had no violations of laws or regulations
pertaining to health and safety matters in the workplace or related
to our services.

Supplier Management

The Group’s suppliers primarily provide us with construction and
maintenance, as well as mechanical and electrical equipments, etc.

In order to establish sustainable partnerships and reduce procurement
risks and costs, we have developed a systemic supplier selection
and management system. Our bidding and tendering management
regulations in the Chengdu Everbright Property Handbook and
the Chengdu Everbright Property Owner Management Handbook
detailed the process of bidding and tendering, contract signing, as
well as inspection and supervision. The Group’s procurement team
specialises in setting up supplier profiles and to keep record of the
supplies. We aim to integrate green practices into our supply chain by
factoring in the supplier’s track records of social and environmental
compliance during the procurement process as well as prioritising
the purchase of environmentally friendly and energy saving materials.
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To ensure the quality of our suppliers, our cost audit team, finance
department, engineering department and inventory team also carry
out regular reviews, inspections and assessments for suppliers in
accordance with the Group’s Management Guidelines on Supplier
Selection and Evaluation. We conduct an overall evaluation to our
suppliers annually by assessing areas including product quality,
environmental and social compliance with reference to the Evaluation
Form of Supplier Management. Suppliers are classified into five
grades, namely, A, B, C, D, and E, based on their assessment result.
Rewards or penalties are given to suppliers of corresponding grades
to ensure that we always cooperate with the best suppliers.

Anti-Corruption

Maintaining integrity and fairness is an important factor that contributes
to the Group’s success. We strictly comply with the Anti-unfair
Competition Law of the PRC and the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance
in Hong Kong, and clearly stated the Group’s moral standards in our
Code of Conduct, requiring all board members and employees to
uphold integrity and business ethics. We do not tolerate any forms
of corruption, fraud, bribery, extortion, money laundering and any
other unfair or unethical conducts under any circumstances. The
Group has set up an Anti-Corruption and Reporting Mechanism
led by the Board of Directors that offers channels and guidance for
employees to report any misconducts. We also require our clients to
sign the Anti-Business Corruption Agreement as part of the property
management services agreement or leasing contract.

We regularly offer anti-corruption trainings for our employees and
senior management, such as inviting the Independent Commission
Against Corruption (ICAC) to provide seminars for our employees to
build awareness of corruption laws, common problems, and fiduciary
responsibilities among staff at all levels of the Group.

During the reporting period, the Group had no experience in any
cases nor violations of laws and regulations related to anti-corruption.
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Community Investment

The Group is committed to connecting with the community and
fulfilling its corporate social responsibility by understanding the
needs of the community. We have formulated the Community and
Philanthropy Policy to take part in issues that are of concerns through
charitable donations and encouraging our employees to devote to
community services and volunteering work. We hope to continue to
contribute to the community and promote the healthy development
and recognition of the community.

In the beginning of 2020, the novel COVID-19 outbreak brought great
inconvenience and difficulties to people’s lives and the work of the
governments across the country. The Group has always put people’s
life safety and health in the first place and has taken swift action to
support our communities during the pandemic. On 27 March 2020,
our Chengdu project company donated materials to Qionglai Chinese
Medicine Hospital, which was responsible for isolation and treatment
of patients during the pandemic, to express its lofty respect to the
medical staff. In addition, the Group also made donations to the
Labour Union Committee of China Everbright Group to combat the
pandemic, send warmth and goodwill to those in need.
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The Stock Exchange’s ESG Reporting Guide

o4

BIXAC(RE  HEREARBEESIDIABTRS

Subject Areas,
Aspects,
General
Disclosure and
KPIs

FTEHR - EE
—RIEERER
BERIER

Descriptions
Haut

A. Environment RBiE

Aspect A1: Emissions BEA1 : 4

Relevant Chapter(s) or other
References/Explanations

TREGHRHEAHA

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation
of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

BRABERIORZEREBEN - M/KRTHEES - &

ENBEEEYHNELFH

(@ BEX: K&

b) WMFHBTABEATENRRER LA
BB o

General Information on: Environment
Disclosure
—RIE (@ the policies; and We do not hold relevant policy as our

operation would not cause significant
impact on air emissions, discharges
into land, and generation of hazardous
waste.

There are no laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the
Group relating to air and greenhouse
gas emissions, discharges into water
and land, and generation of hazardous
and non-hazardous waste.
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Subject Areas,
Aspects,
General
Disclosure and
KPIs

FEHE - Bm -

—RIEK R
ANER

Descriptions
Haut

Relevant Chapter(s) or other
References/Explanations

TRERHE A

KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions | Environment — Greenhouse Gas and
data. Air Emissions Management
HERU IR AR RAHE B - RE-AEREBRERENER

KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) | Environment — Greenhouse Gas and
greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where | Air Emissions Management
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production | &% —B=REE M= RHNEE
volume, per facility).
B (H8E1) kepRREE (BE2) R=ERBHMN
E (UmstHE) &k (wEf) B8 (WAgESEE
i - BIERFBFE) o

KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) | During the reporting period, the Group
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of | did not produce any hazardous waste.
production volume, per facility). RBERA - AEBLEEATAE
FREAEEEEYEE (UWEE) &k (WEA) | BESRARRNEREY -
BE (WABESBN - SHEREAE) -

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) | Environment — Resources and Waste
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of | Management
production volume, per facility). RE-BRREEYERE
FEAREEEYESE (ABETE) R (WER)
wE (WMAEBESEMN - BERETE) o

KPI A1.5 Description of emission target(s) set and steps | Environment

taken to achieve them.
WA M EEEE R RERELE
BB o

R ERER

We will continue to record our
environmental data in detail, to allow
for meaningful comparisons of data
over time.
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Subject Areas,
Aspects,
General
Disclosure and
KPIs

TEHR - EE
—RIEERER
BERIEE

KPI A1.6

Descriptions

Haut

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes are handled, and a description of reduction
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
Ml EIE R ENEEREEYN L - PG
HOREE B IR M ARE RS L B IR PTERER A P8R ©

Relevant Chapter(s) or other
References/Explanations

TREGHRHEAHSA

Environment — Resources and Waste
Management

Our daily office operations do not
involve generation of hazardous
waste. Therefore, no specific
reduction initiative is in place.
RE-BRAEDER

BB ERAETEETN S NEERE
BYINESE - Bt - BMNLEEE
TR E A SRR -

Aspect A2: Use

of Resources EMHA2 : EREH

unit of production volume, per facility).
BMEKERTE (WABEEEA - BERMER

s
= o
>t

General Policies on the efficient use of resources, including | Environment
Disclosure energy, water and other raw materials. RIE
—RIEE BRERER (BEER - KEREMERERME) 8K
% o
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type | Environment — Energy Use
(e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in ’000s) | ¥%R3% —&ER{E
and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,
per facility).
itk by E’JE&&/&F‘%‘E‘ BER (W& -~ |3
) BEE (UWTETERFAE) REE (WUE
EEBN - BIERMTE)
KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per | Environment — Water Resources

Management
RE—KEREE
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Subject Areas,
Aspects,
General
Disclosure and
KPIs

FEHE - Bm -

—RIEK R
ANER

Descriptions
Haut

Relevant Chapter(s) or other
References/Explanations

TRERHE A

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set | Environment — Energy Use
and steps taken to achieve them.
I FTET L RERE A B2 AEREL EIZ | The Group is committed to actively
FRERERHY AP 8% © exploring various energy-saving
solutions to continuously improve the
energy efficiency of its operations.
RIFE—-ERER
REBHRNEBREZZHETR - A
%‘Z TEET”_‘U\AE/]?JE/J?%KEE °
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing | Environment — Water Resources
water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) | Management
set and steps taken to achieve them.
Fe il sREGE A KR LR B R - LARFTEISZHY | Water for our office use is obtained
K e BE R AEDEL BIRATEIA PR o from municipal water supplies. There
are no associated issues regarding
water sourcing.
RIE-—KERERE
REEMAR ﬁmE’JﬁH*i’jE’X B Bt
KEHE  BMEBSERNKRLERE
B EAfERE o
KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products | Our operations do not involve the use

(in tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per
unit produced.

X mATAREMHEE (ARG
) BEESBMHGE -

) &k (@

of packaging material.
B EBUEE TS RBEMER®
}EH °
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Subject Areas,

Aspects,

General

Disclosure and

KPIs

FTEHR - EE

— i ERE®E | Descriptions
BERIEE faut

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources [EHAS3

Relevant Chapter(s) or other
References/Explanations

TREGHNHEAHA

BRRARER

General Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact

Disclosure on the environment and natural resources.

—RIXE WEBETAHRERRAERENBEATZENH
% o

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities

on the environment and natural resources and the
actions taken to manage them.

R EETHEHRERRABERNEATZERER
NERBETZENITE -

The Group’s business activities mainly
comprise office operations, which
would not cause significant impact
on the environment and natural
resources. Therefore, no relevant
policy is in place.
ERRMNEREE - RMOEBSS
ﬁHWE;TEaiR&%%é/J?LEXEK
2 o UL BV A EBECR

Aspect A4: Climate Change EHA4 : RiIz# 1t

General Policies on identification and mitigation of significant
Disclosure climate-related issues which have impacted, and
—RIFE those which may impact, the issuer.

AR EEHE LN AR E BT AEEFENEKX
RIEHESEEBCR -

Environment
IRIE

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related
issues which have impacted, and those which
may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to
manage them.

Al B R AT Re g HETAEEFENERNRIK
HAEE - RELHTH -

Environment — Greenhouse Gas
and Air Emissions Management
RE-RAERERERERER
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Subject Areas,
Aspects,
General
Disclosure and
KPIs

FTEHR - EE
—REERAR
BERIER

B. Social #&

Descriptions
Haut

Employment and Labour Practices EER% T ¥R

Relevant Chapter(s) or other
References/Explanations

TRERHE A

Aspect B1: Employment EEB1 : Ef&

General Information on: Social
Disclosure e
—RiIRE (@ the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
antidiscrimination, and other benefits and
welfare.
BT E  HREREA - TIERSZ - &RE -
FE#KE  Zalt REKUREMFERET
(@ BE: K&
(b) BEFHBEITABEAZENHBERRRD
HER} -
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type | Social — Our Employees

(for example, full-or part-time), age group and
geographical region.
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Subject Areas,

Aspects,
General
Disclosure and
KPIs
TEHE  EH - Relevant Chapter(s) or other
—RIFEFESE | Descriptions References/Explanations
BERIER autt EEEERHE M A
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and | By Gender
geographical region. Male — 7.23%; Female — 6.67%

MR - FhAR RIEE D BEBIMALE o
By Age

Under 30 years old — 28.57%; 31-40
years old — 2.27%; 41-50 years old —
6.78%; Above 50 years old — 9.09%

By Region

Chengdu — 7.52%; Hong Kong — 0%
®IERIE D

$-7.23% ; 2~ 6.67%

EERED
30B%bA - 28.57% + 31-405%-2.27%
41-505%- 6.78% : 505% A - 9.09%

RS o
K EB- 7.52% : HE- 0%
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

BE HMBRELSBS (&)

Subject Areas,
Aspects,
General
Disclosure and
KPIs

FTEHR - EE
—REERAR
BERIER

Descriptions
Haut

Aspect B2: Health and Safety BHB2 : @FHEZ 2

Relevant Chapter(s) or other
References/Explanations

TRERHE A

General Information on: Social — Health and Safety
Disclosure
—RIFE (@) the policies; and There are no laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations | Group relating to providing a safe
that have a significant impact on the | working environment and protecting
issuer relating to providing a safe working | employees from occupational
environment and protecting employees from | hazards.
occupational hazards. e -RBREEZSE
FRAREZ 2 TIEREAREEERABELES
Y AEBVEFBREHRZEZ TIERIER
REEEBEBELEENEBER
@ BXE:Kk KRG ERKERTE -
(o) BTHEHBETABEAZENEBERE LR
BB K} -
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred | Social — Health and Safety
in each of the past three years including the
reporting year. No work-related fatalities or injuries
BEA=F (BRERFE) SFRITHMHAZ K | were recorded by the Group in the
PLE o past three years.
HE-—REREZE
BE=F  AEBEWRAEMNAIC
M TS EZR -
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. During the reporting period, there
EITBEAIERS - was no lost days due to work injury
recorded by the Group.
WEBHA - AEEWRERIGEX
BWIIERS -
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety | Social — Health and Safety

measures adopted, and how they are implemented
and monitored.
M PTERA R BB E R R 21 - ARIEBEHIT

He-RERZE
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)
BE MERELRS (&)

Subject Areas,

Aspects,
General

Disclosure and

KPIs

FEHE - Bm -
—RIRERER

ANER

Descriptions
faut

Aspect B3: Development and Training BEB3 : & &iZ3

Relevant Chapter(s) or other
References/Explanations

TREGHNHEAHA

General Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and | Social — Training and Development
Disclosure skills for discharging duties at work. Description of | & — 555/ B3R
—RIEE training activities.
FARA EERITIERENAE R EEMEER
HESIEE
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender | Social — Training and Development
and employee category (e.g. senior management, | & — 5| B3R
middle management).
ZHR REERR (WERERE  HREEE)
EOoMXIEEB DL ©
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee | Social — Training and Development

by gender and employee category.
RMRIREERMNED BREETHXINTH
PR 2 -

e - EIIEER

Aspect B4: Labour Standards [EEB4 : & T %8|

General
Disclosure

—RIEE

Information on:

(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour.

BREAD b E T soa s Ta -

(@ BE: &

b) MFHBTABEATENRMER LA
BB o

Social — Welfare and Safeguards

The Group’s Employee Management
Regulation clearly stated the code
of conduct for employees to follow,
and strictly prohibit child and forced
labour.

g — R ERE

KEER (BETEIRRT) ER5IHA
BTEETNEENRE  HEET
NogHI8 T o
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

BE HMBRELSBS (&)

Subject Areas,
Aspects,
General
Disclosure and
KPIs

FTEHR - EE
—REERAR
BERIER

Descriptions
Haut

Relevant Chapter(s) or other
References/Explanations

TRERHE A

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment | Social — Welfare and Safeguards
practices to avoid child and forced labour. ' — 1N ERRE
fa i st RSB B IR e AR S T R s 45 T o

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such | Social — Welfare and Safeguards

practices when discovered.
MR IREARG AR ER G BIE NPT RIS 2

5% o

& — 18R

Operating Practices & E1&4

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management [EMHEB5 : HEH#EEE

General Policies on managing environmental and social risks | Social — Supplier Management

Disclosure of the supply chain. e —HERER

— R E EIRHLE IR Mt g EREGR

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. As of 31 December 2020, the Group

ZHEE DR HERSEE - had 8 suppliers, which were all located

in Mainland China.
EZE20205F12A31H « REEHES
EftrEr - 2 ER A A -

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging | Social — Supplier Management

suppliers, number of suppliers where the practices
are being implemented, and how they are
implemented and monitored.
HlEAERHEERNEN - mERTARENR
HERMEE - ARBBERITRERRE -

e -—HERERE
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)
BE MERELRS (&)

Subject Areas,
Aspects,
General
Disclosure and

KPIs
TEHE  EH - Relevant Chapter(s) or other
—RIFEFESE | Descriptions References/Explanations

ANER Rt TREGHRHEAHSA

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used toidentify environmental | Social — Supplier Management
and social risks along the supply chain, and how | & —{ftEFEIE

they are implemented and monitored.

A BRI EEEE ERERE It g AR
BH - ARMBERITRERGA -

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote | Social — Supplier Management
environmentally preferable products and services | #t& —{ftjER & &

when selecting suppliers, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

R ERRE R R (R 2 BIRREmMIRBHE
Bl - ARAERAMIT REER X ©
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ENVIRONMENTAL,

SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

BE HMBRELSBS (&)

Subject Areas,
Aspects,
General
Disclosure and
KPIs

FEHE - BE -

—RIEK R
ANER

Descriptions
it

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility EEB6 : ER ST

Relevant Chapter(s) or other
References/Explanations

TRER A

General Information on: Social — Health and Safety
Disclosure
—REE (@) the policies; and The Group has not identified material
concerns in its operations regarding
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations | advertising, labelling and privacy
that have a significant impact on the issuer | matters in our operation, thus a
relating to health and safety, advertising, | dedicated policy is not in place.
labelling and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided and methods | There are no laws and regulations
of redress. that have a significant impact on the
EHMMRHERMNRSHEZERELS - BEE - 1548 | Group regarding health and safety,
RFALBEE A R ER advertising, labelling and privacy
matters relating to the products and
@ BE: R services provided by the Group.
HEg-RERZR
(b)) BETFHBEITABEAZENEBERRRD
HE R} - REEWARBERMIBHREHEEE
ERLEBEENERNER - Ut -
I EARREROR -
AN E BN A B PR (2 an A AR ES HY
ERERS B SHEELEBEE
AR ERE LRI S EBRERY
% o
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject | Not applicable
to recalls for safety and health reasons. TiEA
EENEEXREMAHTRALT T EERIEHMAD
e E DL
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints | During the reporting period, the Group

received and how they are dealt with.

BRRENERKRBOIRFEE ARELETE

did not receive any service related
complaints.

WERA - NEERAEEEMER
AR EVIR R ©

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 3R
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)
BE MERELRS (&)

Subject Areas,

Aspects,
General
Disclosure and
KPIs
TEHE  EH - Relevant Chapter(s) or other
—RIFEFESE | Descriptions References/Explanations
BERIER autt EEEERHE M A
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and | Not applicable
protecting intellectual property rights. TiE M
ft B A T SRR AR ERE B D o
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall | Social — Supplier Management
procedures. e —HERER
il E ST BEREMBKIER -
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and | The Group values the privacy of our

privacy policies, and how they are implemented
and monitored.
fUE B & ERHRIE R AR -

e
BEER Tk o

AR ARBITT 2

customers, tenants and employees.
We require all employees to abide
by the Group’s policies including
the File Management Confidentiality
Agreement and Employment
Confidentiality Agreement. We will
also review the effectiveness of related
policies on a regular basis and make
amendments when appropriate to
protect the privacy of personal data.
AEBEEEP  HPREIN
[ RMERMBEEILEFTAEER
(BREEREHZE) &k (LERE
W) FEGR - W E AR A R R
YA R ROE R E B RT - REEE A
BRI -

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® YA XKEHRAF]




ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

BE HMBRELSBS (&)

Subject Areas,
Aspects,
General
Disclosure and
KPIs

FTEHR - EH
—REERAR
BERIER

Descriptions
it

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption EEB7 : RE’S

Relevant Chapter(s) or other
References/Explanations

TRER A

General Information on: Social — Anti-Corruption
Disclosure HtE-RERE
—RIEE (@ the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.
BN ILRERS - 91K - BGFROERE
a) BE: MK
b) ETFHBETABEALENHBERZRRD
BVER) o
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt | Social — Anti-Corruption
practices brought against the issuer orits employees | & — & &/&
during the reporting period and the outcomes of the
cases.
RERPAHZBITANE EERETEELENES
FARRMHE R ReFAER -
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle- | Social — Anti-Corruption
blowing procedures, and how they are implemented | & — &K &E
and monitored.
P e R BT - U RBERITRERS
V% o
KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to | Social — Anti-Corruption

directors and staff.
HiimESERE TIREMREFE -

e -RER
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)
BE MERELRS (&)

Subject Areas,

Aspects,
General

Disclosure and

KPIs

FEHE - Bm -
—RIRERER

ANER

Community &

Descriptions
faut

Relevant Chapter(s) or other
References/Explanations

TREGHNHEAHA

Aspect B8: Community Investment [EHEBS : 1 EE1E

the focus area.
EEISIEMHAER (B EH) -

General Policies on community engagement to understand | Social — Community Investment
Disclosure the needs of the communities where the issuer | & —tt[R#1E
—RIEE operates and to ensure its activities take in to
consideration the communities’ interests.
BN RBER T BEEMTEMRTEEMRERE
EBEBEEEMRNEHBER
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, | Social — Community Investment
environmental concerns, labour needs, health, | #& — &=
culture, sport).
HEIrEREE (WHE  RREH BIFER R
Bk 8F) °
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to | Social — Community Investment

HE B
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DIRECTORS REPORT
EETRS

The Board is pleased to present the annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company was incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited
liability on 2 August 2000 and transferred by way of continuation into
the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability
on 15 September 2016 under the Companies Law. The principal
activities of the Group are property leasing, provision of property
management services and sales of properties held for sale.

The activities and particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are
shown under note 1 to the consolidated financial statements. An
analysis of the Group’s revenue and operating profit for the year by
principal activities are set out on pages 7 to 16 in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report and note
5 to the consolidated financial statements.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has proposed to pay a final dividend of RMB1.92 cents
(equivalent to HK2.29 cents) per share (2019: RMB2.03 cents) for
the year ended 31 December 2020, payable to the Shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members of the Company
(the “Register of Members”) on Wednesday, 23 June 2021. Subject
to approval by the Shareholders of the payment of final dividend at
the forthcoming annual general meeting (*AGM”) of the Company
to be held on Thursday, 10 June 2021, the proposed final dividend
will be paid to the Shareholders on or about Thursday, 8 July 2021.

The proposed final dividend will be paid in Hong Kong dollars. The
exchange rate for the dividend to be paid in Hong Kong dollars is
the central parity rate of Hong Kong dollars to RMB as announced
by the People’s Bank of China (“PBOC”) on 23 March 2021.

EFEMAREFHMANKTEBRHZE2020
F12A31 B L FE 2 KEBEZFEVBEREK ©

FEEH

AKARIR2000F8 A2HEREHB RS
FMAKSZABER AR - WHR2016F9 5150
BEBCRRVE)VERSHEUNFESNTMA
BREERNTF - AEEMNTEXBKAEME
HE  REDESTEREIEEFELE
M o

ARRIMB AR 2 E B RFRIIRRER SR
BmARMET - AEBFRTEEH W R
LEMNEOMENAFRETAEF16AE
B R R i | — 8 MR A B ISR I
50

KERE

EEEEENEE2020F 12831 HILF
ERTRBBREFHRARKE1.920(HER
2.297%1ll) (2019%F : AR¥2.03%0)FR
2021F6 A23H(BH=)Z VAN RIRES
MORERBM)AORE - RIS REFREA
FRERAQABFR2021F6 A108 (£ 8
MBETHEERFBEFAS((RRAFEX
) EHE - FAMEE - ERABKRES
R202147 A8H (2 HAM ) sk 514 1A P Bk
e

BRI BB ITEN - FAETKRE
HEXRAFERARRBIT((HEARETHR
2021F3 A23 A AMRIEILH AR ER
FfEE o
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
ExgRSE(8)

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining the Shareholders’ eligibility to attend
and vote at the AGM and entitlement to the final dividend, the
Register of Members will be closed in accordance with the following
timetable:

(i)  For determining the Shareholders’ eligibility to attend and vote
at the AGM:

(@) Latest time to lodge transfer
documents for registration

4:30 pm on Friday,
4 June 2021

(b) Closure of Register
of Members

Monday, 7 June 2021 to
Thursday, 10 June 2021
(both dates inclusive)

(i) For determining entitlement to the final dividend:

(@) Latest time to lodge transfer
documents for registration

4:30 pm on Thursday,
17 June 2021

(b) Closure of Register
of Members

Friday, 18 June 2021 to
Wednesday, 23 June 2021
(both dates inclusive)

(c) Record date Wednesday, 23 June 2021

During the above closure periods, no transfer of shares will be
registered. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM,
and to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s branch share registrar, Tricor Investor Services
Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong
Kong for registration not later than the relevant latest time set out
above.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ¥ A KEBRAR
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(i) AEEWHCRERE AR -

(a) REREHBE  2021F6H17H
X AEER (25m)
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(BREEEMA)

() & HH 202146 H523H
(BH=)
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
B85 (#)

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2020 and the discussion on the Group’s future business
development are set out on pages 5 to 6 and pages 7 to 16 in
the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis”, respectively, in this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

To the best of the knowledge of the Board and the management,
the Group complied with the relevant laws and regulations which
constitutes material impact on the business and operation of the
Company and its subsidiaries in all material respects during the year
ended 31 December 2020.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to building an environmentally-friendly
corporate environment that pays close attention to conserving
natural resources. The Group strives to minimise its impact on the
environment by reducing its electricity consumption and encouraging
recycle of office supplies and other materials. For further details,
please refer to the Environmental, Social and Governance Report
set out on page 51 to 78 of this annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES FACING THE GROUP
AND KEY FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

The Group’s financial position, results and business operations may
be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties, some of which are
inherent to the Group’s business and some from external sources.

Industry Risk

The property management industry in the PRC is highly competitive
and fragmented. Competition may intensify as the Group’s competitors
expand their product or service offerings or new competitors enter
the Group’s existing or new markets. If the Group does not compete
successfully against the existing and new competitors, it may not be
able to renew its existing contracts upon expiration or fail to win the
bid for new projects.

E JE)

AREBEE2020F12A31B ILFENER
ClENEEAEERREBZENTRD
AERAFRESEEFCERFETAESE
16E M EFERE IRIERET i AT
BEA o

BFEEER

BEESREEEMM  AEEREZE
2020F 12 AB1B I FEEBTFHART KX
EMBRARSEATEANEBREEBKE
A ERABERENER -

BRERXE

AEBYNNEL —(EIERESAERD
RRBEIRIR - ARBNIGEBROAE
B N E U AR BE AR - REE
HIRIBNEE - £~ THBRL2HAFHE
BIE78EMIRE - LB LERMSE °

FEEERNEIERBR THBPERE
REEMBRRAER

AEENT BN ~ FEREHEERER
ZIHRABR M TABREZE - ERHfoRR
TIARREERSES - MEDREINEHIR

1TERER

FEMEERITEHRFBNARAOE - b
EAKETFETFRARERIRGEE K
BEEMBFEMARAKERGHIMS - B
FARER B - HAKERERINEIRA &
MSFHFHS - AAKEAEEEINRE
BRP RSB EFIAE PR o
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
ESRS(#)

Business Risk

The Group constantly faces the challenge of responding promptly
to market changes within the industry sectors it operates in. Any
failure to interpret market trends properly and adapt its strategy to
such changes accordingly may have a material adverse effect on the
Group’s financial position, results, and business operations.

Financial Risk

In the course of its business activities, the Group is exposed to
various financial risks, including market, liquidity and credit risks.

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group
are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements on
pages 210 to 221 of this annual report.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group believes that an effective management of relationships
with stakeholders is crucial to resolving issues faced by the Group.
Stakeholders hold the key to the environment in which the Group
operates and its subsequent financial and operating performance.
Thus the effective management of stakeholder relations should be
an essential focus of the Group.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the
past five financial years is set out on page 224 of this annual report.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ¥ A KEBRAR
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
B85 (#)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements on page 186 of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 23 to the consolidated financial statements
on page 200 of this annual report.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year are set out on page 112 and in note 32
to the consolidated financial statements on page 223 of this annual
report, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2020, the Company’s distributable reserves were
RMB95.0 million.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of movements in the bank and other borrowings of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in note 21 to
the consolidated financial statements on page 197 of this annual
report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2020, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association, the laws of Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in
which the Company is situated, which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

ME BERKE

AEENFANDE - BEMREBEEZEFE

FRANFRE186 B Ar A M IEMARM LS

VN

200 B #7 A A R MY 3£ 23 -

it
AEBRARRFAREBREBNOFED RIH
RAFREN2E R FE223E AP BERE
MiEE32/ o

At 2 K £ 1

R2020F12A318 » AR AW A HE DB
BEAANREISOBEETT °

BITRHEMER
HZE2020F12A31HIEFE » REBKIR

TREMEFNEDFEIARAFTERSSE
197 BER & B TERRMIRE21 -

BE HEFIEOAQATA LRSS

HZE2020F12A31BILFE - ARAISHE
EREARMEREE - HEERAQR
T L& -

BERBEER
A ERARS AR RIAERDEE RS A

EZEPIHEEMELBER G - BEX
RAERRLHIARBERE2HETEND
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
ESRS(#)

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holdings of the Company’s
securities.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

For the year ended 31 December 2020, pursuant to the Articles of
Association, every Director and other officers shall be entitled to be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company
from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they may incur or sustain in or about the execution
of the duties of their duty, or supposed duty in their respective
office or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company has arranged
appropriate insurance cover in respect of potential legal actions
against its Directors and officers.

In accordance with the provisions of Section 470 of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong), the aforesaid
approved indemnity clause for the benefit of the Directors was
effective during the financial year ended 31 December 2020 and at
the time when this Directors’ report prepared by the Directors was
adopted in accordance with Section 391(1)(a) of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong).

DIRECTORS

The Board consists of the following eight Directors during the year
ended 31 December 2020 and up to the date of this report:

Executive Directors

Mr. LIU Jia (Chairman & CEO)
Mr. LIN Zimin

Non-executive Directors

Ms. TSE Hang Mui
Mr. LI Yinzhong

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. TSOI David
Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham

Mr. LEE Jor Hung
Ms. YU Pauline Wah Ling

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ¥ A KEBRAR
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
B85 (#)

In accordance with the Articles of Association, Mr. Liu Jia, Mr. Li
Yinzhong and Mr. Shek Lai Him Abraham shall retire at the AGM.
All of the above retiring Directors, being eligible, will offer themselves
for re-election at the AGM.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Group as at the date of this annual report are set out on pages
17 to 28 in the section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior
Management” to this annual report.

INDEPENDENCE OF
DIRECTORS

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE

The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-
Executive Directors a confirmation of his/her independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all the
independent non-executive Directors are independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Directors, has entered into a service agreement/letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years commencing
from 16 January 2021 until terminated by not less than three months’
notice in writing served by either party at the end of the initial term
or any time thereafter.

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company and/
or any of its subsidiaries, which is not determinable by employing
company within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.
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COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Information regarding directors’ and chief executive officer’s
emoluments are set out in notes 9 to the consolidated financial
statements on pages 171 to 174 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2020, none of the Directors or chief executives
of the Company had any interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which was required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which is taken or deemed to
have under such provision of the SFO), or which was required to be
entered in the register referred to therein pursuant to Section 352
of the SFO, or which was otherwise required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2020, to the knowledge of the Directors, the
interest or short positions of the following persons (which are not
Directors or chief executives of the Company) in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company, which were required to disclose
to the Company pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO
or recorded in the register required to the kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

FTERRAKRG - HBEROREESE
THESRAR

R2020F 12 A31H  BEEMA - TFA
T(WIEERARBEBITHRAB)RNAEAR
AR SRR D P A IRIZE S LB R
B EXVEFZE 2 )R 35 FP /A M) 48 B 45 55 1
wmPOR B HIRIBRE H K B E 14553361578
HARGFEZERMBRITMERAA
NS SZ RS SOA R

Approximate
percentage of
Number of the Company’s

ordinary shares issued share
Name Notes Capacity interested capital (Note 1)
NI AR ERIT
FEREZCLER BAHIEIL
=1 M=z S6 ®A Gl
Lucky Link Investments Limited 2 Beneficial owner 297,900,000 67.49%
(“Lucky Link”)
HEREBRAR ( [RE] ) EmEAA
Top Charm Investments Limited 2 Beneficial owner 33,100,000 7.50%
(“Top Charm”)
BEREBRAR ( [EXE] ) ERFEAA
Capital Century Company Limited 2 Interests in controlled 331,000,000 74.99%
(“Capital Century”) corporation
B K EARAT ( [BFKF] ) R EE R
China Everbright Holdings 3 Interests in controlled 331,000,000 74.99%
Company Limited (“CE Hong Kong”) corporation
PEAAEERRLAF ( [FENEK RPEEE R
(F#) 1)
China Everbright Group 4 Interests in controlled 331,000,000 74.99%
corporation
REAEE R AR
Central Huijin Investment Ltd. 5 Interests in controlled 331,000,000 74.99%
(“Huijin) corporation
PRESKREBREEAR ( [Edg] ) RPEE R
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Notes:

(1)  Based on 441,400,000 shares of the Company (“Shares”) in issue as
at 31 December 2020.

2) Lucky Link and Top Charm directly hold approximately 67.49% and
7.50% of the total issued shares, respectively. Capital Century holds
100% shares in Lucky Link and Top Charm and is therefore deemed
to be interested in 297,900,000 and 33,100,000 shares held by Lucky
Link and Top Charm, respectively.

(3) CE Hong Kong is an indirect controlling shareholder of Lucky Link and
Top Charm. CE Hong Kong directly holds 99.997% shares in Capital
Century, 0.3% of which is held on trust for the National Administrative
Bureau of State Owned Property, and indirectly holds 0.003% shares in
Capital Century through China Everbright Holdings (Nominee) Limited.
Therefore, CE Hong Kong is deemed to be interested in 297,900,000
and 33,100,000 shares held by Lucky Link and Top Charm, respectively.

(4) China Everbright Group holds 100% shares in CE Hong Kong and is
therefore deemed to be interested in 297,900,000 and 33,100,000
shares held by Lucky Link and Top Charm, respectively.

5) Huijin is indirectly wholly-owned by the State Council of the PRC and
holds 63.16% equity interest in China Everbright Group. It is deemed
to be interested in 297,900,000 and 33,100,000 shares held by Lucky
Link and Top Charm, respectively.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, the Company
had not been notified by any persons (other than the Directors or
chief executive of the Company) who had interests or short positions
in the shares or underlying shares or debentures of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were required,
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register
referred to therein.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Apart from as disclosed under the heading “Share Option Scheme”
below, at no time during the year was the Company, its subsidiaries
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors or
their associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company
or any other body corporate.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 15 December
2017 (the “Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of providing
incentive or rewarding eligible persons (“Eligible Persons”). Eligible
Persons include director, employee, agent, consultant, business
partner, joint venture partner, supplier of goods or services or any
director or employee of such supplier, customer or any director
or employee of such customer, and person or entity that provides
research, development or other technological support or any advisory,
consultancy or professional services or any director or employee of
such entity, who has contributed or will contribute to the Group on
the basis of their contribution to the development and growth of the
Group. No share option has been granted under the Share Option
Scheme since its adoption by the Company.

The Share Option Scheme became effective on the date of the
Company'’s Listing Date and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended,
will remain in force for 10 years from the date of adoption of the Share
Option Scheme (i.e. 14 December 2027).

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options granted and to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme is 44,140,000 shares, representing 10% of the shares of
the Company in issue as at the Listing Date and as at the date
of this annual report. The maximum number of shares issuable
under share options granted to each Eligible Persons in the Share
Option Scheme (including both exercised and outstanding options)
within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue. Any grant or further grant of share options
in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a
general meeting. A grant of share options under the Share Option
Scheme to a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of
the Company, or to any of their associates, is subject to approval
in advance by the independent non-executive directors (excluding
any independent non-executive director who is the grantee of the
Share Option Scheme). In addition, any share options granted to a
substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive director of
the Company, or to any of their associates, which would result in the
shares issued and to be issued, upon exercise of all options already
granted and to be granted (including options exercised, cancelled
and outstanding), to such person in the 12-month period up to and
including the date of the grant in excess of 0.1% of the shares of
the Company in issue and with an aggregate value (based on the
closing price of the Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess
of HK$5 million, are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in
a general meeting.
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The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted on or before the
relevant acceptance date upon payment of a nominal consideration
of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share
options granted is determined by the directors, save that such a
period shall not be more than 10 years from the date of offer of the
share options and subject to the provisions for early termination as
set out in the Share Option Scheme. There is no requirement of a
minimum period for which an option must be held before it can be
exercised.

The exercise price of the share options shall be not less than the
highest of (i) the Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s
shares on the date of offer of the share options, which must be a
date on which the Stock Exchange is open for business of dealing
in securities; (i) the average Stock Exchange closing price of the
Company’s shares for the five trading days immediately before the
date of offer; and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s share as
at the date of offer.

No share options were granted during the year ended 31 December
2020 and no share options were outstanding under the Scheme as
at 31 December 2020.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group entered into the following continuing connected
transactions during the year. The directors confirmed that those
transactions have been entered into in the ordinary and usual course
of business of the Group, on normal commercial terms that are fair
and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.
As one or more applicable percentage ratios (other than the profits
ratio) as defined in Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules in respect of the
proposed annual caps for those transactions are expected to be more
than 5%, those transactions are subject to reporting, announcement,
annual review and independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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The table below sets out the annual caps and the actual transaction
amounts of those continuing connected transactions in 2020:

No.

Note:

Connected Transaction

BEXS

Lease Framework Agreement

HEER W=

Deposit Service Framework
Agreement

TR IRISHE LR 177

Loan Service Framework
Agreement

B RISIELR %

Represents the maximum daily closing balance of deposits (including

interests accrued thereon)

TREJNZEFEBREIHN20205F 2 F

ELRREBRRZ S
Actual
Annual Transaction
Connected Persons Cap Amount
BEAL FELR BERXZEH
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR%®TR
China Everbright Group and its 14,000 7,070

subsidiaries and associates

(other than the Group)

(“CEG Excluded Group”)
REEREEREMBE AR R

Bt R R(REERIN)

([FPEIRAREE (EEBEBRIN) 1)
CEG Excluded Group

PR AEE (REBRIN)
CEG Excluded Group

B KSR B (REERRIN)

GEE

46,000 (note) 22,057 (note)

(PR &E) (PR &E)
350,000 Nil
8

AN

EERERsFRER (BERFE)
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Leasing transactions

Pursuant to various existing lease agreements, the Group is currently
leasing certain premises in Ming Chang Building to CE Bank and
Everbright Securities Company Limited (“CE Securities”). As the
Group will continue to lease other Premises to members of China
Everbright Group in the course of its daily operation, the Company
and China Everbright Group entered into a new lease framework
agreement to better regulate the leasing of certain premises of the
Group (the “Premises”).

The Group entered into a lease framework agreement (the “Lease
Framework Agreement”) with China Everbright Group on 2
November 2020 for a term of 10 years commencing retrospectively
from 1 January 2020 and ending on 31 December 2029. Under the
Lease Framework Agreement, the Company shall lease and procure
members of the Group to lease the Premises to CEG Excluded
Group, and China Everbright Group shall lease and procure CEG
Excluded Group to lease the Premises during the term of the Lease
Framework Agreement. The relevant parties shall enter into separate
lease agreements to set out the specific provisions of the leasing of
Premises, and the terms and conditions of the lease agreements
shall be determined by the parties in accordance with the terms of
the Lease Framework Agreement. The term of each of the Lease
Agreements shall not exceed the term of the Lease Framework
Agreement.

The rents and other fees payable by CEG Excluded Group to the
Group under the lease agreements shall (i) be determined based on
arm’s length negotiations between CEG Excluded Group and the
Group with reference to the prevailing market rents in the places
where the Premises are located; (ii) not be lower than the rents and
other fees to be paid by other independent third parties; and (iii) be in
compliance with the rules and regulations prescribed by the relevant
rules and regulations within or outside the PRC.
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Deposits services transactions

The Group entered into a deposit service framework agreement
(“Deposit Service Framework Agreement”) with China Everbright
Group on 2 November 2020 for a term of three years commencing
retrospectively from 1 January 2020 and ending on 31 December
2022. Under the Deposit Service Framework Agreement, China
Everbright Group shall procure CE Bank to provide the deposit
services to members of the Group. The relevant parties shall enter
into separate deposit agreements to set out the specific provisions
of the deposit services, and the terms and conditions of the deposit
agreements shall be determined by the relevant parties in accordance
with the terms of the Deposit Service Framework Agreement. The
term of each of the deposit agreements shall not exceed the term
of the Deposit Service Framework Agreement.

The interest rates payable by CE Bank to the Group in respect of
the deposit services shall () be determined based on arm’s length
negotiations between CE Bank and the Group with reference to
the prevailing interest rate for similar deposit services which can be
obtained by the Group from independent third parties and on normal
commercial terms; (i) not be lower than the interest rates to be paid
by other independent third parties; and (i) be in compliance with the
rules and regulations prescribed by the PBOC and/or other relevant
rules and regulations within or outside the PRC.
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Loan Services Agreement

The Group entered into a loan service framework agreement (“Loan
Service Framework Agreement”) with China Everbright Group on
2 November 2020 for a term of five years commencing retrospectively
from 1 January 2020 and ending on 31 December 2024. Under the
Loan Service Framework Agreement, China Everbright Group shall
procure CE Bank to provide the Loan Services to members of the
Group. The relevant parties shall enter into separate loan agreements
to set out the specific provisions of the loan services, and the terms
and conditions of the loan agreements shall be determined by the
parties in accordance with the terms of the Loan Service Framework
Agreement. The term of each of the loan agreements shall not
exceed the term of the Loan Service Framework Agreement. Subject
to the terms and conditions of the loan agreements, security over the
Group’s assets and rental income received from its leasing business
may be required for the loan services. The Directors believe that it
is important for the Group to have more readily available funding for
capturing suitable investment opportunities which arise at any time,
including acquiring suitable commercial properties.

The interest rate payable by the Group to CE Bank in respect of
the Loan Services shall () be determined based on arm’s length
negotiations between CE Bank and the Group with reference to
the prevailing interest rate for similar loan services which can be
obtained by the Group from independent third parties and on normal
commercial terms; (i) not be higher than the interest rates to be
charged by other independent third parties; and (iii) be in compliance
with the rules and regulations prescribed by the PBOC and/or other
relevant rules and regulations within or outside the PRC.

China Everbright Group is a controlling shareholder of the Company
and therefore a connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules. CE Bank and CE Securities are subsidiaries of China Everbright
Group and therefore connected persons of the Company under the
Listing Rules.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ¥ A KEBRAR

BB thh

AEEHEP R KEER2020F11 528
FEHEFRBIEE G ([ ERREERT
) BYPBE2020%F1 A1 HIEE2024F12
AB1RIEAHASF - REERRBIERR
& PR AREEREEARITHAEER
KB AR EFRRY - BRI O BRI
BEBERWEUNBPERRGENEERTE -
N FEFRR] 45 1R 1B B SRR FSAE B2 1 5 O Ik 3K
ETE R RAER RGNS - SEXIHES
HR T SBEERRFIER D ZNHR - F
PRI E R &R &G - BRI AI 8
TRUAAEEEE KA EAEEBKREAE
SWAREER - BEERE - BEESZA
BV E A 2 E e AIEIRBER HIR 2 & @M E
RERB(BIEREAENERYE) g
EBMETOEE -

RS 5L S SRR TS e 1) e KR 1T S A R F
() ESERRITRANEE LR FERIL
S2RAGKEARERREGREBLE=T
ERHEUERIRGHERITHEREE - (i)
AEr i B A B 5 = 77 WEREO A =& ¢ R Giii)
BB ARRITETAO R BIRIRE R,k
Hipp BB A RIMNIEREMR R SIRE -

REDEAREBRARAIERRR - ELtR
BEEMRAAARRRNBEEATL - LKRTT
RAREBEHFRTENKREENHBERF -
IR EHAR RSN ARNEEAL -



DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
B85 (#)

The independent non-executive directors of the Company have,
for the purpose of Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, reviewed the
continuing connected transactions up to the financial year ended
31 December 2020 set out above and have confirmed that these
continuing connected transactions have been entered into by the
Group (i) in the ordinary and usual course of its business; (i) on
normal commercial terms or on terms no less favourable to the
Group than terms available to or from independent third parties; and
(i) in accordance with the terms of the agreements governing such
transactions that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Company’s auditors,
Ernst & Young, were engaged to report on the Group’s continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information and
with reference to Practice Note 740 Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules issued
by the HKICPA. Ernst & Young has issued an unqualified letter
containing its findings and conclusions in respect of continuing
connected transactions set out above in accordance with Rule
14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been
provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken by the Group
during the year are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements on pages 206 to 207 of this annual report. The Company
has complied with the applicable requirements under the Listing
Rules for those related party transactions which constituted non-
exempt connected transactions/continuing connected transactions.
Other related party transactions either did not constitute connected
transactions/continuing connected transactions or constituted
connected transactions/continuing connected transactions but
were exempted from all disclosure and independent shareholders’
approval requirements under the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions” disclosed above and note 27 to the consolidated
financial statements on pages 206 to 207 of this annual report,
no other transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance
to which the Company, its controlling shareholders, or any of its
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director
or entity(ies) connected with a Director have or had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER

China Everbright Group, the controlling shareholder of the Group,
had provided a non-competition undertaking dated 28 June 2017
(the “Non-Competition Undertaking”) in favour of the Company
pursuant to which China Everbright Group has undertaken that it will:

()  not carry on any business which directly competes with the
Group’s principal businesses;
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B85 (#)

(i

)

(iv)

through its internal control procedures, procure that its existing
or future wholly-owned subsidiaries, controlled subsidiaries
and other companies which China Everbright Group has
effective control do not directly or indirectly carry on property
investment, property leasing and property management
business in southwest region of the PRC and in the U.K.
which will substantially compete with the Group’s principal
businesses;

give priority to the Group in any new business opportunities in
relation to property investment, property leasing and property
management business in southwest region of the PRC that are
presented to the CEG Excluded Group or by any third parties,
or in the event that CEG Excluded Group proposes to transfer,
sell or otherwise dispose of any rights or interest in property
holding, property investment, property leasing and/or property
management businesses in various cities including but not
limited to Beijing, Dalian, Hong Kong, Shanghai and Shenzhen,
shall be based on equal terms; and

take appropriate measures to eliminate any substantive
competition or prevent any such potential substantive
competition.

The Company has received an annual confirmation from China
Everbright Group that it had fully complied with the terms of the Non-
Competition Undertaking in the financial year ended 31 December
2020.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
ESRS(#)

COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors are interested in any business apart from the
Group’s business which competes or is likely to compete, directly
or indirectly, with the business of the Group pursuant to Rule 8.10
of the Listing Rules during the year.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the year
had the Company or any of its subsidiaries entered into any contract
of significance with the controlling shareholders (defined under the
Listing Rules) or any of their subsidiaries, nor had any contract
of significance been entered into for the services provided by the
controlling shareholders or any of their subsidiaries to the Company
or any of its subsidiaries.

EMPLOYEES/EMOLUMENT POLICY

Details of employees/emolument policy are set out in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on page 16 of this
annual report.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group has joined a mandatory provident fund scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The MPF
Scheme is registered with the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Authority under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance.
Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are
each required to make contributions to the MPF Scheme at rates
specified in the rules. The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries
established in the PRC are members of a state-managed retirement
scheme operated by the PRC government. No forfeited contribution
under this scheme is available to reduce the contribution payable in
future years.
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PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2020, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Board, as at the date of this annual
report, the Company has maintained the public float as required
under the Listing Rules.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE COMPANY’S GLOBAL
OFFERING

Details of use of net proceeds from the Company’s global offering
during the year are set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 14 to 15 of this annual report.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its code of conduct
regarding dealings in the securities of the Company by the Directors
and the Group’s senior management who, because of his/her office
or employment, is likely to possess inside information in relation to
the Company’s securities.

Upon specific enquiry, all Directors confirmed that they have complied
with the Model Code during the year under review. In addition, the
Company is not aware of any non-compliance of the Model Code by
the senior management of the Group during the year under review.

BE BOoOxHELTEZS

HZE2020FE12A31BIEFE » AR E
TAHB ARMERE - HEXEBERART
Ef L& -

EHNRARERE

REAQAAIEGHNRAHAENRBEESH
HoRAFHREY  ARARCDKER LT

BABFE R ATHRE -

ARBREHRBEMEREFENAER

ARERARBRBEMFIRFRN AR
HBEHNAFRE14E158[ EBEN®R
DT —ED o

BEXZNEESTR

ARRIERMZETAMEREE NAKER
REEE(REREBBAEESRARQR
EFARNAREE) BEARAESFFH
1TRSFR

WRTEHE  RREFEINEEEEN
B FIETA - 1IN REBEEER -
AATERAEESREEA S P EERIE
HFA -

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 ik

2%



DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
ExgRSE(8)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board and management of the Company are committed
to maintaining good standards of corporate governance. The
Board believes that conducting business in a transparent
and responsible manner, as well as following good corporate
governance practices serve the long-term interests of the Group
and that of the Shareholders. The Company has adopted the code
provisions set out in the CG Code as its own code to govern
its corporate governance practices. The Board will continue to
review and monitor the practices of the Company with an aim to
maintaining a high standard of corporate governance.

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages
29 to 50 of this annual report.

AUDITOR

KPMG retired as auditors of the Company and Ernst & Young was
appointed as the new auditors of the Company at the last annual
general meeting held on 18 June 2020 following the retirement of
KPMG. Save as disclosed above, there was no other change in
auditors of the Company during the past three years.

Ernst & Young will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of Ernst & Young
as the auditors of the Company is to be proposed at the AGM.

On behalf of the Board

LIU Jia
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BIZHENRS

EY::

Independent auditor’s report

To the shareholders of Everbright Grand China Assets Limited
(Incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability and
transferred by way of continuation into the Cayman Islands)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Everbright
Grand China Assets Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 108 to 223, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA'’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)
BUZHEORS (8)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For the matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter

HRERER

Estimation of fair values of investment properties

REYERABEG

Investment properties are stated at fair value. The carrying
amount of investment properties as at 31 December 2020
was approximately RMB933 million. Significant judgements
and assumptions are required to determine the fair values
of the investment properties. To support management’s
determination of the fair value, the Group engaged external
valuers to perform valuations on the investment properties
at the end of the reporting period.

Related disclosures are included in notes 2.4, 3 and 14 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EEETERRNAEEZSEE

Our audit procedures included, among others,
involving our internal valuation specialists to assist us
to evaluate the assumptions and methodologies used
in the valuations. We also evaluated the objectivity,
independence and competency of the valuers, and the
reliability of other inputs adopted in the valuations. We
then assessed the Group’s disclosures of investment
properties.



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

BIUKHENRS (&)
KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued) BRERSE(E
Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BREXEE ESETERRNMEEZSE

Estimation of fair values of investment properties

REYE LA EEG
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)
BUZHEORS (8)

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the
Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in

discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

BURYHRS (&)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an auditin accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the
audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)
BUZHEORS (8)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

BURYHRS (&)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Wong Ka Wing.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

22/F CITIC Tower
1 Tim Mei Avenue
Central

Hong Kong

24 March 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

o BRmR

Year ended 31 December 2020 #;£2020F 12 431 AL F /&

Notes 2020 2019
BaE 20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBT T
REVENUE Y 5 S 51,734 71,274
Cost of services and sales PR 7% K 855 A AR (12,415) (29,830)
Gross profit EX ] 39,319 41,444
Valuation gains on investment KREVZEOHEN S
properties 14 17,229 26,392
Other income, net H e AR 6 12,363 7,951
Distribution costs D EHRCAR (1,263) (404)
Administrative expenses THRAX (20,860) (19,931)
Other operating income/(expenses) E &Iz~ (Fx) (13) 22
Profit from operations KR 46,775 55,474
Finance costs BhE AR (1,076) (1,425)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BRI RE 45,699 54,049
Income tax FriS#i 11 (11,717) (16,768)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FRFHE 33,982 37,281
Attributable to: AN & IERELS -
Equity shareholders of the Company 282 &) 5 J R 33,982 37,281
EARNINGS PER SHARE BRER
RMBO0.08 RMBO0.08
Basic and diluted EARNEE 13 AR¥0.08% AR¥0.08%
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
fmo £ BNmER

Year ended 31 December 2020 #; %2020 12 A31 AL FfE

2020 2019
20204 2020%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBT T
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FRFHE 33,982 37,281
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ Hib2mWs, (BIx)
(EXPENSE):
Other comprehensive income/(expense)  HZBiE A eEm BTN HEE
that may be reclassified to profit or loss  EaEE M2 E U, (5
in subsequent periods: x)
Exchange differences on translation of BMEREARLME ( [+
financial statements of companies Bl ) BINA R R
outside the People’s Republic of ROPE L ZE R
China (the “PRC”) (16,888) 3,610
Other comprehensive income that will HigEE T ERERSEE
not be reclassified to profit or loss B A E 2 E
in subsequent periods:
Gain on property revaluation, net of tax ~ #IEEHINES - MKRFLIE 6,554 -
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ £REM2E K~ (%)
(EXPENSE) FOR THE YEAR, » MBRBE IR
NET OF TAX (10,334) 3,610
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FREEWRERE
FOR THE YEAR 23,648 40,891
Attributable to: U FIEFEAG ¢
Equity shareholders of the Company RNA RN 23,648 40,891
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RS MEBRRR

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

Notes 2020 2019
BsE 20204 20204F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARBFIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Investment properties wEMZE 14 933,300 922,400
Property, plant and equipment Y - BRE R 15 1,647 3,857
Right-of-use assets FREEE 16 1,539 3,042
Deferred tax assets EEFRIBE B 22 1,448 1,445
Total non-current assets JEMBNE AT 937,934 930,744
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Properties held for sale FIELEME - 3,719
Trade and other receivables and B 5 K E b e W FOE K TR
prepayments kI8 17 8,061 9,680
Cash and cash equivalents ReKIAEEEY 18 217,766 201,258
Total current assets B EERRE 225,827 214,657
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBERE
Trade and other payables B 5 RHEMER IR 19 23,240 18,603
Contract liabilities BRAEE 20 1,066 934
Bank loan RITEX 21 7,000 6,500
Lease liabilities HeEalE 16 1,363 1,394
Tax payable e TR 5,397 2,952
Total current liabilities ME) B EEEE 38,066 30,383
NET CURRENT ASSETS MEEEFEE 187,761 184,274
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EE#ZERABAR
LIABILITIES 1,125,695 1,115,018
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)
mEeMBERRRK (#)

31 December 2020 2020912 H31H

Notes 2020 2019
BsE 20204 20204F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBFIT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBAE
Bank loan IRITER 21 7,000 14,000
Lease liabilities HEARE 16 232 1,699
Deferred tax liabilities BETIBAE 22 183,820 179,373
Total non-current liabilities JEREN A B 191,052 195,072
Net assets BEEFHE 934,643 919,946
EQUITY s
Share capital fgZs 23 345,042 345,042
Reserves 1 24 589,601 574,904
Total equity FESAAE 934,643 919,946
Liu Jia Tse Hang Mui
8= HEN
Director Director
2 S
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
fno Em B ER

Year ended 31 December 2020 #;£2020F 12 431 AL F /&

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
KAAEERRELS
PRC

Share Share  Capital Statutory Exchange Fair value Retained Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve  profits equity

hEEE NMEE
ke RGEE EXGEE R NERE i RENE  AER
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%  AR%  ARE®  AR® AR® AR% AR¥® AR%
r i r r r i r r

At 1 January 2019 R2019%1A1H 345,042 45,063 81,796 4,047 (33,870) - 436,977 879,055
Profit for the year ERHE - - - = = - 37281 37281
Other comprehensive income FREMEERE :
for the year:
Exchange differences on translation B EHEEIMAF]
of financial statements of FBaRNER
companies outside the PRC =5 - - - - 3,610 - = 3,610
Total comprehensive income for ENZEYRER
the year - - - - 3,610 - 37,281 40,891
Transfer to reserve BRELE - - - 1,020 = - (1,020 =
At 31 December 2019 and H2019F12A318 K
1 January 2020 2020%181H 345,042  45,063" 81,796 5,067  (30,260)* -t 473,238 919,946
Profit for the year ERFIH - - - - - - 33982 33982
Other comprehensive income/(expense) FRE 2 E Uz /
for the year: (fAx) :
Exchange differences on translation & FEIEIMAA]
of financial statements of HBRRNER
companies outside the PRC | - - - - (16,888) - - (16,888
Gain on property revaluation, mESE - M
net of tax BE - - - - - 6554 - 6554
Total comprehensive income for ER2ENEES
the year - - - - (16,388) 6,554 33,982 23,648
Final 2019 dividend 2019FRERE = - - - - - (8,951) (8,951)
Transfer to reserve BREREE - - - 1,561 = - (1,561) =
At 31 December 2020 12020F12731 1 345,042 45,063 81,796 6,628"  (47,148)" 6,554 496,708 934,643
# These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of  * ZERBEESE2020F12A31 BG4 81
RMB589,601,000 (2019: RMB574,904,000) in the consolidated Bk R KPP HGZEE FHEARES89,601,000
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020. TT(20194 : AR¥574,904,0007T) ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RO REMER

Year ended 31 December 2020 #; %2020 12 A31 AL FfE

Notes 2020 2019
{5z 20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBT T
CASH FLOWS FROM RETHHRERE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax WA AE 45,699 54,049
Adjustments for: AT BELFE -
Fair value gains on investment KEMEN AR BE
properties g 14 (17,229) (26,392)
Depreciation of property, plant Y - BEREETE
and equipment 8 253 373
Depreciation of right-of-use assets f& FE&ETE 8 1,404 1,150
Finance costs BhE R AR 7 1,076 1,425
Interest income FEUA 6 (2,811) (2,585)
Net foreign exchange gains B 3 W) F R (8,226) (170)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of HEREMENEE,
investment properties (M) 8 (2,270) 941
Write-off of property, plant WEEMZE - BE RS
and equipment 8 204 -
Impairment/(write-back of S RWGRIBRIE,
impairment) of trade receivables ORERE) 8 12 (47)
18,112 28,744
Decrease in properties held for sale #FH{EHE MR - 15,564
Decrease/(increase) in trade and B 5 RHEMEWGRIE R TE
other receivables and prepayments {EERA (3E0) 1,607 (1,084)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and B 5 N H At JE < 5RIBIE AN
other payables / CRA) 4,679 (4,246)
Increase/(decrease) in contract BHEEEN, OBd)
liabilities 132 (3,771)
Cash generated from operations LESIR® 24,530 35,207
Dividend paid AR S (8,951) -
Taxes paid EfHIE
PRC Corporate Income Tax BB EAEH
(“CIT”) paid ( TEFRMSE] ) (5,195) (6,806)
PRC Land Appreciation Tax B AT B T 3G (A
(“LAT”) paid ( [ ER] ) (1,818) (1,157)
NET CASH FLOWS FROM RETHREREFHE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 8,566 27,244
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

rEREMNER(E)

Year ended 31 December 2020 #;£2020F 12 431 AL F /&

Notes 2020 2019
BaE 20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREET T
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING BR&EZHEERE
ACTIVITIES
Payment for the purchase of BEWE  BEREBEX
property, plant and equipment T HIFRIB (46) (2,325)
Payment for the purchase of BEREMFEZ(TRIFRIE
investment properties (3,152) -
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE « HE LR ER
plant and equipment RSeS| - 49
Proceeds from disposal of HEREYEMSHKIE
investment properties 25,970 -
Interest received B UF & 2,811 2,585
NET CASH FLOWS FROM RETHREREFH
INVESTING ACTIVITIES 25,583 309
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING Bi&EERERE
ACTIVITIES
Capital element of lease rentals paid B ER & EAKIL D (1,399) (1,120)
Interest element of lease rentals paid 2 & & | 8555 (98) (122)
Repayment of a bank loan BEIETER 25 (b) (6,500) (6,000)
Interest paid BEfHE 25 (b) (985) (1,310)
Payment of listing expenses S EmAX 25 (b) - (2,857)
NET CASH FLOWS USED IN RETHMARSRE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES HE (8,982) (11,409)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND BERBESEEWEM
CASH EQUIVALENTS g 25,167 16,144
Cash and cash equivalents at FYR e KRS FEY
beginning of year 201,258 181,311
Effect of foreign exchange rate SN [ 2= B B ) s B VR FE
changes, net (8,659) 3,803
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS £FXIRERREEEY
AT END OF YEAR 217,766 201,258
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES ReRBREEEYEE
OF CASH AND CASH g
EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances as stated 454 M #SAA R IIREIIR
in the consolidated statement of & K&IRTTHE
financial position 18 217,766 201,258

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® YA KEHBRAF



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BRI 5

31 December 2020 2020%12H31H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited (the “Company”) is
a limited liability company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands (the “BVI”) and transferred by way of continuation into
the Cayman Islands. The registered address of the Company
is P.O. Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104,
Cayman lIslands and the principal place of business in Hong
Kong is located at Room 1302, 13th Floor, Bank of East Asia
Harbour View Centre, 56 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong
Kong.

During the year, the principal activities of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) were
property leasing, the provision of property management services
and the sale of properties held for sale.

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate holding company
and the ultimate holding company of the Company are Lucky
Link Investments Limited and China Investment Corporation,
which are incorporated in the BVI and the PRC, respectively.

AAREEER

HRKFAERAB(IARA ] A—
MR ABHERRAHS((REBER R
S DFMAIAFE R N ERS R
SEMONBR AR - AR AR
#1F &P.O. Box 309, Ugland House,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman
Islands R R BB E B L HE IR
BB ETE LT B0 R iR T8 &
F013E1302E o

FA - ARERENE R R (FEMHE A
SEDNIEIBAMERE - 2H
YEEERSMIHERELEDE -

EERR  ARAHERERARR
REERAPREERERRRAE R
FEKRERREEAA - HAIREE
MR RELS NP B M AL o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
fo MR &t (48 )

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. 2FREEER(E)
(continued)
Information about subsidiaries MEBARNER
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as RAREBWBRARIMFEBLT -
follows:
Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration paid-up equity attributable
Name and business share capital to the Company Principal activities
HaL A BRTEE/ NG 3
28 B ES Sk BRRE BEESL EEER
Direct Indirect
B R
Growing China Limited BVI US$50,000 100 - Investment holding
Growing China Limited HEEARHS 50,0005 7T 100 - REZR
Brighter Win Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100  Property leasing
pi &1 YN BA 10,000/ 7 - 100 YW#EHE
Chengdu Everbright Finance Centre PRC/Mainland China HK$39,250,000 - 100  Property leasing
Development Co., Ltd.”
REBEASRPOEBREERAF  FE/ i 39,250,000/ 7T - 100 ##HE
Chengdu Everbright International PRC/Mainland China RMB75,310,900 - 100  Property leasing and
Mansion Co., Ltd.* property management
MEKABIRAEER AR /A, AR¥75,310,9007 - 100 YERERMEER
Chengdu Everbright Property PRC/Mainland China RMB1,023,972 - 100  Property management
Management Co., Ltd*
KEBRARDEERBR A hEl/ i, AR#1,0239727T - 100 MEER
Chengdu Sing Kong City Real PRC/Mainland China RMB30,000,000 - 100  Property development
Estate Co., Ltd.* and property leasing
REFAEREEBERAF e/ A AR#30,000,0007T - 100 WERERMERS
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBERMEE (&)

31 December 2020 2020%12H31H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. QAEREEEFR(E)

(continued)

MEBLRNER (&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

ARREENBLTNEBOT  (B)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration paid-up  equity attributable
Name and business share capital to the Company Principal activities
B AT BRTLE/ NG 3
28 BALSES Sk BRBRE BREANL FEERK
Direct Indirect
B B
Everbright Grand China Assets Hong Kong HK$10,000 = 100  Investment holding
Management Limited
HAKEEEERERA B 10,0008 7T - 100 ®EHERK
Excel Harmony Investments Limited BVI US$10,000 - 100 Investment holding
Excel Harmony Investments Limited ~ RBABRES 10,000% T - 100 REER
First Step Corporation Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100  Investment holding
BRBRAT B 10,0008 7T - 100 REHERK
Metallic Field Limited BVI US$1 - 100  Investment holding
EENERRAT EBRRRES (ET - 100 REZRK
Square Field Limited BVI US$50,000 - 100  Investment holding
HEBRAF] EEERRES 50,000% 7T - 100 REZK
RBRARKEFREREESER PRC/Mainland China - - 100  Dormant
BRAR!
AR K EREREESER hE/ i - - 100 KR
AR AR
# These companies were registered as wholly foreign-owned # ZERNRRBEFREEETAMRINGE
enterprises under the law of the PRC. B o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
fo MR &t (48 )

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
(which include all HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They
have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for investment properties which have been measured at
fair value. These financial statements are presented in Renminbi
(“RMB”) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2020. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® YA KEHBRAF

2.1
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

M B EE ()

31 December 2020 2020%12H31H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)
(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

2.1

B (M
HAE%E(K)

(b) EMAHRHFRELHER &
© FEENREREREEREME -

B /8 2 ) B B 75 SR 5% B A 2 A Y B R
HIEAR - XEBEB—HHEK
RiRE - MBRARAMNFEBAEEE
FIEFIEAREARS AR X —EHER
ABAREEGMIEHIRKIEERSILE -

B M EA 2 E RS S EKE D R
BRAEESARHEAR A RIEERE
7@ IR ESEBERREEELR
BRE - MARBARRIRNEER
BE - #m - A XERRERE
BRERRIZCERZEBNRERE
B IR B RRBUEE -

i B R B0 IR R b STt = TR %
BEZET-—HEHZEAE @ BIAE
EesHELMAZHREHR -
BRI RAEERNEE (W EAET
BN AREIIF DR S -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
fo MR &t (48 )

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

2.1

2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii)
the fair value of any investment retained and (i) any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2018 and the following revised HKFRSs for the first
time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8

Definition of a Business

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform

Definition of Material

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® YA KEHBRAF
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

fe B MR b &t (#8)

31 December 2020 2020%12H31H

22 CHANGES

IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (continued)

The nature and the impact of the Conceptual Framework
for Financial Reporting 2018 and the revised HKFRSs are
described below:

)

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 (the
“Conceptual Framework”) sets out a comprehensive set of
concepts for financial reporting and standard setting, and
provides guidance for preparers of financial statements in
developing consistent accounting policies and assistance
to all parties to understand and interpret the standards.
The Conceptual Framework includes new chapters on
measurement and reporting financial performance, new
guidance on the derecognition of assets and liabilities,
and updated definitions and recognition criteria for assets
and liabilities. It also clarifies the roles of stewardship,
prudence and measurement uncertainty in financial
reporting. The Conceptual Framework is not a standard,
and none of the concepts contained therein override the
concepts or requirements in any standard. The Conceptual
Framework did not have any significant impact on the
financial position and performance of the Group.

2.2 B BRERBRENEH (H)

2018 F M SR & MBS AE R AR IERT
(BEEMBREEADZEERZES
BREAR

(@)

2018F R & IS AER ([ HE
BIER D EF —E 2 B TR
SRS ERHE - S RI TR
TR BABE B BORE
i85 - WENET TR L RER
o ZMSERBEARITER
BEMHRANHELS BAK
IFEREENMBERFES - A
REEFBBNENER RHER
BRE -ENBEVHERETE
B BEMIETHEEZRNA
B o ZBRERALIFFZAE - AP
PREUEL S 8% B PME IR £ 1)
B RE 2 £ - BSERLE
HAEE W BARKRBAELE
EREATE -

o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
fo MR &t (48 )

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

22 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b)  Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide additional
guidance on the definition of a business. The amendments
clarify that for an integrated set of activities and assets to
be considered a business, it must include, at a minimum,
an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create output. A
business can exist without including all of the inputs and
processes needed to create outputs. The amendments
remove the assessment of whether market participants
are capable of acquiring the business and continue to
produce outputs. Instead, the focus is on whether acquired
inputs and acquired substantive processes together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The
amendments have also narrowed the definition of outputs
to focus on goods or services provided to customers,
investment income or other income from ordinary
activities. Furthermore, the amendments provide guidance
to assess whether an acquired process is substantive
and introduce an optional fair value concentration test to
permit a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set
of activities and assets is not a business. The Group has
applied the amendments prospectively to transactions or
other events that occurred on or after 1 January 2020.
The amendments did not have any impact on the financial
position and performance of the Group.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® YA KEHBRAF
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

M B EE ()

31 December 2020 2020%12H31H

22 CHANGES

IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (continued)

()

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 address
issues affecting financial reporting in the period before the
replacement of an existing interest rate benchmark with
an alternative risk-free rate (“RFR”). The amendments
provide temporary reliefs which enable hedge accounting
to continue during the period of uncertainty before the
introduction of the alternative RFR. In addition, the
amendments require companies to provide additional
information to investors about their hedging relationships
which are directly affected by these uncertainties. The
amendments did not have any impact on the financial
position and performance of the Group as the Group does
not have any interest rate hedging relationships.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a new
definition of material. The new definition states that
information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring
it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions that
the primary users of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements. The
amendments clarify that materiality will depend on
the nature or magnitude of information, or both. The
amendments did not have any significant impact on the
financial position and performance of the Group.

2.2 B BRRERBRENEEH (H)

(©
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
fo MR &t (48 )

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

23

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in

23 EMMEMKRERNEBYBRSE

Al

AEERARZERBHRIEAAT
B R B i R EBEVHTR] RAEERT &

these financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3
(ERMBmELR]) £35% (BFIX)
Amendments to HKFRS 9,HKAS 39,
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

(BAMBREER]) £95% - (FASTE
A) 395k - (BBMHHEEA) F75%

(BBUBImELER) B4HR
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Amendments to HKFRS 10 and

HKAS 28 (2011)

(BBUEESEL) S10%R (Bhaie

BI) 2285 (20114F) (IBFIA)
Amendment to HKFRS 16
(ERMBmELD]) F165% (BFIA)
HKFRS 17
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Amendments to HKFRS 17

(BB BmERER) £175% (BFTAX)
Amendments to HKAS 1
(BEBEHER) F157 (BE]A)
Amendments to HKAS 16
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Amendments to HKAS 37
(BAEER]) F375% (BEIA)
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018 - 2020
(BB S HEER) 2018F E2020F 1)
FZ U
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

MBERMEE (&)

31 December 2020 2020912 H31H

23

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

1

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

As a consequence of the amendments to HKAS 1, Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause was revised in October 2020 to
align the corresponding wording with no change in conclusion
As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in
October 2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary
exemption that permits insurers to apply HKAS 39 rather than
HKFRS 9 for annual periods beginning before 1 January 2023
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
fo MR &t (48 )

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

23

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to
be applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 are intended to replace a reference
to the previous Framework for the Preparation and Presentation
of Financial Statements with a reference to the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting issued in June 2018 without
significantly changing its requirements. The amendments also
add to HKFRS 3 an exception to its recognition principle for
an entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework to determine
what constitutes an asset or a liability. The exception specifies
that, for liabilities and contingent liabilities that would be within
the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 if they were incurred
separately rather than assumed in a business combination, an
entity applying HKFRS 3 should refer to HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-
Int 21 respectively instead of the Conceptual Framework.
Furthermore, the amendments clarify that contingent assets
do not qualify for recognition at the acquisition date. The
Group expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1
January 2022. Since the amendments apply prospectively to
business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or
after the date of first application, the Group will not be affected
by these amendments on the date of transition.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

M B EE ()

31 December 2020 2020%12H31H

23

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4
and HKFRS 16 address issues not dealt with in the previous
amendments which affect financial reporting when an existing
interest rate benchmark is replaced with an alternative RFR. The
Phase 2 amendments provide a practical expedient to allow
the effective interest rate to be updated without adjusting the
carrying amount when accounting for changes in the basis for
determining the contractual cash flows of financial assets and
liabilities, if the change is a direct consequence of the interest
rate benchmark reform and the new basis for determining
the contractual cash flows is economically equivalent to the
previous basis immediately preceding the change. In addition,
the amendments permit changes required by the interest
rate benchmark reform to be made to hedge designations
and hedge documentation without the hedging relationship
being discontinued. Any gains or losses that could arise on
transition are dealt with through the normal requirements of
HKFRS 9 to measure and recognise hedge ineffectiveness.
The amendments also provide a temporary relief to entities
from having to meet the separately identifiable requirement
when an RFR is designated as a risk component. The relief
allows an entity, upon designation of the hedge, to assume
that the separately identifiable requirement is met, provided
the entity reasonably expects the RFR risk component to
become separately identifiable within the next 24 months.
Furthermore, the amendments require an entity to disclose
additional information to enable users of financial statements
to understand the effect of interest rate benchmark reform on
an entity’s financial instruments and risk management strategy.
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2021 and shall be applied retrospectively, but
entities are not required to restate the comparative information.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
fo MR &t (48 )

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

23

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

The Group had interest-bearing bank borrowings denominated
in RMB based on the RMB Loan Prime Rate (“LPR”) published
by National Interbank Funding Centre as at 31 December
2020. If the interest rates of these borrowings are replaced
by RFRs in a future period, the Group will apply this practical
expedient upon the modification of these borrowings when
the “economically equivalent” criterion is met and expects that
no significant modification gain or loss will arise as a result of
applying the amendments to these changes.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and
in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture.
The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss
when the sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For a
transaction involving assets that do not constitute a business,
a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in
the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous
mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January 2016
and a new mandatory effective date will be determined after
the completion of a broader review of accounting for associates
and joint ventures. However, the amendments are available for
adoption now.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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31 December 2020 2020%12H31H

23

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendment to HKFRS 16 provides a practical expedient for
lessees to elect not to apply lease modification accounting
for rent concessions arising as a direct consequence of the
COVID-19 pandemic. The practical expedient applies only to
rent concessions occurring as a direct consequence of the
pandemic and only if (i) the change in lease payments results in
revised consideration for the lease that is substantially the same
as, or less than, the consideration for the lease immediately
preceding the change; (i) any reduction in lease payments
affects only payments originally due on or before 30 June
2021; and (i) there is no substantive change to other terms
and conditions of the lease. The amendment is effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020 with earlier
application permitted and shall be applied retrospectively. The
amendment is not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments specify
that if an entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability is subject
to the entity complying with specified conditions, the entity
has a right to defer settlement of the liability at the end of the
reporting period if it complies with those conditions at that date.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the
entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of the liability.
The amendments also clarify the situations that are considered
a settlement of a liability. The amendments are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and shall
be applied retrospectively. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
fo MR &t (48 )

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

23

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting
from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
any proceeds from selling items produced while bringing that
asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds from selling any
such items, and the cost of those items, in profit or loss. The
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2022 and shall be applied retrospectively only
to items of property, plant and equipment made available for
use on or after the beginning of the earliest period presented
in the financial statements in which the entity first applies the
amendments. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of
assessing whether a contract is onerous under HKAS 37, the
cost of fulfilling the contract comprises the costs that relate
directly to the contract. Costs that relate directly to a contract
include both the incremental costs of fulfilling that contract (e.g.,
direct labour and materials) and an allocation of other costs that
relate directly to fulfilling that contract (e.g., an allocation of the
depreciation charge for an item of property, plant and equipment
used in fulfilling the contract as well as contract management
and supervision costs). General and administrative costs do not
relate directly to a contract and are excluded unless they are
explicitly chargeable to the counterparty under the contract.
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2022 and shall be applied to contracts
for which an entity has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at
the beginning of the annual reporting period in which it first
applies the amendments. Earlier application is permitted. Any
cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments shall
be recognised as an adjustment to the opening equity at the
date of initial application without restating the comparative
information.The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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23

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out
amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41. Details of the
amendments that are expected to be applicable to the Group
are as follows:

o HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that an
entity includes when assessing whether the terms of a
new or modified financial liability are substantially different
from the terms of the original financial liability. These fees
include only those paid or received between the borrower
and the lender, including fees paid or received by either
the borrower or lender on the other’s behalf. An entity
applies the amendment to financial liabilities that are
modified or exchanged on or after the beginning of the
annual reporting period in which the entity first applies
the amendment. The amendment is effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendment is not expected
to have a significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

o HKFRS 16 Leases: removes the illustration of payments
from the lessor relating to leasehold improvements in
lllustrative Example 13 accompanying HKFRS 16. This
removes potential confusion regarding the treatment of
lease incentives when applying HKFRS 16.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
fo MR &t (48 )

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANTACCOUNTINGPOLICIES
Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties at fair value at
the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the
liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset
or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal
or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the
Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using
the assumptions that market participants would use when
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants
act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

fe B MR b &t (#8)

31 December 2020 2020%12H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANTACCOUNTINGPOLICIES

(continued)
Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as
a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the
end of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
fo MR &t (48 )

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OFSIGNIFICANTACCOUNTINGPOLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
properties held for sale, deferred tax assets, financial assets
and investment properties), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets,
in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of
an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in
those expense categories consistent with the function of the
impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which
it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in
which case the reversal of the impairment loss is accounted
for in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that
revalued asset.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

fe B MR b &t (#8)

31 December 2020 2020%12H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANTACCOUNTINGPOLICIES
(continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person
(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group.

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary
of the other entity);

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

(vij the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
fo MR &t (48 )

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OFSIGNIFICANTACCOUNTINGPOLICIES
(continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies: (continued)

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity);
and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended
use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit or
loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as
a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replace at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful
lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

fe B MR b &t (#8)

31 December 2020 2020%12H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANTACCOUNTINGPOLICIES
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life as follows:

Buildings situated
on leasehold land

HELHZ FHET

2.4 EREHBEME(H)
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Over the shorter of

the lease terms and their estimated useful lives, being no more
than 50 years after the date of completion

HEMEAGHEAFHcBEE - MNBEBTHK B BIEE50F

Equipment and others

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

2 to 20 years with
residual value of 3% to 10%
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
fo MR &t (48 )

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OFSIGNIFICANTACCOUNTINGPOLICIES
(continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties areinterestsinland and buildings (including
the leasehold property held as a right-of-use asset which would
otherwise meet the definition of an investment property) held to
earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than
for use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course
of business. Such properties are measured initially at cost,
including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects
market conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the statement of profit or
loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the statement of profit
or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied
properties or inventories, the deemed cost of a property for
subsequent accounting is its fair value at the date of change in
use. If a property occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied
property becomes an investment property, the Group accounts
for such property in accordance with the policy stated under
“Property, plant and equipment and depreciation” for owned
property and/or accounts for such property in accordance with
the policy stated under “Right-of-use assets” for property held
as a right-of-use asset up to the date of change in use, and
any difference at that date between the carrying amount and
the fair value of the property is accounted for as a revaluation
in accordance with the policy stated under “Property, plant
and equipment and depreciation” above. For a transfer from
properties held for sale to investment properties, any difference
between the fair value of the property at that date and its
previous carrying amount is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

M B EE ()

31 December 2020 2020%12H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANTACCOUNTINGPOLICIES

(continued)
Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost includes all development expenditure,
applicable borrowing costs and other direct costs attributable
to such properties. Cost is determined by an apportionment
of the total costs of land and buildings attributable to unsold
properties. Net realisable value is determined by the directors
based on the prevailing market prices on an individual property
basis less cost to be incurred in selling the property.

For a transfer from an item of property held for sale to investment
property that will be carried at fair value as its use has changed
as evidenced by commencement of an operating lease, any
difference between the fair value of the property at that date
and its previous carrying amount shall be recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
fo MR &t (48 )

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANTACCOUNTINGPOLICIES

(continued)
Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset
is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated
useful lives of the assets as follows:
Building 3 years
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.

When the right-of-use assets relate to interests in
leasehold land held as properties held for sale, they are
subsequently measured at the lower of cost and net
realisable value in accordance with the Group’s policy
for “properties held for sale". When a right-of-use asset
meets the definition of investment property, it is included
in investment properties. The corresponding right-of-
use asset is initially measured at cost, and subsequently
measured at fair value, in accordance with the Group’s
policy for “investment properties".
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B EE ()

31 December 2020 2020%12H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OFSIGNIFICANTACCOUNTINGPOLICIES 2.4 EASBREME (&)
(continued)

Leases (continued) HE (&)
Group as a lessee (continued) AEBEREEA (B
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HERME

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments to
be made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees.
The lease payments also include the exercise price of a
purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by
the Group and payments of penalties for termination of
a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising
the option to terminate the lease. The variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as an expense in the period in which the event
or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change
in assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
fo MR &t (48 )

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OFSIGNIFICANTACCOUNTINGPOLICIES
(continued)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases (that is those leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option). It also applies the recognition exemption for
leases of low-value assets.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception
(or when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as
either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset
are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains
lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for
on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in
revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating
nature. Initial direct cost incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same
basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as
revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards

incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are
accounted for as finance leases.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

M B EE ()

31 December 2020 2020%12H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANTACCOUNTINGPOLICIES

(continued)
Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or
loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics
and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the
exception of trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group initially measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus in the case of a financial asset
not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs.
Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient are measured at the transaction price determined
under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are
not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit
or loss, irrespective of the business model.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
fo MR &t (48 )

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OFSIGNIFICANTACCOUNTINGPOLICIES
(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate
cash flows. The business model determines whether cash
flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling
the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and
measured at amortised cost are held within a business model
with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified and
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
are held within a business model with the objective of both
holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial
assets which are not held within the aforementioned business
models are classified and measured at fair value through profit
or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.

Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

M B EE ()

31 December 2020 2020%12H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANTACCOUNTINGPOLICIES

(continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either
(@) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk
and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
fo MR &t (48 )

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OFSIGNIFICANTACCOUNTINGPOLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLS”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral
to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the next
12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective
of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition. When making the assessment,
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

M B EE ()

31 December 2020 2020%12H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANTACCOUNTINGPOLICIES

(continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases,
the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default
when internal or external information indicates that the Group
is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in
full before taking into account any credit enhancements held
by the Group.

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
fo MR &t (48 )

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OFSIGNIFICANTACCOUNTINGPOLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track
changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables that contain a significant financing
component and lease receivables, the Group chooses as its
accounting policy to adopt the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs with policies as described above.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans
and borrowings and payables.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

fe B MR b &t (#8)

31 December 2020 2020%12H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANTACCOUNTINGPOLICIES

(continued)
Financial liabilities (continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and
borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or
to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
fo MR &t (48 )

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OFSIGNIFICANTACCOUNTINGPOLICIES
(continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, that are readily convertible into known amounts of
cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
and have a short maturity of generally within three months when
acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, which are not restricted
as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in the statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

M B EE ()

31 December 2020 2020%12H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANTACCOUNTINGPOLICIES

(continued)
Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at
the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
fo MR &t (48 )

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OFSIGNIFICANTACCOUNTINGPOLICIES
(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can
be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

M B EE ()

31 December 2020 2020%12H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANTACCOUNTINGPOLICIES

(continued)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and
only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or
different taxable entities which intend either to settle current
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities and
deferred tax assets for investment properties that are measured
using the fair value model in accordance with HKAS 40
Investment Property, the carrying amounts of such properties
are presumed to be recovered through sale, unless the
presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when
the investment property is depreciable and is held within a
business model of the Group whose business objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in
the investment property over time, rather than through sale. If
the presumption is rebutted, deferred tax liabilities and deferred
tax assets for such investment properties are measured in
accordance with the above general principles set out in HKAS
12 (i.e., based on the expected manner as to how the properties
will be recovered).

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on
a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for which it
is intended to compensate, are expensed.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
fo MR &t (48 )

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OFSIGNIFICANTACCOUNTINGPOLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods and
services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable consideration
is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it
is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when
the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate that
would be reflected in a separate financing transaction between
the Group and the customer at contract inception. When the
contract contains a financing component which provides the
Group a significant financial benefit for more than one year,
revenue recognised under the contract includes the interest
expense accreted on the contract liability under the effective
interest method. For a contract where the period between the
payment by the customer and the transfer of the promised
goods or services is one year or less, the transaction price is not
adjusted for the effects of a significant financing component,
using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

M B EE ()

31 December 2020 2020%12H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANTACCOUNTINGPOLICIES

(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(a) Property management services

Revenue from the provision of property management
services is recognised over the scheduled period on a
straight-line basis because the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the
Group.

(b) Sale of properties held for sale

Revenue from the sale of properties held for sale is
recognised at the point in time when control of the asset is
transferred to the customer, generally when the customer
obtains the physical possession or the legal title of the
completed property and the Group has a present right
to payment and the collection of the consideration is
probable.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting
period in which they are incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
fo MR &t (48 )

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OFSIGNIFICANTACCOUNTINGPOLICIES
(continued)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or
a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before
the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract
liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e., transfer control of the related goods or
services to the customer).

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other
costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of
funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

M B EE ()

31 December 2020 2020%12H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANTACCOUNTINGPOLICIES

(continued)
Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its
employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged
to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of
the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed
into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of its
payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions
are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the
Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and
when the Group recognises restructuring costs involving the
payment of termination benefits.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
fo MR &t (48 )

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OFSIGNIFICANTACCOUNTINGPOLICIES
(continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB, which is the
Company’s presentation currency. The functional currency of
the Company is the Hong Kong dollar which is the currency of
the primary environment in which the Company operates. Since
the Company does not conduct any substantive operations of
its own and conducts its primary business operations through
its subsidiaries in Mainland China, the Company adopts RMB
as the presentation currency of the Group. Each entity in
the Group determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity are measured
using that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions
recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using
their respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates
of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Differences on settlement or translation of monetary items are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss with the exception
of monetary items that are designated as part of the hedge
of the Group’s net investment of a foreign operation. These
are recognised in other comprehensive income until the net
investment is disposed of, at which time the cumulative amount
is reclassified to the statement of profit or loss. Tax charges and
credits attributable to exchange differences on those monetary
items are also recorded in other comprehensive income.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® YA KEHBRAF
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

M B EE ()

31 December 2020 2020%12H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANTACCOUNTINGPOLICIES

(continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-
monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the
recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item
(i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or
loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit
or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an
advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date
on which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability arising from the advance consideration.
If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of
the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of the Company and certain
subsidiaries operating outside Mainland China are currencies
other than RMB. As at the end of the reporting period, the
assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into RMB at
the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period
and their statements of profit or loss are translated into RMB at
the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

2.4 EREHBEBE(H)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
fo MR &t (48 )

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OFSIGNIFICANTACCOUNTINGPOLICIES
(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
reserve. On disposal of an operation outside Mainland China,
the component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of
profit of loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of the Company and its subsidiaries operating
outside Mainland China are translated into RMB at the exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring
cash flows of the Company and its subsidiaries operating
outside Mainland China which arise throughout the year are
translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates
for the year.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

M B EE ()

31 December 2020 2020%12H31H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Property lease classification - Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on
its investment property portfolio. The Group has determined,
based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the
arrangements, such as the lease term not constituting a major
part of the economic life of the commercial property and the
present value of the minimum lease payments not amounting
to substantially all the fair value of the commercial property,
that it retains substantially all the significant risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of these properties which are leased out
and accounts for the contracts as operating leases.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Provision for ECLs on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due.
The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information. At each reporting date, the historical observed
default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking
estimates are analysed.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
fo MR &t (48 )

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Provision for ECLs on trade receivables (continued)

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is
a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast
of economic conditions may also not be representative of a
customer’s actual default in the future. The information about
the ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in note
17 to the financial statements.

Estimation of fair values of investment properties

As described in note 14 to the financial statements, the
Group’s investment properties were revalued at the end of
the reporting period based on the appraised market value
provided by independent firms of valuers. Such valuations
were based on certain assumptions, which are subject to
uncertainty and might materially differ from the actual results.
In making the estimation, the Group considers information
from (i) independent valuations; (i) current prices in an active
market for properties of a different nature, condition or location
by reference to available market information; (i) recent prices
of similar properties in less active markets, with adjustments to
reflect any changes in economic conditions since the dates of
transactions that occurred at those prices; and (iv) discounted
cash flow projections, based on reliable estimates of future
cash flows, derived from the terms of any existing lease and
other contracts, and from external evidence such as current
market rates for similar properties in the same location and
condition, and using discount rates that reflect current market
assessments of the uncertainty in the amount and timing of
cash flows. The carrying amount and the details of the fair value
measurement of investment properties at 31 December 2020
was disclosed in note 14 to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

fe B MR b &t (#8)

31 December 2020 2020%12H31H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Income taxes

Determining income tax provisions involves judgement on the
future tax treatment of certain transactions. The Group carefully
evaluates the tax implications of transactions and tax provisions
are set up accordingly. The tax treatment of such transactions is
reconsidered periodically to take into account of all changes in
tax legislation. Deferred tax assets are recognised for temporary
deductible differences. As those deferred tax assets can only
be recognised to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which the unused tax
credits can be utilised, management’s judgement is required
to assess the probability of future taxable profits. Management
reassesses these estimates at the end of each reporting period.
Additional deferred tax assets are recognised if it becomes
probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax
assets to be recovered. The carrying value of deferred tax
assets and deferred tax liabilities at 31 December 2020 was
RMB1,448,000 (2019: RMB1,445,000) and RMB183,820,000
(2019: RMB179,373,000), respectively. Further details are
included in note 22 to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
fo MR &t (48 )

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The directors of the Company have been identified as the
Group’s most senior executive management. Operating
segments are identified on the basis of internal reports that the
Group’s most senior executive management reviews regularly
in allocating resources to segments and in assessing their
performance.

The Group’s most senior executive management makes
resource allocation decisions based on internal management
functions and assesses the Group’s business performance as
one integrated business instead of by separate business lines
or geographical regions. Accordingly, the Group has only one
operating segment and therefore, no segment information is
presented.

The Group primarily operates in the PRC and accordingly, no
geographical information is presented.

Information about major customers

For the year ended 31 December 2020, revenue of
approximately RMB7,044,000, RMB6,187,000, RMB5,676,000
and RMB5,534,000, which represented 13.6%, 12.0%, 11.0%
and 10.7% of the Group’s total revenue, respectively, were
derived from four separate single customers.

Forthe yearended 31 December 2019, revenue of approximately
RMB10,119,000, which represented 14.2% of the Group’s
total revenue, was derived from a single customer.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® YA KEHBRAF

A

KEeEsBEHR

ARREZDHERRAERRSTT
RERE - RENHIREAKE K
SITREEEEREMAIETOHE
RERHE R RN AR IR EFER

AEEMORBTREREREALE
BB AR BRABIRE - LIEAE
BN EBRRIER—IBERA LR (T3
BB REB R IRE E) T
fi o Bt - AEEEES —EEED
- BRI EREET D HEH -

AEEETERNFEES - HILL#ERE
HAERHIBE RS

FEEFEHR

HZE2020F12 A31HIEFE » WH
A AR T704400070 © AR
6,187,000t * A & % 5,676,000 7T
& AR#5534,0007T @ 9 Blh A&
B4l £13.6% * 12.0% ~ 11.0% &
10.7% * JIPREEERF ©

HZE2019F12 A31HILFE - Wz
4 ANR%10,119,0007C * (AR E B4
Wz14.2% » hRB—BEE o



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBERMEE (&)

31 December 2020 2020912 H31H

REVENUE 5. W#
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WD ITIT
2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBT T
Revenue from contracts with customers &/ & AIETH &
Provision of property management R EEERS
services 14,997 15,474
Sale of properties held for sale HERIEHEME - 16,165
14,997 31,639
Revenue from other sources B E A AR A Kz
Gross rentals from investment REREMENHESERE
properties 36,737 39,635
51,734 71,274
Revenue from contracts with customers EEEHHWE
(i) Disaggregation revenue information () WEEHDSE
For the year ended 31 December 2020 B 2202012831 HILEE

Provision
of property Sale of
management properties held

services for sale
REMESERYE HESELEWE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARETR

Timing of revenue recognition RIS,

Services transferred over time BE B TR 8 7% AR 7S 14,997 =
Total revenue from contracts BREELHBINE
with customers 14,997 -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRMEE(E)

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

5. REVENUE (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(i) Disaggregationrevenue information (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2019

Wz (4)
EFEH NS (&)
i) WHEEHDEE)

HE2019F12A31HIEFE

Provision
of property
management Sale of properties
services held for sale
REMEBIERY YMEEERHIELE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREEF T AREET T
Timing of revenue recognition W52,
Goods transferred at a point RERRERE R
in time - 16,165
Services transferred over time BE I R 8 5 AR TS 15,474 -
Total revenue from contracts P& H BN
with customers 15,474 16,165

The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of
the reporting period and recognised from performance
obligations satisfied in previous periods:

Provision of property management 24t ¥ 2 & 3% iR 1%

TRETRBERVFAAGHBESD
I 388 38 FE 1T B 1E B # /B 40 B (EFERR
RAREMAH PR SH

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREET T

services 934 1,006
Sale of properties held for sale  $HERFIEHEME - 3,699
934 4,705
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

M B EE ()

31 December 2020 2020%12H31H

5. REVENUE (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(i)

Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance obligation is
summarised below:

Provision of property management services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time
as services are rendered and short-term advances
are normally required before rendering the services.
Management service contracts are for periods of one to
five years, and are billed based on the time incurred.

Sale of properties held for sale

The performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time
when control of the asset is transferred to the customer,
generally when the customer obtains the physical
possession or the legal title of the completed property
and the Group has a present right to payment and the
collection of the consideration is probable.

The Group elected to apply the practical expedient under
HKFRS 15 and does not disclose the amount of the
transaction price allocated to the remaining obligations for
the provision of property management services for which
the Group bills a fixed amount for each month of service
provided and recognises revenue in the amount to which
the Group has a right to invoice.

5. Wz (&)

BEFEHNE(FE)

(i)

BREE

BRI E BN R OER T
mF -

RBRYEEERE

JB %) B (I BE=E R AR B ¥ /R
T RERBA —RARKE S
B o BEEBRBENSE—
R FRELRREFE °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRMEE(E)

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

6. OTHER INCOME, NET

6.

H A F 5

2020 2019

20204 20194

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AREEFTT

Interest income from bank deposits RITEREAEWA 2,811 2,585

Net foreign exchange gain HNEE U 25 F KB 6,786 186

Compensation of expenses* X fE - 4,810

Government grants** R T 4 B+ 446 -
Gain on disposal of investment SR E Y

properties* * 2,270 -

Others HAh, 50 370

12,363 7,951

*k

The compensation of expenses is related to a dispute in the selling
of properties in previous years. The Group and the counterparty
entered into a settlement agreement on 8 October 2019 under
the court’s supervision, according to which the counterparty
would pay a total sum of RMB4,810,000 as a compensation
of the relevant expenses incurred by the Group. The amounts
have been received by the court on 28 November 2019 and
subsequently received by the Group on 3 January 2020.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, government grants
of HK$432,000 (approximately RMB384,000) (2019: Nil) and
RMB62,000 (2019: Nil), which represented subsidies for stabilising
employment, were received from the Government of Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region under the “Anti-epidemic Fund”
and government authorities in the PRC, respectively. There are no
unfulfilled conditions and contingencies related to these grants.

In September and October 2020, the Group entered into separate
sale and purchase agreements with three independent third
parties and disposed of three residential properties located at
Dufu Garden, 10 Zu, 11 Zu, Long Zhua Cun, Wu Hou District,
Chengdu, Sichuan Province in the PRC with a carrying value of
RMB23,700,000 in aggregate and were classified as investment
properties at the time of disposal. The aggregate consideration
before tax was approximately RMB27,268,000.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBERMEE (&)

31 December 2020 2020912 H31H

FINANCE COSTS 7. WMERAK

An analysis of finance costs is as follows: RERADITAT :
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETIT
Interest on a bank loan IRITERFE 978 1,303
Interest on lease liabilities HEBERE 98 122
1,076 1,425
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRMEE(E)

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

8. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/

Bt A A

AEBEHRAFNBENE, GIAIRT

(crediting): IHE
Notes 2020 2019
k=3 20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBT T
Cost of services rendered* R HARF AR A 12,415 14,341
Cost of properties held for B ERFELEMEN
sale sold BN - 15,489
Depreciation of property, plant ~ #1% « BE N RETE
and equipment 15 253 373
Depreciation of right-of-use assets f# FEE EHTE 16 1,404 1,150
Impairment/(write-back of B 5 K E Ath FE U ERIE R,
impairment) of trade and &/ CRE#RE) =~
other receivables™* 17 12 47)
Write-off of items of property, Y - B MEHIEER
plant and equipment B 1 55 15 204 -
Loss/(gain) on disposal of HEREMEEE
investment properties (Wezs) (2,270) 941
Auditor’s remuneration 1% ERRT N & 1,155 1,303
Employee benefit expense EERFAE (TRIE
(excluding directors’ EEMe
remuneration (note 9)): (fr7E9) )
Salaries and other benefits TERHMER 10,378 12,190
Pension scheme contributions BRIREETEIHR 180 1,215
10,558 13,405

rendered was RMB4,506,000 (2019: RMB6,305,000).

The employee benefit expense included in cost of services

> The impairment/(write-back of impairment) of trade and other
receivables for the years are included in “Other operating income/

(expenses)” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

31 Decemb

MBERMEE (&)

er 2020 2020412A31H

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S

REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive officer’'s remuneration for the
year, disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), section
383 (1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about
Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

EERITRARTH

FRREB AT
A BRA

FHEEMAANT £
a) {551 55383(1)(a) *

(b) ~ C)RHERAR AR (HEEENE
BR) R BIE 28
BEBT -

BEMNESRITHA

2020 2019

20204 20194

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETIT

Fees we 768 789

Other emoluments: Eib e

Salaries, allowances and benefits e EMREDN S

in kind 1,932 1,847

Discretionary bonuses BIBIEAL 1,608 1,592

Pension scheme contributions RIS ETEIHEE 16 16

3,556 3,455

Total @t 4,324 4,244
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRMEE(E)

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER'S 9. EERTBARFM (&)
REMUNERATION (continued)

Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits Discretionary scheme
Fees in kind bonuses contributions Total
e EZHR BRSFE
e BENFlE BiERA & EH)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TT AR¥TT ARTr AR¥Tr ARETn
(note ii)
i)
2020 20206
Executive Directors HTEE
Liu Jia (note ii) 2% (K3 - 1,189 872 16 2,077
Lin Zimin (note iv) MER (Fiztv) - 677 736 - 1,413
- 1,866 1,608 16 3,490
Non-executive Directors FHTEE
Tse Hang Mui (note v) #A1E (k) - = = = -
Li Yinzhong (note v) iR (Mzty) - = = = -
Independent Non-executive BUHHTEE
Directors
Tsoi David (note vi) B # (i) 192 17 - - 209
Shek Lai Him, Abraham (note vi) A2zt (fizvi) 192 16 - - 208
Lee Jor Hung (note vi) etk (Pizhvi) 192 17 - - 209
Yu Pauline Wah Ling (note vi) TER () 192 16 - - 208
768 66 - - 834
768 1,932 1,608 16 4,324
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

MBERMEE (&)

31 December 2020 2020912 H31H

9.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S

REMUNERATION (continued)

9. EERITHARFM(HE)

Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits  Discretionary scheme
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions Total
5 2HR BikezEl
ik ENfla R 3 &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT  AR%Tr ARETT  ARETR
(note i
i)
2019 20195
Executive Directors HTEE
Liu Jia (note i 2% (i) - 1177 863 16 2,056
Lin Zimin (note iv) MER (Fiztv) - 670 729 - 1,399
- 1,847 1,692 16 3,455
Non-executive Directors FHTEE
Tse Hang Mui (note v) #A1E (k) = = = - -
Li Yinzhong (note v) iR (Mzty) = = = - -
Independent Non-executive BUHHTEE
Directors
Tsoi David (note vi) B # (i) 198 - - - 198
Shek Lai Him, Abraham (note vi) A2zt (fizvi) 199 - - - 199
Lee Jor Hung (note vi) etk (Pizhvi) 197 - - - 197
Yu Pauline Wah Ling (note vi) TER (i) 195 - - - 195
789 - - - 789
789 1,847 1,592 16 4,244
Notes: s -

(i) During the year, no emolument were paid by the Group to the
directors or any of the five highest paid individuals set out in note

10 below as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or

as compensation for loss of office. No remuneration was paid to

two Non-executive Directors during the year.

(if) Discretionary bonuses are determined by reference to the

performance of individuals and the Group.

(i)

FA - AEEMEREEL T XM
10 P 8 A ] 148 A = 387 B A £ S AN B
SERBMASTINAREE R 1 2R B X
ERHBEE - FAMBRTESH
BRI -

HBEATI2E/MARRNEERRE
el
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
fo MR &t (48 )

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S
REMUNERATION (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(ii)

(iv)

Mr. Liu Jia was appointed as director of the Company on 1
September 2000 and re-designated as Executive Director and
the chairman of the Company on 16 January 2018 for a specific
term of three years. Subsequent to 31 December 2020, his
service contract was renewed as Executive Director and the
chairman of the Company has renewed on 16 January 2021 for
a specific term of three years. He was also the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company during the years ended 31 December
2020 and 2019.

Mr. Lin Zimin was appointed as Executive Director of the Company
on 25 November 2010 and re-designated as Executive Director
of the Company on 16 January 2018 for a specific term of three
years. Subsequent to 31 December 2020, his service contract
designated as Executive Director of the Company was renewed
on 16 January 2021 for a specific term of three years.

Ms. Tse Hang Mui and Mr. Li Yinzhong were appointed as
directors of the Company on 7 June 2017 and re-designated as
Non-executive Directors of the Company on 16 January 2018.
The Non-executive Directors of the Company are appointed for a
specific term of three years. Subsequent to 31 December 2020,
their service contract as Non-executive Directors was renewed
on 16 January 2021 for a specific term of three years.

Mr. Tsoi David, Mr. Shek Lai Him, Abraham, Mr. Lee Jor Hung and
Ms. Yu Pauline Wah Ling were appointed as Independent Non-
executive Directors of the Company with effect from 16 January
2018. The Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company
are appointed for a specific term of three years. Subsequent to
31 December 2020, their letters of appointment as Independent
Non-executive Directors was renewed on 16 January 2021 for a
specific term of three years.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief
executive officer waived or agreed to waive any remuneration
during the year (2019: Nil).
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EERTRARETMH (&)

fia -

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

(&

B £ 200069 A1 HEZ T AKX
ANEEE - WH2018F1 F16 B EHE
ZEBARRRITESHRERF @ BT
B A =4 o R2020912 A31H%E &
BERRRNTEERERNREER
ER20216F1B16HEH - T8 A
=4 o HINEE 20204 % 2019412 A
S1ELEFENRARR I TRER -

MBI ER2010F11 25 B EEE
BARDNBMITES » WHR2018F1 A
16HEEHNZRTAERABNTES -
EETHA=F - R2020F 12 A 31
H#%  HECAQRRNITEEZNRS
AHBER2021F1B16BEH - 5 F
FHA=F -

HAE L RERP L ER2017F6
A7TEEZEAARRES KR2018
F1A16AEHEZT AL RRFEH
TEE - ARRENITEENETE
B A= - N2020F12A31 8% -
BEEERNQRENTESTNRE S
HWER202151 516 BEH - 5 E
HA=4%F -

BAMELRE BEFHLE  THhE
EERTER LT EZTARATB
MIEHITES - 52018F1A16H
EW o RRRIBYNTESERT
MIETHR A =% - N20205F 1248
318% @ FEETADRIBILIEHIT
EENZERE R2021F1 168 E
H o fEFEERA=F o

RERNBEEEBANRESTHITHA
HWMESREWET MO T H
(20194F : £&) -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBERMEE (&)

31 December 2020 2020912 H31H

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10. EEBRESFHES
The five highest paid employees during the year included two FRN hEmaiNEEREMEE
directors (2019: two directors), details of whose remuneration E(2019F : MBESE)  EHIFE
are set out in note 9 above. Details of the remuneration for B X9 - FREH=%(2019
the year of the remaining three (2019: three) highest paid F:=R)EnTMEE(LIFRAT
employees who are neither a director nor chief executive officer BEHITHEH)NFMFEOT ¢

of the Company are as follows:

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET AREFIT
Salaries allowances and benefits in kind ¥7 4 - 3285 & B FIE 1,589 1,341
Discretionary bonuses @’J TBIEAL 434 406
Pension scheme contributions RN ET B 48 45
2,071 1,792

The number of non-director and non-chief executive officer e N FTIINBEMNIEES RIETH

highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the REERTMESHAZSLOT

following band is as follows:

Number of employees

EE AE
2020 2019
20204 20194
Nil to HK$1,000,000 ZZ1,000,000/% 7T 3 3

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 &% | /5



176

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRMEE(E)

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

11. INCOME TAX

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the
Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong during the year (2019: Nil). Taxes on profits assessable
elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in
the jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

11. FrBH

AR AEEFALERNTBELEM
FERBAVE - Bt EAELBERNE
B (20195 « &) - Hibip[E ER
BABR R IERBEASEE LXK
P AR MRITIRETE -

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T

Current tax — the PRC BNHARLTE —FR
CIT TSR 7,252 6,078
LAT T HBIER(ER 1,818 1,478
Deferred tax RIEFIE 2,259 6,620
Withholding tax TERR 388 2,592
11,717 16,768
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

MBERMEE (&)

31 December 2020 2020912 H31H

11.

INCOME TAX (continued) . FREH (&)
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before FRARB REKRNIBAME AR ME
tax at the statutory rates for the jurisdictions in which the AARE R AE BB R E E &5 A1 A
Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to WEANIER X B ERR R ED
the tax expense at the effective tax rate is as follows: MIAR X MEBRAT -
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBT T
Profit before tax T EIA)E 45,699 54,049
Tax at the statutory tax rates BAEMETENTIE 11,454 15,295
Expenses not deductible for tax AR A 1,092 5
Deductible temporary differences not A #ER AT FJ8 b = £
recognised (2,703) (1,246)
Utilisation of tax losses previously not )& fF AR FER KT B &8
recognised - (986)
Effect of withholding tax on the REEA B AR A2
distributed profits of the Group’s PRC ~ FEFE 015 Hy s/ £
subsidiaries 388 2,121
Effect of withholding tax on interest BAREEFBEFEA _TWH)Z
income received from the Group’s FlEW AR TR RS2 2
PRC subsidiaries - 471
Provision for LAT T b IRETIB 1,818 1,478
Tax effect on provision for LAT TR ERR R ENT 2 (455) (370)
Other HAh, 123 -
Tax expense at the Group’s effective  EAREBEREHR R E R
rate HAX 11,717 16,768
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
fo MR &t (48 )

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

11.

INCOME TAX (continued)

All subsidiaries of the Company established and operating in
the PRC are subject to the PRC CIT at an applicable rate of
25%.

Pursuant to “Notice on Implementation of Inclusive Tax Relief
Policy for Small Low-profit Enterprises Cai Shui (2019) No.
18", Chengdu Everbright Property Management Co., Ltd. falls
within the eligible industry category and is eligible to enjoy the
preferential income tax rate of 5% (a reduced rate of 25%
of the taxable income amount, and be subject to corporate
income tax at a 20% tax rate when income does not exceed
RMB1,000,000) and 10% (a reduced rate of 50% of the taxable
income amount, and be subject to corporate income tax at a
20% tax rate when income exceeds RMB1,000,000 but does
not exceed RMB3,000,000) for the years ended 31 December
2020 and 2019.

Tax for other entities of the Group is charged at their respective
applicable income tax rate ruling in the relevant jurisdictions.

LAT is levied on properties developed by the Group for sale, at
progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the appreciation
of land value, which under the applicable regulations is
calculated based on the proceeds of sale of properties less
deductible expenditures including lease charges of land use
rights, borrowing costs and relevant property development
expenditures.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group’s investment
properties (2019: properties held for sale) are charged on the
contract revenue of properties sold at 7% (2019: 7%) according
to local tax regulations published by Chengdu local tax bureau.
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1. REH (&)

RN R B SL B AR 2 ) BT A T B
R AR IR25% K38 A TR R B
EMEH -

RIE[ B B 3/ MU 2 X B R UUR
SR BA(EF(2019) 135%) ]
KEHEARMEERBRARBEER
MEZFER - Atk B EREHZE2020
FR2019F12A31BIEFEZR5%
(& WATHEE A RE1,000,0007T
JERFUA SRR E25% @ H20%HY
TREBMEMER) X10% (EUA
BiE A K #1,000,00001E T HRiE A R
#3,000,0007T © ERFTBA TR R
50% - 1&20% M R EATIST)
HIFTSRBERE -

AEBE T RO IEREE AR
B 1 5 % B K0 A TS BB R
@ o

AEERBAHEEENYFEAR LM
B{EH1E LA30% £ 60%H) R # Fi R4
M IER - BBERER - L
BER TR N E WX ATE FIE R A #0
AT (RRELFERAEEERS « &
BERAMBEYMERERYT)FTE -

HE2020F12A31HILFE » BIEK
i S RIS REMNM S HEER
REEMNKEWMHE(2019F « HIEH
EYME)REHEMESHKRENTY%
(20194 : 7%)8Hi -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

MBERMEE (&)

31 December 2020 2020912 H31H

12.

13.

DIVIDENDS 12. K2
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTT
Final dividend paid in respect of HZE2019F12A31HILF
the year ended BRI A RABAR B —
31 December 2019 — RMB2.03 cents SR @R A R¥E2.035
per ordinary share (2019: Nil) (20197 : ##) 8,960 —
Proposed final dividend - RMB1.92 EEARRE —SREER
cents (2019: RMB2.03 cents) per AR¥E1.92 (20194 :
ordinary share AR#2.035) 8,475 8,960
Proposed special dividend - RMB1.50 #Z&FFAlI% 8 — TR E @A
cents per ordinary share (2019: Nil) AR50 (20194 :
) 6,621 —
15,096 8,960

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the
approval of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting. The special dividend was declared
on 28 January 2021. The special dividend declared and final
dividend proposed after the end of the reporting period has not
been recognised as liabilities at the end of the reporting period.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic earnings per share amounts is based on
the profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company of RMB33,982,000 (2019: RMB37,281,000), and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares of 441,400,000
(2019: 441,400,000} in issue during the year.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue
during the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

13.

FREZFRPREAFTARBBERERR
AR ETHRRBFASG LIE 7
AEE - FhIlRE B M2021F1 A28
BEIK ° MEHRROZZHTHIRE
MARBAKRELENHENRERSE

f& °
BEREF

FA - BREARRFNTHIZAR R EZE
A% B FE 4G F R A1) A R #633,982,000
JL(20194F : A R % 37,281,000 )
FEBETHMEEH LT BRBRE
441,400,000/% (20194F : 441,400,000
BRETE -

H 220205 K2019F12 A31 H I[EF

2 - AR A (TR E BT
CELE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRMEE(E)

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

14.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 14. REYE
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTT
Carrying amount at 1 January M1 A1BEMEREE 922,400 900,900
Additions, at cost WNE - R 3,152 1,349

Transfer from property, plant and EEME - BE R&E

equipment” 10,500 -
Transfer from properties held for sale* B {EH &~ 3,719 —
Transfer to properties held for sale HESEHEME - (5,300)
Disposal HeE (23,700) (941)
Net gain from fair value adjustments A7 BEFHEFWES 17,229 26,392
Carrying amount at end of year FRIRAEE 933,300 922,400

*k

During the year ended 31 December 2020, a certain portion
of a property with a net carrying value of RMB1,761,000 was
transferred from property, plant and equipment to investment
properties. The difference between the fair value of the property
and the carrying value at the date of transfer of RMB8,739,000,
and deferred tax of RMB2,185,000 thereon were recognised in
fair value reserve.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, properties with a total
carrying value of RMB3,719,000 were transferred from properties
held for sale to investment properties. The difference between the
fair values of the properties and the carrying values at the date of
transfer of RMB11,481,000 and deferred tax of RMB2,870,000
thereon were recognised in profit or loss.
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*k

HZE2020F12A31BLLEE - @
HEEARY1,761,000 T MES T
BoraWE  BEREEEERED
¥ oMEREZAHNAABESRR
E1E 2 =5 A K #8,739,0007T &
HERAEEH EA R 2,185,000 E R
AREBEERBEER -

HZE2020F12A31BLLEE @
HIEARS,719,000TT 0 ¥ B3k
PEMEEBTRENE - WEREE
BN AABELAREEZHNESE
AR®11,481,0007T & 48 RE IR B 1B
AR#2,870,0007T R IB2EFER o



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

M B EE ()

31 December 2020 2020%12H31H

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

The Group’s investment properties consist of three commercial
properties in the PRC. The directors of the Company have
determined that the investment properties were commercial
properties based on the nature, characteristics and risks
of each property. The Group’s investment properties were
revalued on 31 December 2020 based on valuations performed
by Landscope Christie’s International Real Estate, independent
professionally qualified valuers, at RMB933,300,000 (2019:
RMB922,400,000). Each year, the Group’s management
decides to appoint which external valuer to be responsible
for the external valuations of the Group’s properties. Selection
criteria include market knowledge, reputation, independence
and whether professional standards are maintained. The
Group’s management has discussions with the valuer on the
valuation assumptions and valuation results twice a year when
the valuation is performed for interim and annual financial
reporting.

Most of the investment properties of the Group are leased to
third parties under operating leases, further summary details
of which are included in note 16 to the financial statements.

At 31 December 2020, certain investment properties of the
Group with an aggregate carrying amount of approximately
RMB361,441,000 (2019: RMB354,803,000) were pledged to a
bank to secure a banking facility granted to the Group.

14.

REWME(R)

AEBEREMEBRURFEMN =18
BEWE - XRAEEREERSHE
MEHNE  FELERR - REWE
BEEYE - BRBUYSEREEN
{EffiLandscope Christie's International
Real Estatei{THIHE + NEBEMIK
BEYER2020F 12 A31 B EEHHE
A AR #933,300,0007T (20194 A
R #0922 400,0007T) - KEBERE
BEAEZEIINEGEMEEEASE
B EETIEHE c BEZLEBRE
MiZmM#E - BE  BUMRELRE
BEEE  -RAHARFEVBREE
THER  AfEERESTFHRGHE
BN S s AR ERE R EEER -

AEERBOREMEREREEHE
MYE=7  BRAEZHABAHERN
FITEERER ML 16.

R2020%F12A31H » AEEEREAE
298 AR E361,441,0007T (20194 -
AR #354,808,00070) & TR EY
EWIRIE FIRITIEARNEEERIET
BLEAIELR o

ANNUAL REPORT 2020 F#k

181



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRMEE(E)

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14. REYHE(HE)
Fair value hierarchy AREESE
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement TRFPAREEREMENAALEE
hierarchy of the Group’s investment properties: ESDE -

2020

Fair value measurement using
ANREBETERA

Quoted
prices Significant  Significant
in active  observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
ERMEN EATEE EAFIER
HE 248 28
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
) (%5=8E) (%=8) st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETrn AR%TR AR®TR AR%¥Txn

Recurring fair value measurement for:  &E AL BEGE -
Commercial properties HEE - - 933,300 933,300
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBERMEE (&)

31 December 2020 2020912 H31H

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)

2019

14. REYE(A)

[IREEDE (&)

Fair value measurement using
AREEFERS
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable

markets inputs inputs
EEMEH  BATEE EANIEE
WIE 2% 2%
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(%) (B=E) (=) @t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARBTT ARBTT ARETR

Recurring fair value measurement for, ~ &E AR BEE ¢

Commercial properties [EEZ/ES - - 922,400 922,400
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value RER - E—EBHRE_EZHATER
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers REBEFAEEYR  F-ENEAAE

into or out of Level 3 (2019: Nil).

Br28 A E H (2019F : £) -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

MBHRMEE(E)

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14. REWHE(E)
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within BoBEHAREE
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:
RMB’000
ARBT T
Carrying amount at 1 January 2019 R2019F1 A1 HHEREE 900,900
Addition nNE 1,349
Transfer to properties held for sale EERERE (5,300)
Disposal HE (941)
Net gain from fair value adjustments RiERERR AR BEARFRA
recognised in profit or loss 26,392
Carrying amount at 31 December 2019 72019512 A31H &2020%F1 H1H
and 1 January 2020 K EREE 922,400
Addition NE 3,152
Transfer from properties held for sale EORELEDE 3,719
Transfer from property, plant and equipment HEME - BENEE 10,500
Disposal HeE (23,700)
Net gain from fair value adjustments REBEDERE LA BEAEF NS
recognised in profit or loss 17,229
Carrying amount at 31 December 2020 R2020% 12 A31 HHEREE 933,300
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

M B EE ()

31 December 2020 2020%12H31H

14.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Set out below is a summary of the valuation techniques used
and the key inputs to the valuation of investment properties:

14. REYE(A)

AT EHINFREETEMEZERIREY
XAEEXI2HAE:

Range of Relationship
Valuation Unobservable unobservable  of unobservable
Description technique inputs inputs  inputs to fair value
AABEBAEEDSR
S fRER % RO BEBAE TAUBERAEEE EENBE
Investment properties ~ Market comparison ~ Adjustment of -66% to 14%  The higher the sales
BEME approach comparables (2019:-50% to 60%) value of comparables,
TZLEE for difference of -66%Z14%(2019 the higher the fair

transaction time and
physical attributes
between the subject
property

BRNENR HEFEEE

BB ZRNELL
{EHE

Term and reversion
method

FHRERE

Capitalisation rate

BAfex

Certaininvestment properties located in PRC are partially owner-
occupied and partially subject to existing tenancies as at the
date of valuation. In this connection, for the property interests
in vacant possession, the fair value has been determined,
assuming vacant possession could be immediately available as
at the date of valuation, using the market comparison approach
by reference to recent sales price of comparable properties,
adjusted to the difference of transaction time and physical
attributes between the subject property. For the tenanted
property interests, the fair value has been determined on the
basis of capitalisation of the net income derived from the
existing tenancies with due allowance for reversionary income
potential of the respective properties and where appropriate,
also made reference to the comparable market transactions.

(2019: 3.75% to 6.5%)
6.0%%6.5% (20194 :

F :-50%%60%) value

AL EEREER AR
{BEKS

6.0% to 6.5%  The higher the
capitalisation rate, the
lower the fair value

BRERHERE @ AE
BEHE

3.75%%6.5%)

ETREVELRFAE EMHEEI

B OHBAOALIER BHBE
BERONBRT - Al - W=

EEANYMEED HAREBEREE
Mﬁ&% %ﬁ%mﬁﬁE%Tiﬁ

RS BORSERI LM E
%ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ%%%%%%i%%ﬁ
EYBEEECENERELAE - Y
REEMFEER - RABETIIAEA
MOELE 2 F R E M DS ETHE
T UEEINEMENERRAE

N RR(NES)SETE LB TS
25 -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

fo MR &t (48 )

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15. ¥ - BERRKRE

Buildings
held for Equipment
own use and others Total
BIEERETF RERHEM st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T AR%T ARMT T
Cost: %N
At 1 January 2019 20191 418 3,161 4,181 7,342
Additions =T 243 719 962
Disposals HE - (49) (49)
Exchange realignment PE 5 385 - 14 14
At 31 December 2019 and 2019612 A31H &

1 January 2020 202041 A1H 3,404 4,865 8,269
Additions NE - 46 46
Write-off b6 - (280) (280)
Transfer to investment properties &R E Y

(note 14) (FF5E14) (3,161) - (3,161)
Exchange realignment ME 3 - (47) (47)
At 31 December 2020 MR2020F12H31H 243 4,584 4,827
Accumulated depreciation REITERRE :

and impairment:

At 1 January 2019 201941 A18 1,212 2,832 4,044
Charge during the year FRM 134 239 373
Disposals & - 6) 6)
Exchange realignment bE 5, 3% () 2 1
At 31 December 2020 and 2020612 A31H &

1 January 2020 20201 A1H 1,345 3,067 4,412
Charge during the year FAHER 75 178 253
Write-off 6! - (76) (76)
Transfer to investment properties =& G5

(note 14) (FF5E14) (1,400) - (1,400)
Exchange realignment bE - (9) (9)
At 31 December 2020 202012 H31H 20 3,160 3,180
Net carrying amount: FREEE -

At 31 December 2020 202012 A31H 223 1,424 1,647
At 31 December 2019 R2019%12 A31H 2,059 1,798 3,857

All of the Group’s ownership interests in buildings held for own

use are located in the PRC.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

MBERMEE (&)

31 December 2020 2020912 H31H

16. LEASES
The Group as a lessee
The Group has a lease contract for an office premise in Hong
Kong used in its operations. The lease of office premise has a
lease term of 3 years. Generally, the Group is restricted from
assigning and subleasing the leased assets.

(a) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets
and the movements during the year are as follows:

16.

HE

AEBEESEBA
AEERLEMABEEMRGHATA
HESK - HASAEONER A=
F o ARBAERISERLAIEEE
(a) EREEE

ALRBEERELEREERFN
ZET -

RMB’000
AR®T T
As at 1 January 2019 120191 A1H =
Addition NE 4,140
Depreciation charge TEER (1,150)
Exchange realignment bE 5, 58 B 52
As at 31 December 2019 and 2019912 A31H &2020F1 H1H
1 January 2020 3,042
Depreciation charge HEER (1,404)
Exchange realignment bE 5, S B (99)
As at 31 December 2020 #2020 12 8318 1,539
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRMEE(E)

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

16. LEASES (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of the Group’s lease liabilities and

16. HE (&)

AEEFEREBA(FE)

(b)

HERE

AEEHEAERAERFAZ

the movements during the year are as follows: BT -
RMB’000
AR®T T
As at 1 January 2019 M20194%F1 A1H =
New lease HE 4,140
Accretion of interest recognised FRRERFI 2380
during the year 122
Payments (NES (1,242)
Exchange realignment bE B 73
As at 31 December 2019 and 2019912 A31H &20205F1 A1H
1 January 2020 3,093
Accretion of interest recognised FAERFEIZM
during the year 98
Payments (E-N (1,497)
Exchange realignment bE 5, 58 B (99)
As at 31 December 2020 F2020F12H31H 1,595
2020 2019
2020 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
Analysed into: DA
Current portion BNHAER 5> 1,363 1,394
Non-current portion FEBNERER 232 1,699
1,595 3,093
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note HE B &S B o TR B 75 R M

30(d) to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

MBERMEE (&)

31 December 2020 2020912 H31H

16. LEASES (continued) 16. HE(H&)
The Group as a lessee (continued) TEEEREABEAGE)
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in (c) MEEREZEIRNESFENOT :

relation to leases are as follows:

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARET T
Interest on lease liabilities HEA GRS 122
Depreciation charge of EHREEENEER
right-of-use assets 1,404 1,150
Expense relating to short-term leases #2572 #iF & & % T 48
and other leases with remaining R2019F 12 A31Hk
lease terms ended on or before Z BIEI| B B fth 7 & 48
31 December 2019 (included in BRI (FTATTEG
administrative expenses) %) - 483
Total amount recognised in RERERESTE
profit or loss 1,502 1,755

(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed (d)
in note 25(c) to the financial statements.

HENR SR HAERMBEHRR
MizE25(c) & -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRMEE(E)

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

16. LEASES (continued)
The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note 14) consisting
of three commercial properties in the PRC under operating
lease arrangements. The terms of the leases generally require
the tenants to pay security deposits and provide for periodic rent
adjustments according to the then prevailing market conditions.
Rental income recognised by the Group during the year was
RMB36,737,000 (2019: RMB39,635,000), details of which are
included in note 5 to the financial statements.

At 31 December 2020, the undiscounted lease payments
receivable by the Group in future periods under non-cancellable
operating leases with its tenants are as follows:

16. HE (&)

AEEESEHBAA

AREBRESLHELHEBAHRE
YE(HiE14) ERBRIE=ZBURF
BIRMEEDE  HH—RERKBEFAX
MEREZS RIBEE R R4 E 8
HERE - AEBEFREERA K
AANER#36,737,0007T(20194F : AR
#39,635,0007T) ' FFIBEE NI FSRE
B 5ES.

MR2020%12A31H - NEFERE
FRTS N0 B SE A 2 70 & 7 oK 2Rk B8
FIEUWCARBIRF SN T

2020 2019

20204 2019%F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETTT

Within one year —FNR 28,005 22,890
After one year but within two years —FREMRTN 26,267 21,033
After two years but within three years MG EE=FNA 17,954 14,769
After three years but within four years =2 {EINFER 14,745 13,626
After four years but within five years ~ TUFEERFR 10,470 10,763
After five years AFE 38,121 36,186
135,562 119,267
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBERMEE (&)

31 December 2020 2020912 H31H

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 17. ESFREMERRKEREANRE
PREPAYMENTS

Notes 2020 2019
{iEsd 20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREETF T
Trade receivables B 5 EWEIR 6,591 4,134
Impairment YERIE] (202) (190)
(@) 6,389 3,944
Other receivables and H A e IR IE K TR (b)
prepayments I8 1,672 5,736
8,061 9,680
(@) Trade receivables are due for payment pursuant to the @ RIBEHGEGK  BZEKFIED
terms of the agreements. Normally, the Group does not Y c AEBBE TS WEE
obtain collateral from customers. FrRE#RSm o
An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end ERNRERARKEBREGEF
of the reporting period, based on the payment schedule B REHKRNE ZEUGIER
and net of loss allowance, is as follows: BT
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREET T
Within 1 month 1EHA 6,042 2,844
1 to 2 months 122{@ A 159 546
2 to 3 months 2% 31E A 188 554
6,389 3,944
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRMEE(E)

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
PREPAYMENTS (continued)

(@)

(continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of
trade receivables are as follows:

17. E 3
(%)

(@)

K H b fE W KR R TR YRR

Z 5 W GRIE R R E B 1B R
T :

2020 2019

20204 20194

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AREET T

At beginning of year F1) 190 237
Impairment losses/(write-back of  JE{EEE, CR{EEE

impairment losses), net (note 8) ) F% (KIzEs) 12 (47)

At end of year FR 202 190

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using a provision matrix to measure ECLs. As the
Group’s historical credit loss experience does not indicate
significantly different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the loss allowance based on past due
status is not further distinguished between the Group’s
different customer bases. The calculation reflects the
probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money
and reasonable and supportable information that is
available at the reporting date about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.
Trade receivables are written off (either partially or in full)
to the extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery.
This is generally the case when the Group determines that
the customer does not have assets or sources of income
that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the
amounts subject to the write-off.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBERMEE (&)

31 December 2020 2020912 H31H

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 17. ES R HMEKRBAR BN KA

PREPAYMENTS (continued) (&)

(@ (continued) @ (&)
Set out below is the information about the credit risk DAT%WJEE%@FH%?%%E@%\TZK
exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a SEEZRBFIEFERRNE
provision matrix: i
As at 31 December 2020 #2020612H31H

Past due Past due

within over

Current 90 days 90 days

A0 MHER

b AR 90H
Expected credit loss rate RHEEREX 1.1% 14.7% 100% 3.1%
Gross carrying amount (RMB’000)  BRE&E (AR%ETT) 6,109 407 75 6,591
Expected credit losses (RMB'000)  BHIEEEE (ARETT) 67 60 75 202

As at 31 December 2019 201912 A31H

Past due  Past due

within over

Current 90 days 90 days Total

ENE AHA0A A 90H et

Expected credit loss rate BHEEBEX 1.0% 1.0% 100% 4.6%
Gross carrying amount (RMB’000)  BERZE (ARETT) 289 3,695 150 4,134
Expected credit losses (RMB’000)  FEHIEEEE (ARETT) 3 37 150 190
(b) The financial assets included in the balances relate to (o) FEAMNSREESTEEELY
receivables for which there was no recent history of 08 I 1B 13 360 B 6 KA A FE OB
default and past due amounts. As at 31 December 2020 B o R2020F K&2019F 12 A

and 2019, the loss allowance was assessed to be minimal. 318 ' BERHTHAEEM -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRMEE(E)

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

18. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

18. RERABREEEY

2020 2019

20204 20194

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARBFIT

Deposits with banks RITIER 217,726 201,216
Cash on hand EFRE 40 42
Cash and cash equivalents BEFIRESEEY 217,766 201,258

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances of
the Group denominated in RMB amounted to RMB82,014,000
(2019: RMB48,159,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into
other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement,
Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group
is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits, of which the
original maturity was three months or less, are made depending
on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn
interest at the respective short term time deposit rates. The
bank balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with no
recent history of default.
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RIBEHR - REBUAREED
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBERMEE (&)

31 December 2020 2020912 H31H

19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

19. ESG R HEMESFIE

2020 2019

20204 20194

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARBTT

Trade payables B S ERFRIE 1,321 521
Interest payable FERTFIE 31 38
Other taxes and charges payable HEMEARIERER 555 1,059
Deposits received Blize 5,594 5,862
Accrued payroll and other benefits st e R EMEF 3,157 3,914
Listing expenses payable e BT 551 586
Rental receipt-in-advance U FRIA 9,773 3,414
Other payables HAb R RIE 2,258 3,209
23,240 18,603

Included in the balance are trade payables with the following
ageing analysis based on the invoice date as at the end of the

reporting period:

BEEERTHE S ENFANKS
HIRENBEZEAHIRE DN T

2020 2019

20205 20194

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETIT

Within 3 months 3MEAR 972 222
Over 3 months 3E A E 349 299
1,321 521
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRMEE(E)

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

20. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 20. ENEE
ARG ST 31 December 1 January
2020 2019 2019
20204 20194 20194
12H31H 12H31H 1A1H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T AREETF T AREET T
Short-term advances received B UE S A A
from customers

Provision of property IRV EE R RE
management services 1,066 934 1,006
Sale of properties held for sale  $HERFIEL EYE - - 3,699
1,066 934 4,705

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to
render property management services and received from sale
of properties held for sale. The increase in contract liabilities
in 2020 was mainly due to the increase in billing in short-term
advances received from customers at the end of the year.
The decrease in contract liabilities in 2019 was mainly due to
recognition of revenue from the sale of properties held for sale
and decrease in advances received from customers in respect
of the provision of property management services.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® YA KEHBRAF
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

MBERMEE (&)

31 December 2020 2020912 H31H

21.

BANK LOAN E
2019
2019%
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate per rate per
annum (%) LENTTE A KV annum (%) Maturity RMB’000
1 ER
EFIE(%) HEA AR%Tr ESESY HEA ARETR
Current b
Current portion of a long REBFTERN NGNS 5.05%
term bank loan - secured - BHEA 2 10 5.15% 2021 7,000 5.15% 2020 6,500
Non-current FHH
Non-current portion of along ~ REIRITE RIS 5.05% 2021
term bank loan - secured -E#A Z 10 5.15% 2022 7,000 5.15% to 2022 14,000
14,000 20,500
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
Analysed into: DA
Bank loan repayable: AR THRERRITE
o
Within one year or on demand —FAFIRERK 7,000 6,500
In the second year E_F 7,000 7,000
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FZEFERF (BiEE
BRF) - 7,000
14,000 20,500

As at 31 December 2020, a bank loan with a carrying value
of RMB14,000,000 (2019: RMB20,500,000) was secured by
investment properties with an aggregate carrying amount of
RMB361,441,000 (2019: RMB354,803,000) owned by the

Group.

R2020F12 A31H F RAEAAR
¥ 14,000,000 7T(2019F : A R &
20,500,0007T ) KR 1T & 5K B A S B By
HEE@mAESARYKS61,441,0007T

(20194 : AR¥354,803,0007T ) Hy#%

BYFIERA
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRMEE(E)

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

22. DEFERRED TAX 22. EEBIE
The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the FARLCHBEAEREENZESHNAT

year are as follows:

Revaluation Withholding

Provision of tax on

for interest Credit  Provision for  investment interest
payment losses  depreciation  properties receivables Others Total
EGES EftRE EURIER

BF REEE AERE LS % Hf 5t
RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR AR®Tn  ARWTR ARBTR ARBTR ARETR  ARETR

At 1 January 2019 R2019%1 A1 1,398 59 (60,910)  (111,69) - (159 (171,308)
Deferred tax credited/(charged) tothe ~ FREFAERFKA/

consolidated statement of proft (1) METHE

or loss during the year - (12) (2,779) (3,861) - 26 6,620)
At 31 December 2019 and #2019412 4318 &2020

1 January 2020 £1A1H 1,398 47 (63,683  (115,557) - (133)  (177,928)
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to FRESABRRIA/

the consolidated statement of (1) MERHE

profit or loss during the year - 3 (1,057) (356) (391) (458) (2,259)

Deferred tax charged to the consolidated FR7ELFA2ANERN
statement of comprehensive income  FREVEERA
during the year >

(350) (1,835) - (2,185)

At 31 Decsmber 2020 H020612R31H 1,308 50 (65,090 (17,749) (391) (91)  (182372)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

MBERMEE (&)

31 December 2020 2020912 H31H

22. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

EERE(E)

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBT T
Deferred tax assets recognised in the R4RA BN R ERAIE
consolidated statement of financial EFRIBEEE
position 1,448 1,445
Deferred tax liabilities recognised in the R4R & B FHR R R AR
consolidated statement of financial EFHIEBE
position (183,820) (179,373)
(182,372) (177,928)

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
the following items:

Deductible temporary differences A ERER

THIE B REERETENRIAEE

2020 2019
20205 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBEFIT
12,278 12,278

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the
above items as it is not considered probable that taxable profits
will be available against which the above items can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in Mainland China. The requirement is effective from 1 January
2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A
lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax
treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the
foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable rate is 5% or
10% (2019: 10%). The Group is therefore liable for withholding
taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established
in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from 1
January 2008.

E R AT KA LA FE R R A 7] A A
HeH FIEE - W ESL FlIE B R
RIRETRIBEE

BEFBECERSHZE  RAERHD
R EINE R E R EMBINEEES
KR BZBIR10% M T R BB -
ZHEB2008F1 A1BRAER » @
#2007E12 B31 BEMEF] o 5 E
Wi BIRIME EEFTE AR A
Mtz K ERSREMNTR RSN
B - AKBEME - BAMREA
5%5%10% (2019%F : 10%) ° Eitt, * A&
EEEE TR A EA
FE2008F1 1B EELNRERFD
KBRS BB TEHIRR o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRMEE(E)

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

22. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

At 31 December 2020, no deferred tax has been recognised
for withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted
earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the Group’s
subsidiaries established in Mainland China. In the opinion
of the directors, it is not probable that these subsidiaries
will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future. The
aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China for which deferred
tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled approximately
RMB1,533,000 at 31 December 2020 (2019: RMB2,542,000).

23. SHARE CAPITAL

The share capital as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December
2019 represented the issued capital of the Company and a
summary of the authorised and issued share capital of the
Company is as follows:

22,

23.

ERERE(F])

2020512 A31H » ANE B W E 5
£ B 3 K S RO BT B A R BB TR
O B R BE 2 I B e - RO TR0 7 1
RIELERIE - EERE  ZEWB
NEIRA] BRI KA D REREA
F o R2020%F 12 A31H @ EHAEHERK
Hh B B A B K I & A A T 37 A B ot T
RELHEABENERZBRENS
AR #1,533,0007C(2019%F : AR
2,542,0007T) °

R A

2020412 A31 H k2019412 A 31
BRI AEARREBEITRA AR
AVAENMEBITIRAMEZNT -

2020 2019
20204 20194
US$'000 US$'000
FTERx F=x
Authorised: JERE ¢
4,000,000,000 (2019: 4,000,000,000) FA&EEO.13ETTH)
ordinary shares of US$0.1 each 4,000,000,0004% (2019
4 : 4,000,000,0008%)
LR 400,000 400,000
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T ARBT T
Issued and fully paid: BEITRAR
441,400,000 (2019: 441,400,000) 441,400,000/% (2019
ordinary shares 4 1 441,400,0000%)
TR 345,042 345,042

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends
as declared from time to time and is entitled to one vote per
share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank
equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

M B EE ()

31 December 2020 2020%12H31H

24. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity of the financial
statements.

)

(i)

(iii)

Share premium

The application of the share premium account is governed
by the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. Under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the funds in the
share premium account of the Company are distributable
to shareholders of the Company provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend is proposed to
be distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay
off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of the
business.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve consisted of (i) merger reserve of
RMB26,800,000 which was resulted from a business
combination involving entities under common control
in 2010; (ii) reserve of RMB44,685,000 due to share
repurchase of Chengdu Everbright International Mansion
Co., Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, in
2014; and (iii) a waiver of an amount due to Capital Century
Company Limited, an intermediate holding company of
the Company, of RMB10,311,000 in 2016.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of companies outside the PRC. The reserve
is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy set
out in note 2.4 to the financial statements.

24.

&

RAFENMBEFE - AEENFE
THENRERZINM B RRNGAE
HnEBRET o

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

IR 43 75 8

BRI EERIFASHEE AT
EREE - RERERSATE -
ARm R EERANE S H#
DIEKTARBIIR - HEANERE
EEO KRB BHE - AR
BEREOXMNNAERGEBIED D
HIMETRS ©

BEREE

B AREEBIE()2010F Z HFE
FIEBERSHEENS HER
AR #26,800,0007T : (i) AAR
RIZE B R RIKE KB K
EARRARNR2014FHE O HE
B E AR 44,685,0007T ;
R (i) FE S 2N 2 B AR R R AR A A
Bk FARARRRIBARK
10,311,0007C 722016 2.k o

SNEEE
I fk B2 = B P B3R AN A R B
AR MR P 5| REA0FT A SMNE

ZE o AREBIHIRBEY SRR
2. 48PS ETBURERIE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
fo MR &t (48 )

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

24. RESERVES (continued)

(iv) PRC statutory reserve

According to the PRC Company Law, the PRC subsidiaries
of the Group are required to transfer 10% of their profit after
taxation (after offsetting the losses in the preceding years),
as determined under the PRC Accounting Regulations,
to the statutory surplus reserve until the reserve balance

reaches 50% of their registered capital.

The transfer to this reserve must be made before

distribution of a dividend to shareholders.

Statutory reserve fund can be used to cover previous
years’ losses, if any, and may be converted into share
capital by the issue of new shares to shareholders in
proportion to their existing shareholdings or by increasing
the par value of the shares currently held by them, provided
that the balance after such issue is not less than 25% of

the registered capital.

(v) Fair value reserve

A certain portion of a property previously occupied by the
Group as owner-occupied property was transferred to
investment properties in the current year and a revaluation
surplus was credited to fair value reserve to account
for the difference between the carrying amount and the
fair value of the property at the date of change in use,
determined by using the market comparison approach by

independent firms of valuers.

The fair value reserve of the Group was not distributable

as at 31 December 2020.
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EHBEFEEE)N10% (BF
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& ARH50% °

R RNEBALARRBIRD
KBS Z ATHETT e

AEREZ A BIERHBEFE
MER(IE) - X aERRR
3B B FE AL Bl 1R 31T A Sk
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

fe B MR b &t (#8)

31 December 2020 2020%12H31H

25. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

(@) Major non-cash transactions

(M

(i)

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the
Group had a non-cash transfer of a certain portion of
a property with a net carrying value of RMB1,761,000
from property, plant and equipment to investment
properties. The difference between the fair value
of the property and the carrying value at the date
of transfer of RMB8,739,000, and deferred tax of
RMB2,185,000 thereon were recognised in the fair
value reserve.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the
Group had a non-cash transfer of properties with a
total carrying value of RMB3, 719,000 from properties
held for sale to investment properties.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the
Group had non-cash addition to right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities of RMB4,140,000 and
RMB4,140,000, respectively, in respect of lease
arrangements for office premises.

25, RERESREBRME

(a)

FEFREXS

U

(i)

HE2020F12 A31HIEE
B A&EEE-EIHRE
x5 AEEREEmFEEAA
E#1,761,000 T ¥ 5
TEI>EDE - BERE
HIEBcERIEEWE -
ZYWEREZABNAAE
EEEFEEAEMNEZEEARK
8,739,0007T K B IE L IE A
R #2 185,000t A £ B
ERFEPHER -

HZE20205F 12 A31 B L5
B AEEFEHEER
5 - BEEEmAEAARE
3,719,000 7T Fy ¥ % R #F 1E
HEYEIERSEAILEY
% °

HE2019F 12 A31 B L5
B AEBAE-BEIRER
B MRS E LT
s FRAEEELRTHESR
7 Rl 11 A R # 4,140,000
TR AR#4,140,0007T °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

MBHRMEE(E)

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

25. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing

activities

25. REREREBERMFE(HE)

(b)

Bank loan

METHELENEBEES
Listing Interest
expenses payable
included included
in trade in trade
and other and other Lease
payables payables liabilities

FTAEZRE HAEZRE
AR MIEARRR

RITER il 3 EFIE HERE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR¥TR AR%TR AR%T=
At 1 January 2019 20191 A1H 26,500 3,443 45 -
New lease Giltiis-1 - - - 4,140
Changes from financing cash flows HERERER (6,000) (2,857) (1,310) (1,242)
Finance costs AR - - 1,303 122
Foreign exchange movement SNEZE - = = 73
At 31 December 2019 and 72019812 4318 %2020
1 January 2020 #1818 20,500 586 38 3,093
Changes from financing cash flows HERSRES (6,500) - (985) (1,497)
Finance costs RERA - - 978 98
Foreign exchange movement SNEZE - (35) - (99)
At 31 December 2020 1202012 A31H 14,000 551 31 1,595

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® YA KEHBRAF



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBERMEE (&)

31 December 2020 2020912 H31H

25. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 25. Z&HRE&REBRM = (&)
CASH FLOWS (continued)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c) HERSRHAR
The total cash outflow for leases included in the %iéﬁ:ﬁiﬁi%%ﬁ)\ﬂ’\ﬁ ek
consolidated statement of cash flows is as follows: MUHABERIT
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T ARETTT
Within operating activities REEEEENN - 483
Within financing activities REtEEEN 1,497 1,242
1,497 1,725
26. COMMITMENTS 26. AiE
The Group had the following capital commitments at the end REERBERREUTERALE :

of the reporting period:

2020 2019
20204F 2019%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR ARBT T
Contracted, but not provided for EEFEER T
Additions to investment properties REREMHE 744 —
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRMEE(E)

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

27. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in (@)
these financial statements, the Group had the following
transactions with related parties during the year:

27. BB L X5

B SH B R L hEHR LY
XN - A LB E R
EUTFRS :

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBT T
Related parties: RERE T -

Property leasing income SEZIEN-TON 7,070 6,352
Placement of deposits AR 70,597 496,110
Withdrawal of deposits REIFR 73,665 520,920

(b) Other transactions with related parties: (o) EEEFEESAEMIS :

Pursuant to the loan framework agreement with China
Everbright Bank Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch which was
effective up to 31 December 2019, the undrawn banking
facilities of the Group amounted to HK$300,000,000
(equivalent to RMB268,734,000) as at 31 December
2019. The facilities were not renewed in the year ended
31 December 2020.

(c) Outstanding balances with related parties: (c)

T PR — TR BB IR T THYIR
LA EED
B 5 REMBEMNTIR

Cash and cash equivalents placed
with a related bank
Trade and other payables

RIEEP B KIBITROBRA
RAIBBDITHNERIERHH(E
Z2019F12A31BHAM) » K&
B 7201912 A 31 H A R HEEL
$R1T7RE & A300,000,00078 7T (48
LN ARY268,734,000) - BE
202012 A31 B IEFEZERE

EARRRE T MR (ER A ER -

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTT
18,940 22,008
6,870 463

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® YA KEHBRAF



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

MBERMEE (&)

31 December 2020 2020912 H31H

27. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(d)

Compensation of key management personnel of the
Group:

27.

BT X5 (&

(d)

AEBETREBEAEMS

2020 2019

20204 2019%F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AREETF T

Directors’ fees E=Yiokn 768 789
Salaries, allowances and e EMEREDHR

benefits in kind 3,076 2,840

Discretionary bonuses EIEEAT 1,910 1,891

Pension scheme contributions BIRSET B 48 48
Total compensation paid to key TRNFEEEEABN

management personnel RN 5,802 5,568

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive
officer’s emoluments are included in note 9 to the financial
statements.

The related party transactions in respect of property leasing
income from Everbright Securities Company Limited and
China Everbright Bank Co., Ltd., deposits service from
China Everbright Bank Co., Ltd. and banking facilities
from China Everbright Bank Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch
constitute continuing connected transactions as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The disclosures required
by Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules are provided in the
section headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” of
the Directors’ Report.

EFRITHRASMERE— D
BER P RAM T

BRARBKAKRBFBRDER AR
KB RBITRO AR D EH
MEBEEWA - REEARITI
NERARFRRELRETE
RARRITEDERRAFEDIT
MERITRENBB T X 58K L
MR RIS 14AS PR E 045 4B R
BRy o EMRAIFI4ATRTE
MEBEENRNESEREFEH
BR G | —ERf -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

MBHRMEE(E)

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Financial assets

o -

TRMEE

28. REAHEASNERMTA

RBEHURZBN R T ANKEE

2020 2019
20204 20194
Financial Financial
assets at assets at
amortised cost amortised cost
REBHRATEN Gt
ERMEE TRIEE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T R ARETT
Financial assets included in trade and 5T AZ 5 K& E b fEUR A K

other receivables and prepayments BENRIENEREE 7,070 9,273
Cash and cash equivalents RERAREEED 217,766 201,258
224,836 210,531

Financial liabilities cHAE
2020 2019
20204 20194
Financial Financial
liabilities at liabilities at
amortised cost amortised cost
REBHENATEYN B NGE:0
SREE RRIAE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARBTT
Trade and other payables B 5 Kk EAMER IR 9,755 10,216
Bank loan RITERK 14,000 20,500
23,755 30,716

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® YA KEHBRAF



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

M B EE ()

31 December 2020 2020%12H31H

29. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, financial assets included in trade and other
receivables and prepayments, financial liabilities included in
trade and other payables and the current portion of a bank loan
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short
term maturities of these instruments.

The Group’s finance department is responsible for determining
the policies and procedures for the fair value measurement
of financial instruments. At each reporting date, the finance
department analyses the movements in the values of financial
instruments and determines the major inputs applied in the
valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by the
management of the Company. The valuation process and
results are discussed with the audit committee twice a year for
interim and annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in
a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a
forced or liquidation sale.

The fair value of the non-current portion of a bank loan, which
approximates to its carrying amount, has been calculated
by discounting the expected future cash flows using rates
currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit
risk and remaining maturities. The change in fair value as a
result of the Group’s own non-performance risk for the above
financial instrument as at 31 December 2020 was assessed to
be insignificant.

29.

TRHIANDIABERAABESE

EEEFEREEMECFEY  FA
B 5 & H At UK IR K FRAN IR H) &
BMEE - FFAE S REAMBENFKIRN
EREBERRTERNHLINLA
BEARKEERS  TELHARZK
FTAMRHRHTE -

AEEFBHAEBEEERTARR
EBEFENERREIERF - REREAR
B BB Mem I ANBEZS
TEEGHERRANEIEHAE -/
BERARREEBERZ - ER%ES
BFEMAFWEERFRER - UE
tER PR FEEA B RS

TRMEENABNARBEDNEZT
ARBER ST (MIFRESFR S
BIENRG TZARSEEAR

BITEFERSAI AR BEREE
BREEMAE @ NERFERAERLUE
o EERBREFKIBHBZTAZ
EAI A A RBIBIEEARRIB LR S
SFEBE - R2020612H831H @ A&
BElemTEASHIERYRR
MEBH AL BEEEHERBTEK °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
fo MR &t (48 )

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise a bank
loan, and cash and cash equivalents. The main purpose of
these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s
operations. The Group has various other financial assets and
liabilities such as trade and other receivables, trade and other
payables and lease liabilities, which arise directly from its
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity
risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees policies for
managing each of these risks and they are summarised below.

(a) Interest rate risk

The Group monitors its interest rate exposure regularly
to ensure that the underlying risk is monitored within an
acceptable range. The Group’s interest rate risk arises
primarily from the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
and a bank loan. The Group is not exposed to significant
interest rate risk for cash and cash equivalents because
the interest rates of cash at banks are not expected to
change significantly.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® YA KEHBRAF

HHERBEEBRRERBER

AEENFTEZESRTABRERITENR
UEREREEEY - ZE2@MT
ENTEENERAAEENEEES
Be cAEBEZRBHEMEMEER
BfE WESRHEMEWHRIE  BS
MEMENREREESRE @ HHEE
KEEE -

$Elﬁﬁﬁlﬂﬁﬁﬁiﬂ’f£xﬂ i B
EAERRE - INERR - FERRK
RBECRR - EFTTR nTTéHnﬁ
ARERSENEERE  BFEREH
mTXO

(a) FEEE

AEEEHEREMNERR - #
RIEERRRERAZXEE - K
LSRR SE EKF$§$%
BmRe MR FEYNRT
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SEBYNEAMNERARZHRN
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

MBERMEE (&)

31 December 2020 2020912 H31H

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

(a)
(i)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Interest rate profile

The following table details the interest rate profile of
the Group’s net interest-bearing financial liabilities
(being interest-bearing financial liabilities less
interest-bearing assets, bank deposits and cash and
cash equivalents) at the end of the reporting period.

30.

(a)

BHEEAREEEERBE(E)

F =@ b ()
(i) F=FRR

TREERBFERR - A&
Bt EemAR(AFES
BEERTEEE - RITHE
RARRERIREFEY)
FEAM RN

2020 2019
2020 2019%F

Effective Effective

interest rate interest rate

BRFI= GIES
RMB’000 % RMB’000
AR®TR % ARBTRL
Bank loan BIER 505 - 5.15 14,000 515 20,500
Less: deposits with banks : RITTER 0.01-4.39 (217,726)  0.01-3.61 (201,216)
Total net interest-bearing liabilities #8518 8 &% (203,726) (180,716)

Note: As at 31 December 2020, all of the Group’s
borrowings were arranged on variable rate basis of
LPR+0.395% and were denominated in the RMB.

MisE : B Z=2020%F 128318 -
REE A BREIRZ
BF RK(ERERAE
+0.395%) & HE - WIAA
R¥EGHE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
fo MR &t (48 )

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

(@) Interest rate risk (continued)
(ii) Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2020, it is estimated that a
general increase/decrease of 100 basis points in
interest rates, with all other variables held constant,
would increase/decrease the Group’s profit before
tax by approximately RMB2,037,000 (2019:
decrease/increase the Group’s profit before tax by
approximately RMB1,807,000).

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the
instantaneous change in the Group’s profit before
tax that would arise assuming that the change
in interest rates had occurred at the end of the
reporting period and had been applied to floating
rate non-derivative instruments which expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The impact
on the Group’s profit before tax is estimated as an
annualised impact on interest expense or income
of such a change in interest rates. The analysis is
performed on the same basis for 2019.

(b) Foreign currency risk

The Group mainly operates in Mainland China with most
of the transactions settled in RMB. The Group’s exposure
to foreign exchange risk primarily stems from holdings
of cash and cash equivalent denominated in HK$. The
Group does not use derivative financial instruments to
hedge its foreign currency risk. The Group reviews its
foreign currency exposures regularly and considers no
significant exposure on its foreign exchange risk.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® YA KEHBRAF

30. MHEEAMEEEERBEK(EA)

(a)

(b)

F =2 b (48)
(i) HRBEDN

2020512 A31H -« FE&t
R iR T B 10018
A mABEMESR
BT AeSAEEN
RATALEIE N, R HIAR
# 2,037,000 (2019 4F :
RNEBAT AT FER L1
gy A R#1,807,0007T) °

BRgUERES IR AEE
E A B B2 R] BEEE AR 2 BB
2F - AERNEEZEHRN
BEMRDLHEE A&
RRFEFRIFITETAY
AEBREEZRERAE
Rk - R & B A&
AENEZ 27 B RSy
SHBRAEENFLEE
fEfEEr - DT RE2019
FRARMBRELET -

s L B

AEEBTZERBEARMEER
B RBORGUAREEE -
AEBAZNINERR T ERE
i AETEtENREE KRS
EY - AEEWEFERITESR
TRSMEINERR - NEEE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

MBERMEE (&)

31 December 2020 2020912 H31H

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

(b)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change
in the HK$ exchange rate, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax and retained
profits.

30. KEREEEERBE (&)

2020
2020

Increase/
(decrease)

in foreign
exchange rate

ExLHA/
(TH8)

Hong Kong Dollars BT

5%
(5)%

HHARER

(b) ShEEEBR ()

TRIRRMEMKR - AREH
AE A AR M BB T E R
BRErMEEIMMEEMER
R ENGUREDT -

2019
2019F
Effect on Effect on
profit before Increase/ profit before
tax and (decrease) tax and
retained in foreign retained
BIGI{IG  exchange rate profits

HBAAER

REFEHY EXLEH/ REFEN
ge (TF&) P
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET R AREFT
5,016 5% 5,620
(5,016) (5% (5,620)

The above analysis assumes the change in foreign
exchange rate had occurred at the end of the reporting
period and had been applied to each of the Group entities’
exposure to currency risk in existence at that date while
all other variables remains constant. The stated changes
also represent management’s assessment of reasonably
possible changes in foreign exchange rate until the next
annual reporting period. The analysis is performed on the
same basis for 2019.

RS BRRERSEH D NRE
HRBELESERARZAFERE
FEBONAEERER  MAE
Hitp B ERFENE o Pt E B I
RAEEEBH T —EFEHRSEH

ST R E2019F R AR FAR 2
AT o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
fo MR &t (48 )

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

(c) Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade
and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents.
Trade and other receivables mainly arise from the Group’s
revenue from rental and property management business.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer rather than
the industry or country in which the customers operate,
and therefore significant concentrations of credit risk
primarily arise when the Group has significant exposure to
individual customers. At the end of the reporting period,
35% (2019: 16%) and 83% (2019: 38%) of trade and other
receivables was due from the Group’s largest customer
and the five largest customers respectively.

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

= significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

- a breach of contract such as a default or past due
event;

- it is probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation.

214 Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® A KEHRAF

MHEEAREEEFEREK(H)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

fe B MR b &t (#8)

31 December 2020 2020%12H31H

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

(c)

Credit risk (continued)

To manage credit risk arising from debtors, the credit
quality of the debtors is assessed, taking into account
their financial position, historical settlement records, past
experience and other factors. The Group applies the
simplified approach to provide for ECL prescribed by
HKFRS 9, which permits the use of lifetime expected
loss provision for all debtors. The ECLs also incorporate
forward-looking information.

The Group has established a policy to perform an
assessment of whether a financial instrument’s credit
risk has increased significantly since initial recognition,
by considering the change in the risk of default occurring
over the remaining life of the financial instrument. The
Group groups its other receivables into Stage 1, Stage 2
and Stage 3, as described below:

Stage 1 When other receivables are first recognised,
the Group recognised an allowance based on
12 months’ ECLs.

MHERREEERREE(HE)

(c)

FERRE(E)
REEREBAELENEER

fEZ RIEHE AT BAMR - i@?‘f
BmERE  BELRMEMRE
AEEBANEEEER - A&H
RABOERBEBY RS LR
FORMENBMEEBREL
B ERTHEEBAERZ
R ERE - AREEER
R &2 ATEIEER -

ARERHTRE - AEBEE
SRIABBFHAREMHEN
EREBFFELRIAZEE
BRRT & M RRED KB
- &I R o kR D
BE—EE  E-EBRE=R

B BEWT

—PFEER e R
Z%?Dﬁﬁﬁ@wﬁﬁq ’
AEBER121E
AEHEEEE

R o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRMEE(E)

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

(c) Credit risk (continued)

Stage 2 When otherreceivables have shown asignificant
increase in credit risk since origination, the
Group records an allowance for the lifetime
ECLs.

Stage 3  When other receivables are considered credit-
impaired, the Group records an allowance for
the lifetime ECLs.

Management also makes periodic collective assessments
for other receivables as well as individual assessment on
the recoverability of other receivables based on historical
settlement records, past experience and other factors.

All deposits with banks and cash and cash equivalents

were deposited with creditworthy financial institutions
without significant credit risk.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® YA KEHBRAF
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

MBERMEE (&)

31 December 2020 2020912 H31H

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

(c)

Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless
other information is available without undue cost or effort,
and year-end staging classification as at 31 December.
The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for

financial assets.

At 31 December 2020

30. BEMEEERREEK (&)

(c)

FERR(E)
B A B I F R B R

TREIERAEBFEEBUR
(ENEZERBHER - BIE
HERBHNENBERHRAR
HBNAARB)INEEEER
TESZARRE  AEM2A318
MERPEE DI - 2FINEEETY
AEREEMIRMER -

R2020512831H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12f8 A7
EEER 2HENEEES
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3  approach Total
E-EB E-BE  ESRR it @it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETT ARMTR AR¥TR AR%TR
Trade receivables* B 5 ElsE - - - 6,591 6,591
Financial assets included in other &t AE YR FIA R FB f
receivables and prepayments ARG REE
- Normal™ —EFE" 681 - - - 681
Cash and cash equivalents RERREZEEY
- Not yet past due — e R 217,766 - - - 217,766
218,447 - - 6501 225038

ANNUAL REPORT 2020

217



218

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRMEE(E)

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

(c) Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging
(continued)

At 31 December 2019

30. BEREEERERBEK (&)

(c) FERRE)

B AR B I A R B AR (4D

2019412 A31H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{8 A B H
FEER 2HEREEEE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F-RE FZRE F=ER HE @it
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARETL ARETT AR®Tn ARETRL
Trade receivables* BoRKEIE - - - 4134 4134
Financial assets included in other st A ERFIERTER
receivables and prepayments TEMEREE
- Normal™ —FE~ 5,329 - - - 5,329
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY
— Not yet past due — W ABH 201,258 - - - 201,258
206,587 - - 4,134 210,721
* For trade receivables to which the Group applies the * RAEEERGETERE

simplified approach for impairment, information based on
the provision matrix is disclosed in note 17 to the financial
statements.

* The credit quality of the financial assets included in other
receivables and prepayments is considered to be “normal”
when they are not past due and there is no information
indicating that the financial assets had a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise,
the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to
be “doubtful".

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® YA KEHBRAF
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

fe B MR b &t (#8)

31 December 2020 2020%12H31H

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

(d)

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including
the short-term investment of cash surpluses and the
raising of loans to cover expected cash demands, subject
to approval by the respective parent company’s board
when the borrowings exceed certain predetermined levels
of authority. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor
its liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of
cash and adequate committed lines of funding from major
financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in
the short and longer term.

For subsidiaries with statutory liquidity requirements,
the Group monitors closely their liquidity position. To
ensure strict compliance, the Group maintains adequate
cash reserves to prepare for immediate fund injection
if required. If there is a medium-to-long term operation
need, management would also consider adjusting those
subsidiaries’ capital structure. Subsidiaries with external
equity stakeholders are generally responsible for their own
liquidity management.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRMEE(E)

31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 30. MR EEH &K BUR (&)

POLICIES (continued)
(d) Liquidity risk (continued) (d) "EBELEKE)

2020

20205
Total More than More than
contractual Within 1yearbut 2 years but
Carrying  undiscounted 1 year or within within
amount  cashflows  on demand 2 years 5 years

AERENE  MERDE
BEE  &hEAR BX 1FREMER 25RESER
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AE®TR  ARMTR  ARETR ARMTr  ARETR
Trade and other payables BRI MERTE 9,755 9,755 9,755 - -
Bank loan /AR 14,000 14,789 7614 1175 -
Lease libilties HERR 1,595 1,636 1,402 234 -
25,350 26,180 18,171 7,409 -
2019

2019%
Total More than More than
contractual Within Tyearbut 2 years but
Carmying  undiscounted 1 year or within within
amount cash flows ~ on demand 2 years 5 years

AERENR  MERIR

BEE  ShsLE EX AFREEN  2FKESER
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT  ARETT  ARETT  ARET:
Trade and other payables B 5 R ERFE 10216 10216 10216 = =
Bank loan RTER 20,500 22371 7471 7630 7210
Lease liabilities HERE 3,093 3,283 1,492 1,492 249

33,809 3,820 19179 9,122 7519
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

fe B MR b &t (#8)

31 December 2020 2020%12H31H

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

31.

POLICIES (continued)
(e) Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives for managing capital are
to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business and to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern.

The Group manages its capital structure and make
adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic
conditions. The Group reviews the capital structure on
a regular basis and considers the cost of capital and
the associated risks. The Group will balance its overall
capital structure through payment of dividends, new
share issues as well as the issue of new debt or the
redemption of existing debts. No changes were made
in the objectives, policies or processes during the years
ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

The Group monitors capital with reference to its debt
position. The Group’s strategy was to maintain the
Group’s gearing ratio, being the Group’s total liabilities
over its total assets. The gearing ratio as at 31 December
2020 was 20% (2019: 20%).

The Company was not subject to externally imposed
capital requirements during the years ended 31 December
2020 and 2019.

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

The comparative statement of financial position has been re-
presented to conform with the current year’s presentation. In
the opinion of the directors of the Company, this presentation
would better reflect the financial information of the Group.

30. MEAMEEBEERBER (&

31.

(e)
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31 December 2020 20209F12H31H

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
MBHRMEE(E)

32. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

32. A4 A B BAMRR R

COMPANY
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARETIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment L E YN L] 586 695
Right-of-use assets FERAEEE 1,539 3,042
Interests in subsidiaries RIB AR 2 #Exm 124,409 117,001
126,534 120,738
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries i ENGIE S 123,653 197,288
Other receivables and prepayments A B W FR0E K FA S R OE 770 870
Cash and cash equivalents HekEeEEY 135,552 142,117
259,975 340,275
CURRENT LIABILITIES nEBERE
Amounts due to subsidiaries EANERIENGIE @ 201 56,710
Other payables H A T FRIR 2,816 3,948
Lease liabilities HEAE 1,363 1,394
4,380 62,052
NET CURRENT ASSETS MBEERE 255,595 278,223
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT #EERABERE
LIABILITIES 382,129 398,961
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Lease liabilities HEBE 232 1,699
Deferred tax liabilities FIEFRIEEE 138 =
370 1,699
NET ASSETS BEE 381,759 397,262
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BER#EE
Share capital A& A< 345,042 345,042
Reserves (note) s (PEE) 36,717 52,220
TOTAL EQUITY EREEE 381,759 397,262
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

MBERMEE (&)

31 December 2020 2020912 H31H

32. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

32. AR MHBMR K (E)

COMPANY (continued)
Note: PR EE -
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: RATIHEEBRENT -
Retained
profits/
Share Capital Exchange (accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses) Total
REFE/
R EE EXRE R (REHER) @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR%®TR ARETR ARBTRT AR%TR
At 1 January 2019 #2019 1A1H 45,063 10,311 (42,724) (29,926) (17,276)
Profit for the year FRFIE - - - 60,821 60,821
Other comprehensive income FREMZEKE
for the year:
Exchange differences on REMBRENELEE
translation of financial
statements = = 8,675 = 8,675
At 31 December 2019 and R2019F 124310 Kk
1 January 2020 202061818 45,063 10,311 (34,049) 30,895 52,220
Profit for the year FRFE - - - 17,705 17,705
Other comprehensive expense  FREMEEFY
for the year:
Exchange differences on REMBRANELZ8
translation of financial
statements - - (24,257) - (24,257)
Final 2019 dividend 2019F RHEAR B = = = (8,951) (8,951)
At 31 December 2020 #R2020%12A31H 45,063 10,311 (58,306) 39,649 36,717

The financial statements were approved and authorised for

issue by the board of directors on 24 March 2021.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33. #LEMBHRE

BE2E O R2021F3 A24 B LA M IX
BB SRR -
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
UHRE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 — (Expressed in RMB) #Z2020F 128318 ILFE — ( MARKIIR)

A summary of the result and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years as extracted from the published
audited financial statements is set out below:

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

AEBBEREAVRFENREENUNREER
BE(IRBEETENEEXMBERE) OB
SRHET

Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31HILLEE
2019 2018 2017 2016

2020

20204 20194 20184 20174 20164
Y000 RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000

IN-L Sl ARET T ARETT ARBETT ARBTET

Revenue g 51,734 71,274 61,742 66,657 55,936
Profit before tax T A F) 45,699 54,049 53,269 38,075 45,958
Income tax expense FriSHiR > (11,717) (16,768) (16,715) (13,809) (14,444)
Profit for the year REEFEFE 33,982 37,281 36,554 24,266 31,514
Attributable to: AT AL FE(Y:
Owners of the Company VIN/NEIEZ DN 33,982 37,281 36,554 24,266 31,514
CONSOLIDATED ASSETS AND LIABILITIES HREEEREE
At 31 December
M12H31H
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

20205 20195 2018%F 201745 20164F
GIVEOON RMB'O00O  RMB'O00  RMB'O00  RMB’000
INL A AKBTTT ARBETITE ARBTE ARBTT

Total assets BEE 1,163,761 1,145,401 1,109,498 936,333 915,816
Total liabilities wafE (229,118)  (225,455)  (230,443) (217,068) (219,929)
Net assets FEE 934,643 919,946 879,055 719,265 695,887

Note: The results and summary of assets and liabilities for the year ended
31 December 2016, which were extracted from the Prospectus, have
been prepared on a combined basis to indicate the results of the
Group as if the group structure, at the time when the Company’s
shares were listed on the Stock Exchange, had been in existence
throughout the year.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® YA KEHBRAF
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